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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements contained in this report that are not historical facts are fdos&indg statements withithe meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as harawaddd.
looking statements include words or phrases sudlarasipate o fibelieve,0 fiestimatep fiexpect 0 fintend,o fiplan, 6 fiproject,0
ficould, 6 fimay, 0 fimight, 6 fAishould,d Awill d and similar words and specifically include statements regarding expected financial
performance; expected utilizatiodayrats, revenues, operating expenses, contract termsacbihtcklog, capital expenditures
and deferred costs, insurance, financing and funding; the timing of availability, delivery, mobilization, contract commtesrceme
relocation or other movement of rigs; current or future rig construction (including ootitstrin progress and completion thereof),
enhancement, upgrade, repair or reactivation and timing thereof; the suitability of rigs for future contracts; generalsindes
and industry conditions, trends and outlook; future operations; the impaicicrefasing regulatory complexity; expected
contributions from ouacquiredrigs; expense management; and the likely outcome of litigation, legal proceedings, investigations
or insurance or other claims and the timing ther@dfese forwardooking statements speak only as of the date ofRtie 16K
Equivalentand we undertake mabligation to revise or update any forwdomking statement for any reason, except as required by
law. Such statements are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause actual results to vary mate
from those indicated, ithading:

1 theCOVID-19 pandemi@nd its effect on demand for our services, global demand for oil and natural gas, the U.S. anc
world financial markets, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;

1 expectations, trends and outlook regarding industry and market conditions, oil and gas production and market price

demand for hydrocarbons, offshore activity and dayrates

changes in general economic, fiscal and business conditions in jurisdictions in which we operate and elsewhere;

the decline in demand as oil and gas fossil fuels are replaced by sustainable/clean energy;

future regulatory requirements or customer exgexta to reduce carbon emissions;

changes in worldwide rig supply and demand, competition or technology, including as a result of deinesriafd

rgs;

1 the impact of variations in demand for our rigs, including the preferences of someo§tmmers for newer and/or higher

specification rigs;

the ability of our customers to obtain permits;

our ability to renew or extend contracts, enter into new contracts when such contractoedpeeerminatedand

negotiate the dayrates and other eiwhsuch contracts;

1 expectations, trends and outlook regarding operating revenues, operating and maintenance expense, insurance cove
insurance expense and deductibles, interest expense and other matters with regard to outlook and future earnings;

=A =4 =4 A
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1 theeffect of disproportionate changes in our costs compared to changes in operating revenues;

1 complex laws and regulations, including environmental-@miuption and tax laws and regulations, that can adversely
affect the cost, manner or feasibility ofidg business;

1 the effects and results of our strategies;

1 downtime and other risks associated with offshore rig operations or rig relocations, including rig or equipment failure

damage and other unplanned repairs;
1 the expected completion of shipyard projects including the timimgy@onstructioror reactivatiorand delivery and the
return of idle rigs to operations;
future capital expenditures and deferred costs, refurbishment, reactivation, transportatioanceppgrade costs;
the cost and timing of acquisitions and integration of additional rigs;
sufficiency and availability of funds and adequate liquidity for required capital expenditures and deferred costs, workin
capital debt servicand other businesequirements
1 our ability to obtain financing and pursue other business opportunities may be limited by our debt levels, debt agreeme
restrictions and the credit ratings assigned to our debt by independent credit rating agencies;
1 the market value of ouigs and of any rigs we acquire in the futurdich may decrease and/or be impaired as a result of
Company specific, industry specific or market factors
the level of reserves for accounts receivatld other financial assets, as appropriate
the proceds and timing of asset dispositions;
litigation, investigations, claimslisputesand other contingent liabilitiesnd their effects on our financial condition and
results of operations;
effects of accounting changes and adoption of accounting policies;
our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel on commercially reasonable terms, whether due to labor regulation
unionization or otherwise;
the security and reliability of our technology systems and service providers;
the effect of changes in fagn currency exchange rates;
our incorporation under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the limited rights to relief that may be available compared
United St &iSdavsagndiU. S. 0)
T the other factoRs$ski §aetor s o0f BForehdiOKEduwalehter e i n t hi s
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Part |
Item 1. Business
General
Shelf Drilliwgs iLndor gairSdtLedd on August 14, 2012 (fAinc
Islands. SDLwi t h its majority owned subsidiaries (together, the

water offshore contractor provitj services and equipment for the drilling, completion, maintenance and decommissioning of oil
and natural gas wells. We are solely focused on shallow water operations in depths of up to 88 tegtfleet consists @0
independent e g c antLiCoeugrarcilkfs as of December 31, 3t®&nkrsandmopdratorsg |
of jack-up rigs by number of active shallow water rigs. Since June 25, 2018, SDL shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchal
(AOSEO0O) wundebolSHhFe ti cker sy

We furnish financial reports, including our Form-KOEquivalent annual reports and Form-QOequivalent quarterly
reports, news releases and presentations free of charge on our websgite.sthelfrilling.com. Similar information can also be
found on the Euronext websitelize.euronext.com Euronext is an exchange group operating regulated markets in seven Europear
countries including the OSE Morway.

Since ouiinception we have applied oufit-for-purpos@ strategy to enhance the performance of our business, people and
processes, leveraging our sole focus on the shallow water segment and the decades of experience of our people witrsur custo
rigs and markets where we operalée diversified geographical focus of our jagks and the allocation of resourceptochase,
build or upgrade rigaredetermined by the activities and needs of our customers. Currently, our main customati®aat il
companies (ANOCso0), international oil companies (fil OCso0)
for varying durations.

SDL is a holding company with no significant operations or assets other than interestsectiesndl indirect subsidiaries.

Al | operations are conducted t hr anunglitect 8holly bwnedBubsidiaty ofiSQIOuH o | d
corporate offices are in Dubai, Uni t ed Aiona in thé&EMiddle BasteNorth( fi U

Africa and the Medit er r aeastdsia, I0diaarg VeshAdrica. i MENA Mo ) South
Recent events

On March 26, 2021, the Company closed a private offering of $310.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.875% Seni
Secured Notes due November 2024 (t h eevolviBg. cBditSalityNloet Aprd 2023 t o
( $DHL Revolved ) cash collateralize bank g utaredean ane repurichase allkeof theu n
outstandingB . 75 % Seni or Secured Not e8s.,7 5du eS eNa voer m bBstfor ghreral cdiharatde s(c
purposes

During the yeaended December 31, 2021, the Company received several new contract emnvkudisg new or extended
contracts in all of our key geographic are&is May 2021, the Company secured a-texar contract extension for the High Island
IX in SaudiArabia. The Companyadded13 rig yearsin additionalbacklog inIindia during 2021 as a result of several contract
extensions and new contract awanghich includednoving an additionalig, the Compact Driller, into the region June 2021,
the Company received award for a ong/ear contract with multiple option periods for the Shelf Drilling Tenacious in Angola and
secured a sheterm contract for the Shelf Drilling Mentor in Congo. Both the Shelf Drilling TenacioushdtiDrilling Mentor
began mobilizatiomo West Africa during the fourth quarter of 20&21d starte@perations in January 2022. In the same pethod
Companywas awarded a five well contract for the Baltic in Nigéoizanestimated one yealuration The Company was awarded
a twoyear contract extension in March 2021 for the Trident 16 in EgypDecember 2021he Company was awarded an- 18
month contract extension for the Key Manhattan in Italy and contract extensions for the Shelf Oniloyghraya and Shelf Drilling
Krathong in Thailand for 39 and 36 months, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed the sale of Shelf Drilling #ighmksyand VI,
Trident 15, Key Hawaii, Galveston Key and Randolphstyfor total net proceeds oB$.3million. Thesetransactionsncluded
opportunisticsales to improve liquidity as well as salesstdckedassets.As of December 31, 2021h¢ Company hasio rigs
recorded as assetsheldforsael2 8 of t he Companyés .30 rigs were under con

Operations

Our primary operations ag@oviding services for the drilling, completion, maintenance and decommissioning of oil and
natural gas welland associateservicesusingthe rigs in our fleeand related equipmenA significant portion of our revenues are
dayrateselated tahe provision of these servicearned from our customers, includi@Cs, I0Cs and independent oil and natural
gas companies Additionally, we may earn lumgsum fees relating to contract preparation, capital upgrades, mobilization,
demobilization and/or termination revenues in certain contracts. We also provide catering, additional equipment anlj person
consumable or accommodations at the request of the customer and we may use third parties for the provision of such goods
services. See also ACustomers and Customer Contractgo b
activities


http://www.shelfdrilling.com/
https://live.euronext.com/
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Although certain of our rigs may be affected by seasonal monsoons or other weathegenentdly seasonal factors do
not have a material effect on our business.

Our operating expenses consist primarily of operating and maintenance expensesawhieltlassified as rig related or
shorebased. Our other significantoperatingexpenses include depreciation, amortization of deferred costs and general and
administrative expenses. As we operate in a caipitathsive business, we may also incur digant losses related to impairment
of assets. See also fAOperating Expenses, Capital Evapmend
expenses

We haveone reportable segment, Contract Services, which reflects how we nmamdygssiness, that our fleet is mobile
and that our market is dependent upon the worldwide oil and natural gas industry.

We utilize various operational and financial measures that we believe are useful in assessing our business and performe
Many of hese measures are common to our industry and we believe they are useful in measuring our operating performance
ti me. ISttem a7 soMdnagement 6s Discussion and Analysis of F
discussion of ouoperating measures and financial measures.

We use various operational measures common to our industry to evaluate our operational performance, including:

1 Contract backlogs the maximum contract dayrate revenues that can be earned frooofirmitments for contract
services represented by executed definitive agreements based on the contracted operating dayrate during the con
period less any planned eot-service periods for regulatory inspections and surveys or other work. Contridogbac
excludes revenues resulting from mobilization and demobilization fees, capital or upgrade reimbursement, recharg
bonuses and other revenue sources. Contract backlog may also include the maximum contract amount of revenue:
the use of our rigssabareboat charters or as accommodation units. The contract period excludes revenues frol
extension options under our contracts unless such options have been exercised. The contract operating dayrate
differ from the amount estimated due to reducegratas for rig movements, adverse weather and equipment
downtime, among other factors. Actual dayrates may also include contractual adjustments based on market factc
such as Brent crude oil or natural gas prices or cost increases. Contract baakkey isdicator of our potential
future revenue generation.

Tot al recor dabl e igthrecumideeafrecordablgafetyincidentRder200)000 mdrours

1 Uptimeis the period during which we perform well operations without stoppage duectwamieal, procedural or
other operational events that result in foductive well operations time. Uptime is expressed as a percentage
measured daily, monthly or yearly. Uptime performance is a key customer contracting criterion, an indication of ou
operational efficiency and directly related to our current and future revenues and profit generation.

The following table includes selected operating measures as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

As of December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Contract backlog (in millionS)........cccoecveeiiieeiiiee e, $ 1,679 $ 1,377 $ 2,005

The following table includes selected operating measures for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Years ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

TRIR oot 0.16 0.19 0.19
UPLIME . 99.MN 99.4% 99.2%

Customers and Customer Contracts

Our contracts are typically awarded on an individual basis and vary in terms and rates dependiogeratibaal nature
and duration of the contract, amount and type of services and equipment provided, geographic area served, marketrmbnditions
other variables. Dayrates are negotiated directly with customers or determined through a formal biddssygmdacan be
influenced by the operating performance of the service provider or rig. Prior experience with a customer can be aadtmiding f
in the awarding of contracts and negotiation of contract terms, as discussed further below. Brent anddeatilral gas prices,
which are sensitive to global supply and demand, and other market factors can also impact dayrates. As is commostity,the indu
our customer contracts can contain multiple dayratesiyding specified dayrates for contracted @piens and reduced dayrates
for rig movements, adverse weather, equipment downtime, or other instances of schedulescbedoled events, including for
circumstances both within and outside of our control.

Revenues may increase or decrease largelydue changes i n average dayrat Hesn anc
7 . Management s Di scussion and Anal ysi.Avemde ddyiatasacanbe affdcteddy n «
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new contract dayrates that are lower or higher giramious dayrates arxy changes in the mix of dayrates earned by different rigs

in different operating regions. Effective utilization can be affected by the timing of new contracts, contract extensions ¢
terminations and changes in operational uptinut of service periods that reduce operational uptime can inglat@ed or
unplanned downtime such as for periodic surveys, underwater inspections, contract preparation and upgrades and the us
alternative dayrates for waitingn-weather periods, regirs, standby, force majeure, mobilization or other rates that apply under
certain circumstances.

We may receive additional compensation or reimbursement for contract preparation, capital upgrades, such as mechar
or structural alterations to a rigecessary to meet customer specifications, and for mobilization costs necessary to relocate the r
for contractual operations. Some contracts also include-kump demobilization revenues which are triggered if stipulated
conditions are present. Theseyisions vary and are based on negotiations of individual contracts with customers, which can be
influenced by the contract duration, dayrates, local market conditions and other factors.

Many contracts have extension options, which can be exerciseddititwe of the customer, often at previously agreed
prices and termsCustomer contracts may also be subject to suspension, termination, cancellation and delays for a variety of reasc
including at the customer so6 coraumseancesebayorns oua codtrol.s Gdnteact suppenisionn
provisions may allow customers to suspend contract activity for a predetermined or indefinite period, and in certaiargesimst
may extend the contracted term for a period of time equal to thersisp period. Such suspension provisions may provide for a
reduced dayrate, or no dayrate, and may require a ring to
customer contracts may outline specific termination provisionsghwhbsually include a notice period and may also include
termination payments and fees. Termination payments, if applicable, vary from contract to contract and can includenthef payme
a certain percentage of the contract dayrate for either a conthaspetified number of days or the number of firm contract days
remaining on the contractdowever, in certain contracts the termination fee paid can be refunded or reduced (or infrequently
eliminated) if we are able to secure a subsequent contratiefoigtwith a different operator. Additionally, contracts customarily
provide for automatic or optional customer termination for cause, often without the payment of any termination fee. The
provisions can be triggered under-giefined circumstancesauas norperformance or material breach of the contract, for reasons
including but not limited to operational or safety performance issues, equipment failure and sustained downtime rele¢ed to fo
majeure events.

Contract terms range in length from tirae necessary to drill or workover one well uprianyyears. We seek to secure
long-term agreements providing enhanced stability and deeper customer relationships rather than the highest possible dayrates
shorterterm basis. Typically, NOC contrigcare for longer terms when compared to contracts with ED@sndependent oil and
natural gas companieglthough in certain countries annual government budget approval cycles may limit the term of these contraci

The type of contract can also impact the | ength and g
exploration of unchartered territory, where mineral deposits are not confirmed to exist, and such projects are gendeaky cons
an investment in developing a f ut ur edrllmg awotkaveraabivity of pradliciehg

assets, and such projects are generally considered part of ongoing operations. Greenfield exploration tends tdelen siratter
more closely linked to prevailing commaodity prices and success of exploration activities than brownfield projects, ass@rgtome
often unwilling to make investments in unproven fields during periods of low oil pribesommissioning projectsonsist of
plugging and abandonment of mature oil and natural gas wells at the end of their Ireesopyng existing well equipment and
sealing off producing zonesShallow water fields are generally mature and therefore consist of more brownfield projects than
greenfield projects and decommissioning projects in shallow wepeesent growing segment of the jackp market

The methods through which we pursue newilesss opportunities vary significantigmall IOCsand independent oil and
natural gas companieme generally less likely to require formal tender processes, while NOCs are more likely to require
participation in full tender exercises prior to awardivayv contracts. We believe that extending current contracts or entering into
additional contracts with existing customers benefits both us and our customers, due to the following factors:

Readily available rigs and ioatingadsitiohabmobilizdtien expensetammdmsask;r 6 s
Available equipment, which meets customer specifications both from an operational and a safety perspective;
Empl oyees familiar with thendcustomerdés policies and
Simplified process for contranegotiations and related legal and administrative requirements

= =4 =4 =N

We believe that our ability to maintain relationships with, and to win repeat business from, our existing customeas is critic
to our stability and growth of cash flowH.an existing customer fails to renew a contract, we will seek to secure a new contract for
that rig.

Our currentustomer baseinclud€&sa udi  Ar abi an Oil Company (ASaudi Ar amc
Gas Corporation Limited, Ente Nazionaleld c ar bur i and fatafEne(gigsESEWhO Fontractour rigs for varying
durations.

In the year endeBecember 31, 202bf the21 contracts or extensions we entered idtbrepresented contract renewals
with the existing customerBased on customer contracts in place as of December 31,12G##,scheduled to expire during 2022,
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threeduring 2023 two in 2024andnine in 2025or later. As of December 31, 2021, our shortest remaining contract term was
approximately one montand the longest remaining contract term wiaeyears

Customers are typically invoiced monthlyased on the dayrates applicable to the specific aetwite perform on an
hourly basisand have 30 to 60 day payment terms. Ltsum o©ntract preparation, capital upgrade and mobilization fees are
typically invoiced at the commencement or initial phase of the contract. Demobilization and terminatioa fgpially billed at
the completion of a contract if certain stipulated conditions are preSemte contracts also provide for price adjustments tied to
material changes in specific costs or variations in the average price of Brent crude oil or natural gas.

Our contracts provide for varying levels of indemnification for both us and our custoiverbelieve the terms of such
indemnification provisions are standard for the industry. In general, the parties assume liability for their respeatinel @ars
property. Our customers typically assume responsibility for, and indemnify us againstpmtedl and subsurface risks under
dayrate contracts, which includes indemnifying us from any loss or liability resulting from pollution or contaminatiaindgnclu
cleanup and removal and thirplarty damages, arising from operations under the contmdabginating below the surface of the
water, including as a result of blesuts or cratering of the well. Howevénm,certain cases, we may retdimited risk for damage
to customeror third-party property on our rigand retain liability for thirgpaty damages resulting frorsurfacepollution or
contaminationoriginating from our equipment Additionally, we may have contractually agreed upon certain limits to our
indemnification rights and can be responsible for damages up to a specified maximum aiegenerally indemnify customers
for pollution that originates from our rigs that is within our control (e.g., diesel fuel or other fluids stored onbd@edife of the
rig). However, all contracts are individually negotiated, and the degraadeshnification and/or risk retention can vary from
contract to contract, and prevailing market conditions and customer requirements, among other factors, existing whractthe con
was negotiated can influence such contractual terms. In most instanebilh we are indemnified for damages to the well, we
are obligated to rdrill the well at a reduced dayrate. However, in certain circumstances our customers may be financially c
otherwise unable to honor their contractual indemnity obligations todusantractual indemnification may not prevent government
authorities or other thirgarties from taking action against us or naming the Company in a lawsuit.

The interpretation and enforceability of a contractual indemnity depends upon the spedfiarfdctircumstances
involved, as governed by applicable laws, and may ultimately need to be decided by a court or other proceeding, ctesidering
specific contract language, the facts and applicable laws. The law generally considers contractuay ifatesrimitnal fines and
penalties to be against public policy. Regardless of indemnification provisions, local jurisdiction regulations mayg¢o|piost
surety bonds, letters of credit and parent company guarantees for contract performancéiotin eettiain jurisdictions in which
we operate, local customs and practice or governmental requirements necessitate the formation of joint ventures with Ic
participation. In certain jurisdictions, such customs and laws also effectively mandatiskesiaibt of a relationship with a local
agent or sponsor. When appropriate, we enter into agency or sponsorship agreements, in such jurisdictions. We grarturrently
to five joint ventures, one in Malaysia, one in Indonesia, two in Nigeria and émgola. Although we may not control all aspects
of these joint ventures, we are an active participant in and are the primary beneficiary of each of these joint ventmi@® Fo
information regar di n@ Varablenrterest Eniittelsroe ¢ ,0 sehee ACNtseo |5 dat ed F
inAl tem 8. Financi al Statements and Suppl ementary Datao.

The above description of our customer contracts and indemnification provsagsneral summary of the types of such
provisions as of December 31, 2021 and does not contain sufficient details to fully understand our contractual andatidamnific
risks. For additional information, including but not limited to a discussion of idlethat the indemnification provisions in our
contracts may not adequately mitigate ourdtreimsK®aA, RNRéeskiRia

Strategy and Competitive Strengths

Our strategy is to maintain a sole focus on shallotendrilling services, leveraging decades of industry experience and
an outstanding track record to provide kiestlass operations for our customers. Our vision is to be the internationalgack
contractor of choice by delivering outstanding perforneanct hr ou gdn-p oup o sié d tbusi ness strate

Our fdr-putposed business strategy is focused on having
organization withhigh national conterdndright sized policies, procedures and procesddssallows us to meet our custorsed
specific needs inraefficient andcost effective manner.

We believe that the size of our fleet, coupled with the balance of premium, shallow draft and staneapd, jeciveH

suited to provide the right asset for various customer requiremenss agrooperating regions. Our fleet is walintained and
ourjackup rigs have proven technologies and operating capabi
upgradeso where appropri at e intwbichmeietend themeaocopefatdddaidanallyp wesarefalder  t
to customize our rig equipment and operations to meet the specific technical needs of our customers, including for example
unigue specifications fgulugging and abandonment wiature wells.In recent years, we have enhanced our active fleet through
the opportunistic acquisition of premium jack rigs complementary to our fleet and available at historically low acquisition prices.
From 2016 through 202@ve added nine premiufack-up rigs to our fleet at significantly lower prices thée historic cost of
construction for comparable newbuild rigddi t i onal | vy, we have selectively sol
flexibility and reduce the cost outlay for certamianworking assets and assets near the end of their useful lives. We believe our
actions to maintain and upgrade our fleet, customize our rigs to customer requirements and selectively acquire angsdispose
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allows us to deploy a competitive fleet thahaneet the needs of our customers. Our exclusive focus is eagaak operations

in our four core operating regions of MENAM, Soedbt Asia, India and West Africa, which allows us to deploy our assets to the
locations where they are needed. The eotration of our fleet of rigs in thekey geographic markets allows us to maintziitical

mass and drive our significant market share in these operating redipaddition, we have a significant presence in the Middle
East, Thailand, India aniestAfrica, where we believe development activities are generally characterized by low productipn costs
low carbon intensityand short cycle times and will have relatively favorable rig supply and demand fundamentals in the comin
years.

We maintain a right sized organization with centralized and streamlined systems and processes geared to the specific n
of our business and fleet. Our strategically positioned headquarters in Dubai is in close proximity to our core ogéyasrapire
eliminates the need for numerous regional offices. Our centralized structure allows us to build local supply chainatetserks
our geographies, standardize equipment across our fleet and centralize management of our supply chain and key mainten
activities, all of which are key drivers of our industry leading-tmst structure. In addition, since our inception, we have focused
on building high national content through hiring and developing nationals from the countries in which we operaitey iactads
our leadership teams. These local hiring practices minimize the additional costs of bringing in expatriate workers)avivieg
the stability of our operations and closely aligning our goals with the interest of the governments and sustengewe work.

We believe that our low cost structure and high national content provide us with an advantage over our competitors.

We appl yforpurpdééed business strategy in a way that is
respect for individuals, the environment and society. We do this through our three strategic priorities and our thaéeagssnt

Our three strategic priorities are as follows:

Focusi Jackup operations are our sole focus.

Reliability T With safetyand operational performance at the forefront of everything we do, we strive to create an
environment where no one gets hurt.

1 Relationships Our goal is to develop loaggerm and mutually beneficial relationships with customers and suppliers.
We provide @velopment for our people to support their ldagn career goals.

f
f

Our three essential values are as follows:

1 Protecti Protect yourself, your team, your asset, andenvironment.
1 Leadi We conduct business ethically, with responsibility and accourttabili
1 Executei We consistently deliver outstanding performance for our customers, owners, and other stakeholders.

We believe that our centralized structure and focus onijpakg operations has significantly contributed to the reliability
of ouroperatiors as seen through our emphasis on safety and operational performance. W&Hdfe.16 for the year ended
December 31, 202yhichwas72% belowt he aver age of the I nternational. Qrssoc
safety track record has consistently exceeded the i nedust
below. Additionally, we achieved an average fleet uptime96£3% in 2021 and have consistently maintained an average fleet
uptimeof atleast98.5%sinceour inception in 2012. Through ongoing training, appropriate incentive structures at all levels and
management oversight, we intend to continue improving our safety and operational performance as we strive to further red
workplace incidents.

We have welestablished relationships with our customers, and we believe that our customers prefer to work witl
contractors like us, who are watablished and have strong safety and operating uptime track records. We asveswoh
flexible in addressing our customersd specific neeadwikand
with our customers to improve efficiencies, which frequently results in rig operations being completed aheaanaf plamately
lowering the cost per well for our custome@ur ability to maintain relationships with, and to win repeat business from, our existing
customers is a competitive strength.

The members of our executive management team lead the organization with a commitment to ethical business practi
responsibility and accountability and have been involved with the Company since our inception. Our four executiverefficers &
knowledgeald operations and finance executives with extensive experience in the global oil and natural gas industry wi
approximately 120 years of collective industry and financial experience. They have held leadership positions at hidgdy regar
offshore drillingand oilfield services companies, including Schlumberger Ltd., Transocean Ltd., Noble Drilling plc and Wellstrear
Holdings plc.

Ourfi f-forp u r p o s e ds esemplified iy gufarge and higkquality fleet,operated in our core geographic region
by a right sized organization with centralized, low cost operation$igiichational contentWe operate our business in accordance
with our strategic priories and values that focus on ethical business practices, safe and reliable operations andostremg cust
relationships, whiclprovides uswith a strong ompetitive advantage and contribsite our contractingand operationaduccess.
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Risk Management and nsurance

Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the drilling, completion, maintenanieea@amdissioningf shallow
water oil and natural gas wells. These hazards include, but are not limited to, blowouts, punch through, loss oftbenivell of
abnormal conditions, mechanical or technological failures, seabed cratering, fires and pollution. These conditions can cal
personal injury or loss of life, pollution, damage to or destruction of the environment, property and equipment, thesuspensi
operations, loss of revenues and could result in claims or investigations by regulatory bodies, customers, employees and ot
affected by such events. In addition, claims for loss of oil or natural gas production and damage to formations cénaoccur.
serious accident were to occur at a location where our services and equipment are being used, it could result in uscbagng nam
defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims and incurring costs and losses associated with such claims.

Despite our effds to maintain high safety standards, from tito¢ime, we have suffered accidents, and there is a risk that
we will experience accidents in the futui&hile we saw progress with a lower numbepebple hurt this year than any other since
inception, wewere all saddened that one of our crew members died as a result of the injuries he sutaimmpany used this
tragedy to resnergize efforts towards achieving our ultimate goal where no one get§ harfrequency and severity of incidents,
and/a the level of any resulting compensatory payments, could adversely affecttbefcost or our abi l ity to
compensation and other forms of insurance and could negaitiveyct our operating costs and our relationships with régyla
agencies, customers, employees and others. Such events and their impadiavalanaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We maintain insurance coverage which we believe is customary in therjndasiuding general business liability, hull
and machinery, cargo, casualty and thpadty liability insurance.Our insurance policies typically consist of twelwenth policy
periods, and the next renewal date for a substantial portion of our insyraigeam is scheduled fllovembe2022. Our insurance
policies may not be adequate to cover all losses and have deductibles, limits of liabilities and exclusions of coversgja for c
losses. Further, some pollution and environmental risks are generally not completely insurable. Inadditiaynnot be able to
maintain adequate insurance coverage or obtain insurance for certain risks at rates we consider reasonable and commer
justifiable or withterms comparabl® our current arrangements. Our fleet is insured for its estimatechdiaket value and we
periodically evaluate risk exposures, insurance limits aneirsgifed retentions. As of December 2021, the insured value of
our fleet wasp12 billion.

The above description of our insurance program is a general summaryygide®f such policies in effect as of December
31, 2021 and does not contain sufficient details to fully understand our insurancd=askadditional information, including but
not limited to a discussion of the indemnification provisions inaustomer contracts and the risk that our insurance policies may
not adequately mitigate our risks, dde m AQuAst RMmesrks Farcd oCw

Health, Safety and Environment

Consistent with our strategic priorities and coedues, we are guided by the highest ethical standards and are firmly
committed to excellence in the fields of workplace health and safety, environmental sustainability, social responsibility ar
responsible business conduét.Shelf Drilling, the safetpf our employees, contractors, customer representatives and other service
providers is our greatest responsibility. OQur Healrthe, S
Companyb6s commit ment a nsdonmaintain asafgpahdohgatthy wdik eovivonmegta ®ur Mamagement and
employees are responsible for creating and working in an environment that results in an-freédentkplace where no one gets
hurt. All employees at Shelf Drilling are given thecassary training, tools and empowerment to be individually responsible for
the safety of themselves, theiremrkers and the environment.

Shelf Drilling has implemented comprehensive HSE policies, processes and systems which are in line with industry b
practice. We place a high priority on managing the risks inherent in the offshore drilling industry and are committed to complianc
with the highest national and internatiomae al t h, safety, a staddardsrOwuriintegratan &1 BE MarjademitS E 0 )
Systemis implemented throughout all offshore and onshore operatmresing quality, health, safety ardvironmental principles
and objectives of our busines¥he system monitors our HSE performance and continuously improves the necessarydsafegua
protect our employees, assets, service providers and custamaeis minimize our impact on the environment. We believe we are
an industry leader in HSE due to a commitment to develop, promote and sustain a culture which operates in a ntarmar true
essential values, including to Aprotareinvy cwmsnelnft 0. pr dMee &
comprehensive HSE processes, including a Corporate Operational Support Plan, Emergency Response Plans, Medical Evacu
Response Plans and a major emergency management and safety leadership training program (fmsestdrraining matrix).
Senior management strives to provide strong, demonstrable leadership and commitment to HSE. Participation in spegs#fic meet
with staff and contractors, joint management inspection visits and regular HSE audits all encatnagg facus on HSE in the
workplace.

The anchors of our HSE culture are:

1 Planning Firsi To achieve perfect execution, we must plan every task, no matter how small
1 Time Out For Safety All employees have the obligation to call a time outsafety
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1 BehaviorBased Safety Observatioris Formal observations aimed at raising safety awareness and promoting
teamwork and accountability

1 Management HSE Touris Visible safety leadership through coaching and mentoring to empower employees and
support ousafety culture

1 Self-Audits and Debrief Systematic approach to se¥aluation and continuous improvement

9 Trainingi Developing our employees as safety leaders

In 2020, as a result of COVHD9, we implemented additional actions to help protect our erapfy These included
remote working programs as well as social distancing policies at our headquarters and certdiasgltbogfices. Additional
guarantine and testing procedures were implemented ftraggd personnel, as well as limits on+essentl travel to the rigs.
These procedures include those required to comply with local laws and regulations and customer requirements. The Company
rolled back some of these provisions in 2021 in accordance with local laws and regulations, includingerrdte working
programs, as the need for such programs has been mitigated by vaccination, masking and testing programs. Howevemsich prog
and practices may continue to change over time as the situation and recommendations of the global heaity comtinue to
evolve. Almost 100% ofshorebasedpersonnebnd98% of personnel on our offshore rigave receiveat leastwo doses of an
approvedCOVID-19 vaccine.We track health, safety and environment performancemardhly basis by way of a monthly HSE
report, tracking, trending and investigations whichDLar e
on behalf of all subsidiariess ia member of the IADC and participates in its Incident Statistics Progfame Co mpany 0
absences due to sickness, including CONIE) were minimal during the years ended December 31, 20@2020.

Our operations are subject to numerous compréensnvironmental HSE laws and regulations in the form of
international conventions and treaties, national, state and local laws and variotjansdltGtional regulations in force where our
rigs operate or are registered. We are also required to dtE&itnpermits from governmental authorities for our operations. To
date,we have not incurred material costs to comply with environmental regulatfofeilure to comply with applicable laws and
regulations may result in administrative and cpéhalties, criminal sanctions, the suspensiotermination of our operations or
other liabilities.

The following is a summary of certain applicable international conventions and other laws, which serve as examples of t
various laws and regulations tchish we are subject. We believe that all our rigs are compliant in all material respects with all
HSE regulations to which they are subject. For a discussion on the possible effects of environmental regulation oessr busin
seeil tem 1A. .Risk Factorso

Greenhouse gas regulation

There is increasing attention worldwide concerning the issue of climate change and the effect of greenhouse gas emissi
The 1992 treaty of th&fni t ed Nati ons Framewor k Conventi on odatioCforithreat e
global efforts to combat climate chang@a. 2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the 1992 UNFCCC became the first binding treaty under
international law to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. In 2015, the conference of the UNFCCC in Paris theuitedtion of
the Paris Agreement. The Paris Agreement, which entyered
determined contributionso toward emissions r e dveprdgiess made a n
toward share climate goals. The setting of nationally determined contributions and the global stocktake of progressydioeer ev
years beginning in 2020 and 2023, respectively. In October and November 2021, the UNFCCC met afahveCBlaate Change
Conference, where participating nations adopted the Glasgow Climate Pact. The pact contained various provisions $ough as fun
climate action in developing countries, a commitment to reducing the gap between existing emission pdaostaon the targets
needed to achieve stated goals and completion of the Paris Agreement rulebook. The rulebook provisions includedreachin
agreement governing the workings of carbon markets and concluding negotiations on the Enhanced Trafksaarewoyk,
which provides the format for tracking and reporting targets and emissions.

While it is not possible at this time to predict how the Paris Agreement, the Glasgow Climate Pact and other new treati
and legislations that may be enacted to asklgreenhouse gas emissions would impact our business, the modification of existing
laws or regulations or the adoption of new laws or regulations curtailing exploratory or developmental drilling for ad enald
materially adversely affect our opdamats by limiting drilling opportunities or imposing materially increased costs. Moreover,
incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources could have a negative impact on our business if segch incer
reduce the worldwide demand for oilcanatural gas or redirects resources to renewable energy alternatives.

United Nations6é International Maritime Organization (Al M
The international conventions, laws and regulations of the IMO govern shipping and international nia@itend MO

regulations have been widely adopted by United Nations member countries, and in some jurisdictions in which we operate, th
regulations have been expanded upon. International conventions, laws and regulations applicable to our opérdéatine inc

I nternational Convention for the Prevention of Pol lutio
Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage o
Liabi I'ity for Bunker Oil Poll ution Damage of 2001, as ame

related to the use, storage, treatment, disposal and release of petroleum products and hazardous substances. Thasthéaws gov
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discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relate to environmental protection, and in certain circumstances, m
impose strict liability, rendering us liable for environmental and natural resource damages without regard to negligeitce or f

MARPOL regulates harmful air emissions from ships and is also applicable to shallow water rigs. Recent amendments
MARPOL require a progressive reduction of sulfur oxide levels in heavy bunker fuels and create more stringent nitrogen oxi
emissions staraids for marine engines in the future. Our rigs are also subject to BUNKER, which holds us strictly liable for
pollution damage caused by discharges of bunker fuel in jurisdictional waters of ratifying states.

The |1 MO6s Ball ast Wa tne r ( tMaen afgERWNM n € o Cwenvteind n @) may
operations. The BWM Conventionbts i mplementing regul atio
requirements beginning in 2009, to be replaced in time with a regaimefor mandatory ballast water treatment. The BWM
Convention entered into force on September 8, 2017, at which time all vessels in international traffic were to complpaliéisth
water exchange standard and to comply with the more stringenttballasat er per f or mance standard
intermediate or renewal survey. The IMO continues to review and introduce new regulations. It is impossible to predict wh
additional regulations, if any, may be passed by the IMO and wieat eiffany, such regulation may have on our operations.

National and local health, safety and environmental regulation

Certain aspects of our operations also are governed by the laws and regulations of the countries and localities where
rigs operate. These laws and regulations may establish additional HSE obligations for our operations and impose liability fc
noncompliance and other events resulting in harm to the environment or human health, such as oil spills and other accidents.

Other regulations

Our operations are subject to various other international conventions, laws and regulations in various countries, includi
laws and regulations relating to the importation and operation of rigs and equipment, currency conversions and repbartion,
natural gas exploration and development, environmental protection, taxation of offshore earnings and earnings of expatri
personnel, the use of local employees and suppliers by foreign contractors and duties on the importation and expigatidn of r
other equipment.

Our People
Overview

At Shelf Drilling, we strive to provide our employees with a professional, safe and trusted working environment in whicl
all individuals are respected and treated fairly, and with digniBur employees and contractors have extensive technical,
operational and management experience in thegyackegment of the offshore industijle seek to attract and retain the best talent
with recruitment through our robust selection and induction pspeetention through our competitive compensation and benefits
packages and development through our comprehensive training and development program.

The following table presents our employees and contractors by category as of December 31, 2021:

Company

employees Contractors Total
Rig-based/offshore..........cccveieiiiii e, 1,816 887 2,703
ShOrebased........coooiiiiiiiiiee e 174 63 237
(O] o T0] - 1= PSPPI 122 43 165
TOAL. e 2,112 993 3,105

Approximately87% of our employees and contractors comprise offshorbaiged crew members who carry out-tiay
day operations. Our offshore crews include supervisors as well as trained and competent technical specialists infthe arec
operations, safety, maintenanaedamarine support.Offshore crews typically work rotation schedules which vary according to
jurisdiction and local practice with periods ranging from two weeks on / two weeks off up to four weeks on / four weeks off
However, this can, and has been, adjusted due to CQ9lilated travel delays and restrictions, including quarapéneds.

The remainind.3% of our employees and contractors are stiiased or corporate, with the largest concentration employed
at our corporate headquarters in Dubai. Our corporate headquarters houses centralized project teams, who ensuratthe con:s
implementation of our ggrations processes, quality policy and HSE management system worldwide as well as administrativ
personnel who provide technical and functional support to both the rigs and locababeceemployees. The other shbased
employees and contractors warkthe offices and yards that support our activities in the various countries in which we operate.
They provide support in operations, commercial and marketing, technical, finance, human resources, procurement, HSE
information technology to our cust@rs and shallow water rigs and crewsmployees in certain of the countries in which we
operate are represented by trade unions and arrangements, including but not limited to collective bargaining agreements.
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Nationalization/Local Employment

Nationalizaton is one of th&ey tenetof ourfl f-for4p u r p busiresstrategy. Since our inception, we have focused
on building high national content through hiring and developing nationals from the countries in which we operate, inch&ting a
our leadership teamsThis enables us to strengthen customer and governmental relationships, particularly with NOCs, and resu
in a lower cost base as well as relatively lower employee turndueaddition, through significant positive impacts on the loca
economies including increased income and employment, our nationalization strategy directly supports our commitmerteid the Uni
Nati onsd Sustainable Development Goal s.

The following table shows the employee mix in our key markets as of December 31, 2021

National employees
and contractors

LI 64.™0
SOULNBASASIA. .......cevviiiiiiiieiitieeie e s e e e e et e e et e s et e s et e taaeeeaaeeaeaeaeteeeteeteeeteserteeereeeenaaaaeeaaeeens 93.6%
[T L= U 98.7%0
LAY LET S AN (o7 VRSSO 95.1%

Diversity, Equal Opportunity and Labor and Human Rights

We are committed to equal opportunity employment for all employees and applicastsploymentand welcome the
variety of experiences they bring to the Compakiye recruit, hire, train, promote, and compensate without regard to race, color,
national origin, citizenship, religion, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age, or any other category of phesensetat
protected by applicable laws.

We arecommitted to establishing and maintaining a work environment in which all individuals are respected and treate
with dignity. We have a zero tolerance for discrimination or harassment in the workplace or any othelatedkenvironment
which governs laterms, conditions and actions related to employment. We prohibit all harassment, including verbal, written, o
electronic dissemination of materials which are offensive or disparaging of others on the basis of race, color, naitipnal orig
citizenship,religion, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age, or any other category, whether the harassment is directed
subordinate, cavorker, supervisor, customer, agent, guest, contractor or venderedignize that discrimination can be indirect
or unintentional and therefore strive to create awareness and educate our people in order to develop and maintaimsivteuly incl
and high performing culture.

We respect labor rights as described in the fundamental conventions of the Internation@igamzation, including
freedom of association and collective bargaining as well as freedom from forced and compulsory labor, child labor ar
discrimination in respect of employment and occupation. We are committed to respecting and protecting lalasr wiglhtas
fundamental human rights as described in the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Humam&lghtour internal business
as well as those of our business partners, suppliers, customers and others who are directly affected by esir \Agtite
committed to important issues such as-d@trimination, the right to privacy, employment contracts, protection against harassment
and managememmployee collaborationWe engage with the relevant employee representative groups, whichedperattain
jurisdictions, and encourage active ongoing dialogue to ensure alignment of our collective interests.

Through our ongoing Speak Up initiative we encourage our employees angahies to ask compliance and ethics
guestions, raise concerard report any actual or suspected misconduct, unethical or illegal behavior, or violations to our code c
business conduct and its supporting policies or applicable laws, or seek advice on how to handle such situationsinghel&Dril
established wéous channels through which employees and thardies, such as suppliers, agents, and business partners, can repor
their concerns. The employees are always encouraged to talk openly and freely with their supervisors first or theyocatoreach
the Head of Compliance and Ethics or the Executive Vice President. The Company has also made available the Shelf Drill
EthicsPoint Helpline, which enables filing of confidential reporting of complaints, concerns and incidents either threaitth the
free multilingual telephone hotline or a wdiased form. The helpline is operated 24/7 by an independenp#ritd provider to
help maintain confidentiality and, when requested, anonymity. A link to the helpline is also available on our webditenand in

Training and Development

For all Company employees, we provide applicable training related to key Company policies and procedures coveril
topics such as our code of business conduct, ethicsc@ntiption and conflicts of interest.

For offshore emploges, we provide access to a comprehensive training and development program that enables employe
to progress from entry level positions through to the rsestor level on arig. Employees acquire skills, knowledge and experience
following a highly strutured training matrix that specifies the training required for each role and responsibility. This is channelec
into four main categoriegn the job training, competency assessments, dkamed professional courses and regulatory and marine
licensing tréning coursesEmployee progress toward the next level and compliance with defined training targets are tracked throug
our online reporting system. Specific programs, such as the Offshore Development Program, aitratrk fdet promotion of
high potential offshore candidates. Regular reviews are held between the field and corporate managememtieasi®o basis
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and as part of a structured Annual Succession Planning ptocessure progress towards achieving the designated nationalization
objectives as well as the development of adequate bench strength for key positions.

For shorebased and corporate employees, development plans are specific to the individual, their current role and potent
future opportunities.

Operating Expenses, Capital Ependitures and Deferred Costs

Our business consists of providing services to our customers, often oveyeaulservice periods using a variety of
specialized and highalue rigs and related equipment. As such, our business is capital intensive, requiring significant expenditur
to purchase, operate, upgrade and maintain our fleet. Costs can be expensed, capitalized, or deferred depending oic their sp
nature.

1 Expensed Operating costs and routine expenditures for minor asset replacements and repairs and maintenance that do
increase the asset life or functionality are expensed as incurred. Additionally, mobilization and demobilization costs
relocate rigs withoutihding commitments are expensed when incurred.

1 Capitalizedi Capital expenditures include the cost of acquiring or constructing our property and equipment, whick
primarily consists of rigs and equipment. Expenditures for purchases, additions, imprsvemdnsubstantial
enhancementsare capitalizecalong with other costs to bring the asset to the condition and location necessary for its
intended use Capital expenditures are included in property and equipment and are depreciated over the estiolated use
life of the asset.

1 Deferredi Certain expenditures associated with contract preparation, mobilization, regulatory inspections and majc
equipment overhauls that are expected toelseverable are deferreddeferred costs are included in other currasgets
and othetong-termassets on the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized on alistedigisis over either the firm
contract term or the period until the next planned similar expenditure is made or for a period of five years for majc
equpment overhauls, as appropriate.

See fiN8tgnkficant A ctetheuQorsolidagd Fhancial Stateamends includeid int e m 8. Fi
St atements and Soufpriher distuession af buy op@atingaxpenses, deferred cospp@etty and equipment,
net.

In conducting our business, we incur operating costs and expensescwasist primarily of operating and maintenance
expenses. Our operating and maintenance expenses can be classified as rig relatebasezhore

Rig-related expenses are directly related to the operation of our rigs and include:

1 Rig personnel expensésThese expenses consist of compensation, transportation, and training costs, as well a
catering costs while the crews are on the rig. Such expensdsmgpe of rig androm countryto-country reflecting
the number of employees, thgercentage of expatriate and national employees, local market rates, unionized trade
arrangements and local regulatory requirements regarding payroll related taxbsi@es, social security or similar
programs and end of service benefits.

1 Rig maintenance expensesThese consist of expenses related to operating and maintaining our rigs, other thar
personnel costs, such as the cost of repairs and maintenance, cdasamalother costs, including the associated
freight and customs duties.

1 Otherrigrelated expensdsThese expenses include all remaining operating expenses such as insurance, profession
services, shoiterm equipment rentals, mobilization and derniahtion costs and other miscellaneous costs.

Shorebased expenses include costs incurred by local diawed offices in direct support of our rigs and operations in
each associated jurisdiction and include the costs of 4fas@d personnel arfacilities.

Our general and administrative expenses primarily include expenses related to our corporate headquarters in Dubai
personnel costs including compensation, benefits and -blaaexl compensation related to @entralized projects teanand
administrative departmentsCentralized projects teams include HSE, marine operations, engineering, electrical, maintenance
supply chain and other technical and functional process expeitainistrative departments include executive management, legal,
finance and accounting, human resources, information technology and other support departments. Expenses also indude direc
fees, provision focredit lossesand other general and administrative costs.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors.

Summary of Principal Risk Factors

Users of this Form & Equivalent should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information

included in this document. Each of these risk factors could affect one or more of the following: owsshfisareial condition,
results of operations and cash flowasd could also affect an investment in our Company. Our principal risk factors include risks
related to our business and industry and risks related to our structure, which may differ fsaaffeisting other companies, as well

as general risk factors that affect most businesths.following is a summary of our principal risk factors.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

f
f

=A =

Our business largely depends on the level of activity in thikoshwater drilling industry, which is significantly affected

by volatile oil and natural gas prices that drive activity in the oil and natural gas exploration and production industry.
The industry has been historically competitive, cyclical and suljeptite competition. If we are unable to compete
successfully with our competitors, we may be materially adversely impacted.

Public health issues, including epidemics and pandemics such as €@\Have had and may continue to have significant
adverse consequences including significantly reduced demand for our services, which may result in a material adve
impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our future business performance depends on our abiliteriew catracts with existing customers asdcure new
contracts for our fleet of rigs.

If customers reduce activity levels, terminate, suspend or seek to renegotiate contracts, or if market conditionstdictate t
we enter into contracts with unfavorable terminoreased risks, we may be materially adversely impacted.

Our future contracted revenue, or backlog, may not ultimately be realized.

The duration of our contracts may subject us to certain additional risks.

We rely on a relatively small number aistomers for a substantial portion of our current and future revenues.

Our purchase of existing jaalp rigs carries risks associated with the condition and quality of those rigs

Newbuild rig projects and reactivation of stacked rigs, as well as upgedddyishment and repair projects are subject to
various risks, which could cause delays or cost overruns.

If we were to commit to acquire, construct or lease rigs or reactivate any of our stacked rigs prior to obtaining a custor
contract, we could bexposed to a number of risks.

We may be unable to successfully obtain and integrate additional rigs on economically acceptable terms, or at all, wh
may adversely affect the Company and our future growth.

We may not be able to keep pace with technologieaklopments and make adequate capital expenditures in response to
newer and/or higher specification rigs or more fuel efficientamission rigs being deployed within the industnd
therefore our fleet may not satisfy the requirements of some customer

Climate change, the regulation of greenhouse gases and increasing developreeetvable energy alternativesuld

have a negative impact on our industry, business and/or reputation.

Compared to companies with greater resources, we may be at a tivmpétadvantage.

There may be limits to our ability to mobilize drilling rigs between geographic areas, and the duration, risks and associat
costs of such mobilizations may be material to our business.

The fair market value of our loAged assets, icluding our drilling rigs and any rigs we acquire in the future, may decrease,
which could result in impairments or cause us to incur a loss on the sale of such assets.

Supplier capacity constraints or shortages in parts or equipment, supplier prodisttigmiahs, supplier quality and
sourcing issues or price increases could increase our operating costs, decrease our revenues and adversely impac
operations.

Our labor costs and the operating restrictions that apply to us could increase as acgeledtiob bargaining negotiations

and changes in labor laws and regulations.

Our business involves numerous operating hazards; our insurance and contractual indemnity rights may not be adequa
cover any losses resulting from accidents and other @@t our insurance may become more expensive or may become
unavailable in the future.

Our international operations in the shallow water drilling sector involve additional risks, which could adversely affect ou
business.

Any failure to comply with the copiex laws and regulations governing international trade, including import, export, anti
corruption, economic sanctions and embargoes could adversely affect our operations.

We are subject to complex laws and regulations, including environmental lawsgaations that can adversely affect

the cost, manner or feasibility of doing business.

If we or our customers are unable to acquire or renew permits and approvals required for drilling operations, we may
forced to suspend or cease our operations,wimiay adversely affect our profitability.

The imposition by customers and/or governments in certain countries related to minimum local content, or local conte
programs or quotas may subject us to additional requirements and risks.

Our existing indebted¥ss imposes significant operating and/or financial restrictions on us that may prevent us from
pursuing certain business opportunities and restrict our ability to operate our business.
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We are dependent upon cash flows from our operating subsidiarieetmureobligations, including repayment of our
debt. Our corporate structure and operations in multiple jurisdictions may impose limitations on the transfer of funds.
we become unable to pay daterest ordebts as they become due or to obtain furthedit, we may become subject to
insolvency proceedings.

To service and refinance our indebtedness, fund our capital and liquidity needs or pay any dividends, we may not gene
sufficient cash or have access to sufficient funding.

We rely on proper fuetioning of our computer and data processing systems that must be regularly updated or replace
and a largescale malfunction could result in material adverse disruptions to our business.

Developing and expanding data security and privacy requiremenrtsiootease our operating costs, and any failure by

us or our vendors to maintain the security of certain customer, employee and bredategsinformation could result in
damage to our reputation, be costly to remediate and result in regulatory action.

We depend heavily upon the security and reliability of our technology systems and those of our service and equipme
vendors, and such systems are subject to estaurity risks and threats.

Technology disputes could negatively impact our operationscogase our costs.

Fluctuations in exchange rates and-gonvertibility of currencies could result in losses to us.

If any part of our business is moved outside of its current operative jurisdiction our overall tax exposure may change, whi
may affect oualleged compliance with applicable tax laws.

Risks Related to our Structure and Ownership of our Common Stock

f
f

=A =

We are exposed to regulatory and enforcement risks regarding tds&gax authorities may treat us as a passive foreign
investmentompany, causing potential adverse U.S. federal tax consequences to our U.S. shareholders.

Subsequent to our initial public offering in 2018, we are subject to both Cayman Islands regulatory requirements and t
requirements applicable for Companies listen the Oslo Stock Exchange, and any subsequent changes to these
requirements, and, as such, we may be subject to review by the relevant authorities.

Shareholder rights and responsibilities will be governed by Cayman Islands law and will differ irespexs from the

rights and responsibilities of shareholders under other jurisdictions, including Norway and the U.S., and our shareholc
rights under Cayman Islands law may not be as clearly established as shareholder rights under the laws sdliati@nguri
Certain of our shareholders own a significant proportion of our common shares, and their interests may conflict with tho
of ours or other shareholders.

In the recent past, we have not paid any dividends on our common shares, our abilitgivideays is subject to certain
restrictions and the availability and timing of future dividends, if any, is uncertain, which could influence the price of ou
common shares.

Future issuances of our common shares or other securities could dilute thgshofdiolders of our common shares and
could materially affect the price of our common shares, and preemptive rights are not available to holders of our comm
shares.

Future sales, or the possibility of future sales of a substantial number of our colmamesm could affect the market price

of our common shares.

Exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect the value of our common shares and dividends paid on the comn
shares, if any, for an investor whose principal currency is not U.S. dollars.

The transfer of our common shares and their underlying assets is subject to restrictions under the securities laws of the
and other jurisdictions.

Investors could be unable to recover losses in civil proceedings in jurisdictions other than the Caynsaridialmaway.
Investors may face additional risks related to @ammon shares due to the VPS Registtee Registrar Agreemeand

the recently implemented EU Central Securities Depository Regulation

General Risk Factors

f
f

We are exposed to thoeedit risks of our key customers and certain other third parties.

We are dependent on our senior management team, other key employees and Directors of our Board, and the busi
could be negatively impacted if we are unable to attract and retain pdraenassary for our success.

We are dependent on the availability and retention of skilled personnel, which may be adversely affected by increases
labor costs.

We may be subject to litigations and disputes that could have a material adverse impabtismess, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Any relevant change in tax laws, regulations, or treaties, and relevant interpretations thereof, for any country in which v
operate, earn income, generate losses or are considered tiab resident, and/or the loss of any major tax dispute, or a
successful challenge to our intercompany pricing policies or operating structures could have an adverse impact.

We are subject to laws and regulations in several jurisdictions, and failym@perly comply with such laws and
regulations may adversely affect our operations.

The price of our common shares could fluctuate significantly.

Please see below for a more detailed description of the risks affecting our Company.
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Risks Related to ourBusiness and Industry

Our business largely depends on the level of activity in the shallow water drilling industry, which is significantly affbgted
volatile oil and natural gas prices that drive activity in the oil and natural gas exploration and prtidadndustry.

The level of activity of the offshore oil and natural gas industry is cyclical, volatile and impacted by oil and natural ga
prices. Oil and natural gas prices are unpredictable and are affected by numerous factors beyond our coditngl,theclu
worldwide demand for oil and natural gas and worldwide production of oil and natural gas.

Worldwide demand for oil and natural gas is impacted by:

global economic growth and the health of the global economy, including financial instabilityssicets;

the occurrence or threat of epidemic or pandemic diseases and any related business and government responses;
technical advances and increased adoption of alternative and renewable energy sources;

technological improvements that improve energficiehcy and reduce consumption and the development and
exploitation of alternative fuels.

=A =4 -4 -4

Worldwide production of oil and natural gas is impacted by:

expectations regarding future energy prices;

the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and deiingeoil and natural gas;

advances in exploration, development and production technologies;

the discovery rate of new oil and gas reserves and their locations;

increased supply of oil and gas resulting from growing onshore hydraulic fracturing activihiaadievelopment;

the diversification of IOCs and the shifting of budget allocations away from traditional oil and gas exploration anc

development projects into renewable energy and othecamnbusiness projects;

1 the ability of the Organization of Reb | eum Exporti ng Caq aomplyandermintdinfip@@uELicnd )

levels and pricing and the level of production in #@@REC countries;

merger and divestiture activity among oil and gas producers;

weather conditions, including natural disasters;

the availability of, and access to, suitable locations from which our customers can explore and produce hydrocarbc

and available pipeline and other oil and gas transportation capacity;

1 tax laws, regulations and policies speculation regarding futurewa or regulationsincluding the policies and
regulations of various governments regarding exploration and development of their oil and natural gas reserves

1 activities by norgovernmental organizations to restrict the exploration, development and poodofctil and natural
gas so as to reduce the potential harm to the environment from such activities, including emission of carbon dioxide
greenhouse gamnd

1 the worldwide political and military environment, including uncertainty or instability reguftiom an escalation or

additional outbreak of armed hostilities or other crises in the Middle East, Russia or other geographic areas or furtt

acts of terrorism in the regions in which we operate, or elsewhere.

=A =4 =4 -8 -8 -9
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There is no guarantee that prices, ancttiteesponding demand for our services and dayrates we can charge, will improve,
remain at the current levels or not decline in the future. Significant declines in global oil and natural gas prictarzed sersods
of low prices typically cause a rection in the exploration, development and production activities of most of our customers and
their spending on our services. Oi | and natur al g assichc om
activities and are therefore séive to changes in energy prices and cuts in their spending curtail drilling programs, reducing the
demand for our services, the rates we can charge and the utilization of our rigs, which can have a material adversaieffect on
business, financial conibn, results of operations and cash flows.

The industry has been historically competitive, cyclical and subject to price competition. If we are unable to compessfligce
with our competitors, we may be materially adversely impacted.

Historically, the shallow water drilling industry has been cyclical with periods of high demand, limited supply and high
dayrates alternating with periods of low demand, excess supply and low dayrates. Periods of low demand and excess su
intensify conpetition in the industry and may result in some drilling rigs being stacked or earning substantially lower dayrates fc
long periods of time. We have idled and stacked rigs in response to market conditions and may idle and stack addititmal rigs
future, and such rigs may not return to service in the near term or at all. In addition, we have in the past and mayénethtefut
into lower dayrate drilling contracts in response to market conditions which reduces the revenues we earn fromasiish Thetr
offshore drilling industry is also influenced by volatile oil and natural gas prices that drive activity in the oil arad gasur
exploration and production industry, as discussed above. Prolonged periods of low utilization and dayrateasaxignded
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periods when rigs are stacked, could reduce demand for our services and materially adversely affect our revenuesyiiigmzjal c
results of operations or cash flows.

The shallowwater drilling industry in which we operate is extremaiynpetitive with numerous industry participants, and
contracts have traditionally been awarded on a competitive bid basis. Price competition is frequently a major factoirimgete
a contract award. Customers may also consider unit availabilitipaation, operational and safety performance records and age,
condition and suitability of equipment. In addition, if our competitors enter into joint venture agreements with sontergésiur
customers, this could make it more difficult for us to abtiditional contracts from these customers. Competition for offshore
rigs is typically global, as drilling rigs are mobile and may be moved from areas of low utilization and dayrates togaeadesrof
activity and corresponding higher dayrates. Castisnected with relocating drilling rigs for these purposes are sometimes
substantial and are generally borne by the contractor. Thesapety of marketed jaelp rigs, which can be increased by new
rigs under construction or reactivation of stacked, ilggeases competition and can lead to lower dayrates. The inability to compete
successfully with our competitors could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, results of operations and cash flows.

Public health issues, including epidemics andmdemics such as COVIR9 have had and may continue to have significant
adverse consequences including significantly reduced demand for our services, which may result in a material adverse impac
on our financial condition, results of operations and caslovs.

The existence of the-1®P®yelwasorcomdvirrmesd (mMCe@wIrDy 2020
causing disruptions to businesses and economic activity globally. The collapse in the demand for oil caused by thenteghreced
global health and economic crisis, coupled with oil oversupply, had a material adverse impact on the demand for our sesdces. Tt
effects have included adverse effects on revenues and net income; disruptions to our operations, including restriens on ¢
change travel; customer shutdowns of oil and gas exploration, development and production; supply chain and vendor acti
disruptions; employee impacts from illness, school closures and other community response measures, which may cause prolo|
absencs of personnel who may be difficult or impossible to replace; and temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of o
customers and suppliers. Several of our contnaetg early terminated, suspended, shortened or renegotiated which adversely
impacted our business.

Additionally, these market and industry conditions placed significant pressure on the liquidity and solvency of man
offshore drilling contractors, leading them to pursue restructuring transactions or reorganizations under bdakmuptCiiese
transactions could have a material impact on the capital structure and competitive dynamics among offshore drilling compan
which could negatively impact our ability to compete in the industry.

In 2021, the impact athe globalrollout of goprovedCOVID-19 vaccines resulted in theeduction oftravelrestrictions
and the gradual reopening@fonomies.This helped drive an increase in demand for oil and natural gaspéindsm for a return
to prepandemic normiay.

The extent to whicbur operating and financial results are affected by emerging or resurgent epidemic or pandemic diseas
or viruses and continue to be affected by COMI®is dependent on various factors and consequences beyond our control, such a
the duration and scopd the health crisis and the related responses by businesses and governments, particularly within tt
geographic locations where we operate, as well as the speed and effectiveness of these responses, including the affdctivene:
the timeliness of vaccitians and treatments. Public health issues and the volatile global economic conditions stemming from suc
widespread health crisis, has aggravated and could continue to aggravate certain other risk factors affecting our business.

Our future business perfonance depends on our ability to renew contracts with existing customers and secure new contracts
for our fleet of rigs.

Our ability to secure contract renewals where we are the incumbent rig provider, and to win tenders for new contracts
affected by amumber of factors both within and outside of our control. Negotiations and tenders can be impacted by various factc
including market conditions, rig specifications, safety record requirements, competition and governmental approvaldyequired
customers While our preference is generally to renew contracts with our existing customers, if the customer decides not to ren
its contract, we then seek to secure a new customer contract for that rig. While we actively market our rigs priopity tife ex
their existing contracts, there can be no assurance that we will be able to renew or extend existing contracts or secure
arrangements before the original contract lapsescdrR&racting a rig may involve participation in either a direct renegotiatittn w
thecustomer or in a new tender process.

If we are unable to renew contracts or we are not selected for new contracts, or if the contracts we enter into are dela
workflow may be interrupted and our business, financial condition and resultsrafiope may be materially adversely affected.
Based on & customer contracts in place as of December 311,2BPare scheduled to expire before December 312 20Peeare
scheduled to expire during 2B2with a furtherl1 contracts scheduled to expattimes subsequent to December 31 32@Ailure
to renew a contractould lead to a rig being stacked and/or having to enter into a new contract at lower dayrates, shorter terms
in other geographical areas and could materially adversely affecevemuesfinancial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
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If customers reduce activity levels, terminate, suspend or seek to renegotiate contracts, or if market conditions di¢tate tha
enter into contracts with unfavorable terms arcreased risks, we may be materially adversely impacted.

Customers may seek to renegotiate, suspend or terminate their contracts, and during periods of unfavorable mal
conditions, including low oil and natural gas prices and-sugply of rigs, we arsubject to an increased risk of our customers
taking such actions. Certain of our customers may have the right to suspend or teoninattsvithout limitations. Additionally,
certain contracts may contain clauses allowing for termination due tatishosvor operational problems above the contractual limits,
safetyrelated issues, if the drilling rig is not delivered to the customer within the specified time period or in other specifie
circumstances, which may include events beyond our control. 8ftimese contracts may require us to pay penalties, which could
be material. Certain of our contracts provide for cancellation at the option of the customer upon payment of a penalticto us
may not fully compensate us for the loss of the contrierly termination of a contract may result in a drilling rig being idle for
an extended period of time. Customers without favorable termination language may seek to renegotiate existing cdmndiagts, inc
for some of the termination reasons descridemva. During periods of unfavorable market conditions, a customer may no longer
need a rig that is under contract or may be able to obtain a comparable rig at a lower dayrate. As a result, cust@akromay s
renegotiate the terms of their existing trants to shorten the length of the contract or lower the dayrate or customers may seek t«
suspend, terminate or otherwise avoid their obligations under those contracts.

Currently, our drilling contracts are dayrate contracts, where we charge a fixgeéraay regardless of the number of
days needed to drill the well. While we plan to continue to perform services on a dayrate basis, market conditiongertbgtdicta
we enter into contracts that provide for payment based on a footage basis, whezgoaid arfixed amount for each foot drilled
regardless of the time required or the problems encountered in drilling the well, or enter into turnkey contracts wizenezytoe
drill a well to a specific depth for a fixed price and bear some of the g@lbment costs. These types of contracts would expose
us to greater risk than dayrate contracts, as we would be subject to downhole geologic conditions in the well that@gsbet alw
accurately determined and subject us to greater risks associatedjwjtinent and downhole tool failures. Exposure to these risks
may result in significant cost increases or may result in a decision to abandon a well project and forfeit the asseniated rev

Any successful efforts by our customers to reduce acteitgls, terminate, suspend, or renegotiate contract terms and any
changes in our contracts that subject us to unfavorable terms and increased risks could have a material adverse ieffectasour
financial conditions, results of operations and déshs.

Our future contracted revenue, or backlog, may not ultimately be realized.

The contract backlog relating to our rigs was approximately $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2021. The amount of contre
backlog does not necessarily indicate future eamiagd the contract backlog may be adjusted up or down depending on various
factors both within and outside of our control.

The contract drilling dayrate used in the calculation of contract backlog may be higher than the actual dayrate we ultimat
recave. Actual dayrates earned may be lower than the standard operating dayrate, and may consist of alternative dayates su
a waitingon-weather rate, repair rate, standby rate, force majeure rate or moving rate. The contract drilling dayratelbraay also
higher than the actual dayrate earned because of factors resulting in lost dayrate revenue, including scheduled oduigschedule
downtime or suspension of operations. Additionally, renegotiation of dayrates or contracts that provide for perstofieratdjof
contract dayrates, including those linked to oil or natural gas prices, may cause a difference in actual revenues asocompare
contract backlog.

The days of backlog revenue used in the calculation of contract backlog may also be highertbalothe actual number
of days the rig earns a dayrate. The number of days can be extended due to contract extensions or the exercise gy tife custor
extension options or the award of new contracts. Contract provisions that allow the custonerddahexterm of the contract to
finish drilling a well in progress can also result in an increase, as this additional time is not included in the caitthatimontract
backlog. Early cancellation of existing contracts (for which we may not besdrtitcompensation or notice), failure by customers
to complete existing contracts, unscheduled downtime, or the unavailability of rigs and equipment to fulfill a contrastiiay r
a lower than expected number of contract days.

Any changes in the dagte and number of days used to calculate contract backlog could result in materially lower revenue
than indicated by the contract backlog.

The duration of our contracts may subject us to certain additional risks.

Our contracts with our customers contaggatiated terms, including dayrates, which are determined at thevtiere
contracts are negotiated. In periods of rising demand for shallow water rigs, customers with reasonably definiteatyitimg pr
would typically prefer longerm contracts in ot to maintain dayrates at a consistent level. Conversely, in periods of decreasing
demand for shallow water rigs, customers generally would prefertavelell or other shorterm contracts that would allow the
customer to benefit from the decreasingrdégs. Additionally, oil and natural gas companies tend to reduce activity levels quickly
in response to declining oil and natural gas prices and may be unwilling to commit-tedongontracts during such periods.

Shortterm contracts provide additidnexposure to changing dayrates, as subsequent contracts will likely be negotiated at
new prevailing dayrates and do not provide kbagm revenue stability. Lontgrm contracts limit our ability to benefit from rising
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dayrates while limiting our risk tfalling dayrates but provide for a longtrm source of revenues. However, revenues from long
term contracts are not guaranteed. We may not be able to renetetongontracts that preserve dayrates and utilization, or our
customers may seek to rendgte lower dayrates under their existing lelegm contracts with us. Unfavorable changes in dayrates
or failure to obtain new contracts cenew existing contracts could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, financial
condition, results of opations and cash flows.

Generally, shorterm contracts can be less profitable as fixed costs related to contract preparation and rig movemer
benefit the Company over a shorter contract period, while-temg contracts allow for a longer period over whibese costs
provide benefit. Contract preparation expenses vary based on the scope and length of contract preparation requirely Additio
if our rigs incur idle time between contracts, we typically do not remove personnel from those rigs beaatilsz wee crew to
prepare the rig for its next contract. Moreover, as our rigs are mobilized from one geographic location to another atie labo
other operating and maintenance costs can vary significantly.

The oil and natural gas market can agéf@ct our costs and the timing and amount of payments earned from contracted
dayrates may differ from actual changes in costs. Our costs tend to increase as the business environment for oupsargges im
and demand for oilfield equipment and skillathor increases. During times of reduced activity, reductions in costs may not be
immediate as portions of the crew may be required to prepare our rigs for stacking, after which time the crew memigmedire ass
to active rigs or dismissed. In genetabor costs increase primarily due to higher compensation levels, inflation and these costs
can also be affected by exchange rate fluctuations. Equipment maintenance expenses fluctuate depending upon theitype of ac
the rig is performing and the agad condition of the equipment.

Any increases in costs associated with our contracts could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, res
of operations and cash flows.

We rely on a relatively small number of customers for a substdmii@tion of our current and future revenues.

Our customer base includes NOCs and IOCs, together with a small number of independent oil and gas companies.
drilling industry is subject to the usual risks associated with having a limited number ahetstoOur top three customers
accounted fo94% of contract backlog and 72% of revenues for the year ended December 31,Q02business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected if any afish@sers were to reduce their
contractual commitments to us or suspend or withdraw their approval for us to provide services for them.

Our growth is also closely connected to the growth in activity of our customers and our results may be impacted if certe
key customers were to significantly reduce their growth strategy. Furthermore, if any of our major customers failechsatempe
us for our services, terminated contracts, failed to renew existing contracts or refuse to enter into new contragterwita u
customer were unable to perform due to liquidity or solvency issues, and similar contracts with new customers werematdorthc
our revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows would be materially adversely affected.

Our purchase of existing jackip rigs carries risks associated with the condition and quality of those rigs.

We have acquired, and may acquire in the future, existingypakgs as a way of renewing and expanding our fleet.
Unlike newbuild rigs, existig rigs typically do not carry warranties with respect to their condition. While we generally inspect any
existing rig prior to purchase, such an inspection would normally not provide us with as much knowledge of its conflitien as i
rig had been builfor us and operated by us during its life. Repairs and maintenance costs for existing rigs are difficult to predi
and may be more substantial than for rigs that we have operated since they were built. In addition, we may not beaable to ob
indemnification and warranties from the sellers for any rigs that we acquire. These costs could adversely affect our results
operations and cash flows.

Newbuild rig projects and reactivation of stacked rigs, as well as upgrade, refurbishment and repair prajectubject to
various risks, which could cause delays or cost overruns.

We have in the past and could in the future increase the size of our fleet through the purchase, lease or constructiol
newbuild rigs. In addition, we may choose to reactivatesnighich may be stacked in the future.

We incur upgrade, refurbishment and repair expenditures for our fleet from time to time, including when upgrades a
required by industry standards and/or by law. Such expenditures are also necessary in regopestsdy customers, inspections,
regulatory or certifying authorities or when a rig is damaged. We also regularly make certain upgrades or modifications to c
drilling rigs to meet customer or contract specific requirements.

The construction or outfitting of purchased newbuild rigs or reactivation of stacked rigs and upgrade, refurbishment ar
repair projects are subject to project management execution risks of delay and cost overruns inherent in any largenconstruc
project fran numerous factors, including:

1 project management and execution risk;
1 unexpectedly long delivery times for, unexpected costs or shortages of, key equipment, parts and materials;
1 unforeseen increases in the cost of equipment, labor and raw materials|aréytateel;
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unforeseen design and engineering problems;

shortages of skilled labor and other shipyard personnel necessary to perform the work;

labor disputes and work stoppages at the shipyard;

latent damages to or deterioration of hull, equipment archimary in excess of engineering estimates and assumptions;
unanticipated actual or purported change orders (scope creep);

HSE accidents/incidents or other safety hazards;

failure or delay of thireparty service providers;

disputes with the constructingipiiard or other suppliers;

|l ast minute changes to the customerods specifications;
failure or delay in obtaining acceptance of the rig by our customer;

financial or other difficulties at shipyards;

adverse weather conditions or any other force majeure events

inability or delay in obtaining flagtate, classification society, certificate of inspection, or other regulatory approvals or
permits and

mobilization between the shipyard and the contract operating site, including any restrictions on the mo\grssrirol.
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Failure to complete a newbuild, reactivation, upgrade, refurbishment or repair project on time may result in the dela
renegotiation or cancellation of an existing contract and could put at risk the planned arrangements to commence aperation:
schedule. Further, significant delays could have a negative impact on our reputation and customer relationships. Wdebalso co
exposed to contract termination or penalties for failure to complete the project and commence operations in a tinrelyrmanne
addition, our rigs undergoing upgrade, refurbishment or repair generally do not earn a dayrate during the period thefy are ou
service. Significant cost overruns or delays, loss of reputation, penalties, and failure to minimize lost daythtdblaoud a
material adverse effect on our revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

If we were to commit to acquire, construct or lease rigs or reactivate any of our stacked rigs prior to obtaining a custmtract,
we coud be exposed to a number of risks.

We have in the past, and may in the future, choose to acquire a newbuild or existing rig, lease a rig or reactivate a stac
rig speculatively, without first obtaining a customer contract. Absent a firm customer contract, we may not be able to sect
arrangements for these rigs in a timely manner on economically acceptable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain a custarher cont
could result in the impairment of certain Ioliged assets or expensing of costs which would typically be deferffadure to
contract such rigs on acceptable terms or in a timely manner could adversely affect our business, financial positiofi, results
operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to successfully obtain and integrate additional rigs on economically acceptabt tg at all, which may
adversely affect the Company and our future growth.

Part of our strategy to grow the business is dependent on our ability to successfully obtain and integrate additional ri
including acquired newbuild and existing rigs andilegsigs, to generate additional revenues. The consummation and timing of
obtaining additional rigs will depend upon, among other things, the availability of attractive targets in the marketpdduktyou
to negotiate acceptable agreements, our ghditobtain financing on acceptable terms and our ability to integrate any assets and
operations into our fleet. We may not be able to consummate any future acquisition or lease, which may limit our fakyre grow
and such agreements may not achieve émefits we seek.

Further, obtaining and integrating additional rigs could expose us to a number of risks, for which we may be unable
obtain sufficient indemnification and warranties to mitigate, including:

9 incorrect assumptions regarding the future ltesaf such rigs or expected cost reductions or other synergies expected to
be realized as a result of obtaining rigs;

91 incorrect assumptions about the cost to operate such rigs, including repairs and maintenance costs;

9 failing to integrate assets and oparas successfully and timely;

1 undetected defects, particularly when acquiring or leasing existing rigs for which condition and operating history may b
difficult to determine;

T diversion of management 6s attentsaodn from existing ope

1 unforeseen consequences or other external events beyond our control.

Leasing rigs may expose us to additional risks. Outfitting leased rigs may require significant operation readiness proje
to make the leased assets suitable for use, whictbjecsuto the same risks as newbuild rigs and reactivation of stacked rigs, as
discussed above. We may make significant investments in leased assets, which are owned by the lessor, and which would
benefit us during the term of the leases. As leasestean be significantly shorter than the life of the leased rigs, any costs would
have to be expensed over a shorter period and, as a result, could have a greater impact on our profitability. Additiowzglly,
be unable to renew such leases, exengigehase options or negotiate the purchase of leased rigs on terms acceptable to us, or
all. Lease agreements may also require us to maintain the leased rigs, exposing us to risks of increased repairs araE maintel
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costs, or to expend certain costseturn the rig to the owner at the termination of the lease. These factors could materially adversel
affect our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to keep pace with technological developments and make adeapitdbexpenditures in response to newer
and/or higher specification rigs or more fuel efficient/loemission rigs being deployed within the industry and therefore our
fleet may not satisfy the requirements of some customers.

The market for our serviceis characterized by technological developments which result in improvements in the
functionality and performance of rigs and equipment. Customers may require higher specification rigs, other classéthof rigs
different capabilities or the ability to epate in different environments, such as deep water. Customers may demand the services
newer rigs, and may in the future impose restrictions on the maximum age of contracted rigs. Additionally, in resporae to cl
change, more fuel efficient or leemission rigs may be introduced or may become standard in the industry or customers may
institute stricter requirements such as specifications for rig design, emissions output or chemical usage. Custonsdodemand
newer, higher specification rigs migdiso result in a bifurcation of the market, with newer rigs operating at higher overall utilization
rates and dayrates.

Our future success and profitability will depend, in part, upon our ability to keep pace with these and other technologic
developmats and customer requirements. As we have a number of older rigs, we may be required to increase capital expendi
to maintain and improve existing rigs and equipment, retire obsolete or outdated equipment earlier than previouslyl amtitgrate
purchase and construct newer, higher specification drilling rigs to meet the increasingly sophisticated needs of custoneers. To
extent that we are unable to negotiate agreements for customer reimbursement for the cost of increasing the speditication of
drilling rigs, we could be incurring higher capital expenditures than planned. If, in response to technological devetwpments
changes in standards in the industry, we are not successful in acquiring new equipment or upgrading existing equipnent in a t
and costeffective manner, we could lose business and profits. In addition, current competitors or new market entrants may deve
new technologies, services or standards that could render some of our services or equipment obsolete, which @diyld mater
adversely affect our revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Climate change, the regulation of greenhouse gases and increasing developmesti@fable energy alternativeould have a
negative impact on our industry, birgeess and/or reputation.

The scientific community has concluded that increasin
producing climate changes that have significant physical effects, such as increased frequency and sewariy; 6bads and
other climatic events. Such events could have a materially adverse effect on our operations, especially given thhaapuegds
to curtail operations or suffer damage during significant weather events.

Current and future regulatiomslating to greenhouse gases and climate change also may result in increased complianc
costs or additional operating restrictions on our business. The negative impacts of greenhouse gases and climate change
resulted in adverse publicity for the aihd natural gas industry and could cause damage to our reputation. In addition, because ot
business depends on the level of activity in the offsluilr@nd naturalgas industry, existing or future regulations or other
agreements related to greenhouse gases and climate change, including carbon taxes or greenhouse gas fees or inseniiwes to c(
energy or use renewable energy alternatives, could decrease the denmrahdnaturalgas ordecrease exploration activity.

Any of the factors discussed above could materially adversely affect our business, reputation, financial condition, resu
of operations and cash flows.

Compared to companies with greatesources, we may be at a competitive disadvantage.

Certain of our competitors in the shallow water drilling industry may have more diverse fleets and greater financial ar
other resources and assets than we do. Similarly, some of these competitorssigayfibantly better capitalized than we are,
which may make them more able to keep pace with technological developments and make more substantial improvements in
functions and performance of rigs and equipment than we can. In addition, such aymp®iif be a preferable alternative for
customers concerned about counterparty credit r i eskRBurtheri nc]
competitors with more diversified fleets or who have successfully acquingggoaded their existing rigs or equipment in a more
timely and coseffective manner than us, may be better positioned to withstand unfavorable market conditions. Additionally, w
may be at a competitive disadvantage to those competitors that arecapiti@ized to withstand the effects of a commodity price
down-cycle. As a result, our competitors may have competitive advantages that may adversely affect our ability to compete w
them in our efforts to contract our rigs on favorable terms, if anall correspondingly have a material adverse impact on our
revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

There may be limits to our ability to mobilize drilling rigs between geographic areas, and the duration, risks and asscogtted
of such mobilizations may be material to our business.

The offshore drilling market is generally a global market as drilling rigs may be moved from one area to another. Howeve
the ability to mobilize drilling rigs can be impacted by several fadtarisiding, but not limited to, governmental regulation and
customs practices, the significant costs and risk of damage related to moving a drilling rig, availability of suitabssetsmae
move the rigs, weather conditions, political instability, loirirest, military actions and the technical capability of the drilling rigs
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to relocate and operate in various environments. Additionally, while aujaclg is being mobilized from one geographic market

to another, we may not be paid for the time that jackup rig is out of service or be reimbursed for costs attributable to such
relocation. Further, despite the ability to move rigs, not all of our rigs are designed to work in all regions, in aépthteor

over all types of seafloor conditiong/e may speculatively relocate a rig to another geographic market without a customer contract
which could result in costs that are not reimbursable by future customers, which could have a material adverse effaetmumems,ir
financial condition, redts of operations and cash flows.

The fair market value of our longived assets, including our drilling rigs and any rigs we acquire in the future, may decrease,
which could result in impairments or cause us to incur a loss on the sale of such assets.

We evaluate our property and equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amc
of an asset may not be recoverable. We considegdheral economic and business environment, industry specific indicators,
Company specifi€actors and conditions related to specific assets or asset groups to determine when we need to test our asset
impairment An impairment loss on property and equipment exists when the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expecte
result from he use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Our largest value assets are our f

The fair market value of any rigs that we own may increase or decrease depending on a number of industry and ma
factors, includng:

1 general economic and market conditions affecting the offshore drilling industry, including the price of oil and natural ga
and competition from other offshore drilling companies;

prevailing level of contract dayrates and industry rig utilization rates

types, sizes and ages of drilling rigs available in the market, including specifications and condition;

supply and demand for drilling rigs;

costs of newly built rigs;

liquidity of the market for drilling rigs;

governmental or other regulations and

techrological advances.

E R

Such factors could cause us to record an impairment loss on a rig, which could materially adversely affect our financ
condition and results of operations. If we sell a drilling rig at a time when prices for drilling rigs havesiailea, sale may result
in a realized loss, and lower than expected proceeds, which could materially adversely affect our financial condisoof result
operations and cash flows.

For adescriptionofnebnash i mpairment | osséae%Pleyvys ouasl lympaicomerd,
Consolidated Financi al Statements included in fAltem 8. F

Supplier capacity constraints or shortages in parts or equipment, supplier production disruptions, suppéétygand sourcing
issues or price increases could increase our operating costs, decrease our revenues and adversely impact our operations.

Our reliance on thirgbarty suppliers, manufacturers and service providers to secure equipment used in our drilling
operations exposes us to volatility in the quality, price and availability of such items. Certain specialized partparshegye
use in our operations may be available only from a single or small number of suppliers. A disruption in the detiresastH
third-party suppliers, capacity constraints, production disruptions, price increases, defects ecquoaibityissues, recalls or other
decreased availability or servicing of parts and equipment could adversely affect our ability to meetaitmeots to customers,
resulting in uncompensated downtime, reduced dayrates or the cancellation or termination of contracts and could adaetrsely im|
our operations and increase our costs. Any of these impacts could have a material adverse impagtiesy results of operations
and cash flows.

Our labor costs and the operating restrictions that apply to us could increase as a result of collective bargaining negstiati
and changes in labor laws and regulations.

Some of our employees in Egypt and Nigeria are represented by unions and may, from time to time, work under collecti
bargaining agreements. Employees in other countries have in the past and may in the future be represented by labor union:
addition,some of our contracted labor works under collective bargaining agreements. As part of the legal obligations in some
these collective bargaining agreements, we are required to contribute certain amounts to retirement funds and are mstricted
ability to dismiss employees. In addition, where our employees are represented by unions, we may be required to negotiate wi
with union representatives. Efforts may be made from time to time to unionize additional portions of our workforce tidwesgotia
with unions relating to collective bargaining agreements and other labor related matters could result in higher petsoottedrcos
increased costs or increased operating restrictions, or even labor stoppages, strikes or slowdowns.

We may be requiredbtmake significant capital expenditures to comply with laws and the applicable regulations and
standards of labor laws and regulations in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Such laws and regulationgenay cha
without notice, and the cost obmpliance could be higher than anticipated.
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Labor costs changes due to unions and collective bargaining agreements and the costs of complying with labor laws |
regulations could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operatibeash flows.

Our business involves numerous operating hazards; our insurance and contractual indemnity rights may not be adequate to
cover any losses resulting from accidents and other events and our insurance may become more expensive or may becorn
unavailable in the future.

Our operations are subject to the usual hazards inherent in the drilling, completion and operation of oil and natural ¢
wells. These hazards include, but are not limited to blowouts, punch through, loss of control of the evellakdiniling conditions,
mechanical or technological failures, seabed cratering, fires and pollution and failure of our employees to complynaithl 8ter
guidelines. Operations may be suspended because of machinery breakdowns, abnormal opeddims,céailure of
subcontractors to perform and personnel shortages.

In addition, our operations are subject to perils peculiar to marine operations including capsizing, grounding, collisiol
sinking and loss or damage from severe weather, includingoonas Severe weather could have a material adverse effect on our
operations, damaging our rigs from high winds, turbulent seas, or unstable sea bottom conditions.

Damage to the environment could result from our operations, particularly through blowibsts|lage or extensive
uncontrolled fires.

The occurrence of any of these events may result in the suspension of operations, loss of dayrate revenues, lower utilize
rates, severe damage or destruction of property and equipment, injury or deathoionpl, environmental damage, increased
insurance costs, fines or penalties, personal injury and other claims by personnel, and claims or investigations btothe oper:
regulatory bodies and others affected by such events. We may also be subjestdo fienalties (for which indemnification may
not be available) resulting from property, environmental, natural resource and other damage claims by governments, tlvironme
organizations, oil and natural gas companies and other businesses operatiog Gffgl in coastal areas, including claims by
individuals living in or around coastal areas. Damage or destruction of our property and equipment could potentiaytecause u
curtail operations for significant periods of time while repairs are complétag.of which could have a material adverse impact
on our revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

As is customary in the offshore drilling industry, we have undertaken to mitigate the risks of our operations throug
insuranceand contractual indemnities from our customers. However, insurance policies have limits and exclusions and may r
provide full coverage for, and, most of our customer contracts do not fully indemnify us from, all losses or liabilltiag fesnn
ouroperations. Further, we may experience increased costs for available insurance coverage, which may impose higher deduct
and limit maximum aggregated recoveries, including for hurricane, monsoon, or cyelateel damage or loss. Because insurers
in general also struggle with eliminating risks of events that lead to correlated losses through insurance pooling,tauah as na
hazards, many insurers refrain from insuring these risks. The severity of correlated risks is also difficult to pdidictolbayh
priced and unfavorable insurance premiums and/or deductibles with those insurers who do offer coverage for such lagges. Insu
costs may increase in the event of ongoing patterns of adverse changes in weather or climate. MoreoverptMeenade to
maintain adequate insurance or obtain insurance coverage for certain risks in the future at rates we consider redshahle or a
customers may not be willing or able to indemnify us against all these risks or we may not be abte¢acenfractual indemnities
due to legal or judicial factors. Although we believe that our insurance covers many risks common to our industry, heveéo not
insurance coverage or indemnification for all risks and we may not be adequately coverddifolosses. If a significant accident
or other event occurs, including but not limited to severe weather, terrorist acts, war, civil disturbances, pollutioononemtal
damage, that results in a loss which is not fully covered by insurance ovanadie indemnity from a customer, it could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our international operations in the shallow water drilling sector involve additional risks, which could adversely affiect
business.

We operate in various regions throughout the world and as a result we may be exposed to political and other uncertaint
including risks of:

9 terrorist acts, armed hostilities, geopolitical events, military actions, war and civil distusbardeding in the Middle
East;

acts of piracy affecting oceajoing rigs, particularly in areas that have historically been impacted by piracy, such as West
Africa and Southast Asia;

significant governmental influence over many aspects of local ecoapmie

repudiation, nullification, modification or renegotiation of contracts;

limitations on insurance coverage, such as war risk coverage, in certain areas;

political unrest or revolutions;

monetary policy and foreign currency fluctuations and devaluations;

the inability to repatriate income or capital;

complications associated with repairing and replacing equipment in remote locations;

import-export quotas, wage and price controls and imposition of trade barriers;
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regulatory or financial requirements to cdsnwith foreign bureaucratic actions;

changing taxation policies, including confiscatory taxation;

other forms of government regulation and economic conditions that are beyond our control;
corruption;

natural disasters;

public health threat$ncluding pandemic events and

claims by employees, third parties or customers.

=A =4 =4 - -8 -89

In addition, international drilling operations are subject to various laws and regulations of the countries in whichteye opera
including laws and regulations relating to:

theequipping and operation of rigs;

repatriation of foreign earnings;

oil and natural gas exploration and development;

taxation of offshore earnings and the earnings of expatriate personnel and

use and compensation of local employees and suppliers by faaigmactors.

Some governments favor or effectively require (i) the awarding of drilling contracts to local contractors or to rig owner:
that are majorityowned by their own citizens, (ii) the use of a local agent or (iii) foreign contractors to empian€idf, or
purchase supplies from, a particular jurisdiction.

=A =4 -4 -4 -9

Furthermore, our business operations require authorizations from various national and local government agenci
Obtaining these authorizations can be a complex-tiomsuming process, and wannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain
or renew the authorizations required to operate our business in a timely manner or at all. This could result in thensuspensi
termination of operations or the imposition of material fines, penaltiether liabilities.

These factors may adversely affect our ability to compete in those regions. We are unable to predict future governmer
regulations which could adversely affect the international drilling industry. The actions of governments msglyadffect our
ability to compete effectively. As such, we may be unable to effectively comply with applicable laws and regulatiomsginclud
those relating to sanctions and import/export restrictions, which may result in a material adverse effebusimess, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Any failure to comply with the complex laws and regulations governing international trade, including import, export; anti
corruption, economic sanctions and embargoes coattVersely affect our operations.

The shipment of equipment and materials required for shallow water drilling operations across international borde
subjects us to extensive import and export laws and regulations governing our assets, equipment alsd in@teliiag those
enacted by the U.S. and/or countries in which we operate. Moreover, many countries control the export/impestpamti ot
certain goods, services and technology and may impose related export/import recordkeeping and repomingnsoblig
Governments also may impose economic sanctions and/or embargoes against certain countries, persons and other egtities the
restrict or prohibit transactions involving such countries, persons and entities.

These various jurisdictional laws anehulations regarding export/import controls and economic sanctions are complex,
constantly changing, may be unclear in some cases and may be subject to changing interpretations. They may be enadted, ame
enforced or interpreted in a manner that conlterially impact our operations. Materials shipments and rig import/export may be
delayed and denied for a variety of reasons, some of which are outside our control, and include our failure to comgdiingith ex
legal and regulatory regimes. Delayslenials could cause unscheduled operational downtime or termination of customer contracts
Any failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory international trade obligations could also result in crimiciall and
penalties and sanctions, such fanes, imprisonment, debarment from government contracts, seizure of shipments and loss
import/export privileges, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results ofsogedation
cash flows.

We operate drillingigs in a number of countries, including in some developing economies, which can involve inherent
risks associated with fraud, bribery and corruption and where strict compliance witlormafition laws may conflict with local
customs and practices. Asesult, we may be subject to risks under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act
2010 and similar laws in other jurisdictions that generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making,ooffering
authorizing improper pawgents to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We are required to d
business in accordance with applicable-antruption laws as well as sanctions and embargo laws and regulations (including U.S.
Department of the TesuryOffice of Foreign Assets Control requirements) and we have adopted policies and procedures, includin
a code of business conduct and ethics, which are designed to promote legal and regulatory compliance with such laatiosrsd regul
However, eithedue to our acts or omissions or due to the acts or omissions of others, including our employees, agents, joint vent
partners, local sponsors or others, we may be determined to be in violation of such applicable laws and regulatiomdiciesuch p
ard procedures. Any such violation could result in substantial fines, sanctions, deferred settlement agreements, ciiharad/or
penalties and curtailment of operations in certain jurisdictions and the seizure of our rigs and other assets asdaméghid},a
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Our customers in relevant jurisdictions could seek to impose penalties or take other actions adverse to our interests.
addition, actual oalleged violations could damage our reputation and ability to do business and could cause investors to view
negatively and adversely affect the market for our common shares. Furthermore, detecting, investigating and resoleing actue
alleged violatbns are expensive and can consume significant time and attention of senior management regardless of the meri
any allegation. We may also be subject to competitive disadvantages to the extent that our competitors are able singssire bu
licenses oother preferential treatment by making payments to government officials and others in positions of influence or usir
other methods that U.S. and other laws and regulations and our own policies prohibit us from using.

We are subject to complex laws anelyulations, including environmental laws and regulations that can adversely affect the cost,
manner or feasibility of doing business.

Our operations are subject to numerous stringent HSE laws and regulations in the form of international conventions &
treaties, national, state and local laws and regulations in force in the jurisdictions in which our drilling rigs operatgmtared,
which can, directly or indirectly, significantly affect the ownership and operation of the rigs. These requireohedés but are
not limited to, MARPOL, CLC, BUNKER and various international, national and local laws and regulations that impose complianc
obligations and liability related to the use, storage, treatment, disposal and release of petroleum prodtass pmdpehlorinated
biphenyls and other hazardous substances that may be present at, or released or emitted from, our operations. Hoethermor
IMO, at the international level, or national or regional legislatures in the jurisdictions in which ve¢epjirecluding the European
Union (AEUO) , may pass or promulgate new environment al
standards, where applicable, may require installation of costly equipment or operational changes aiedntiagy fsale value or
useful life of our rigs. We are required to obtain HSE permits from governmental authorities for our operations, antiave may
difficulty in obtaining or maintaining such permits.

We may also incur additional costs in orderctomply with other existing and future laws or regulatory obligations,
including, but not limited to, costs relating to air emissions, including greenhouse gases, management of ballast waters,
maintenance and inspection, management of solid and hazamtterials and waste, and development and implementation of
emergency procedures for, and liability and compensation schemes related to, accidents, pollution and other catastsophic even

Laws and regulations protecting the environment have generaliyrtgemore stringent over time. In the event we were
to incur additional costs to comply with existing or future laws or regulatory obligations, these costs could have advaesial
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operationsastdflows. In addition, existing or future laws could increase
costs for our customers, our vendors or our service providers, which could result in lower demand for our servicesrébegr day
or increasing costs.

A failure to comply with applicabliews and regulations may result in administrative and civil penalties, criminal sanctions
or the suspension or termination of operations. Environmental laws often impose strict liability, which could subjetiility to
without regard to negligence fawult. For example, in certain jurisdictions, owners, operators and batdimrétrers may be jointly
and severally strictly liable for the discharge of oil in territorial waters, including the 200 nautical mile exclusivaiecore.

In addition, lavs and regulations may impose liability on generators of hazardous substances, and as a result we could face liab
for cleanup costs at thisplarty disposal locations. We are required to satisfy insurance and financial responsibility requirement
for potential oil (including marine fuel) spills and other pollution incidents and the insurance may not be sufficient tt sosler a
risks. Environmental claims against us could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condifauf, res
operations and cash flows.

Although some of our rigs are separately owned by subsidiaries, under certain circumstances a parent company and a
the rigowning affiliates in a company under common control could be held liable for damagessawlethtoy one of the affiliates,
including liabilities for oil spills under environmental laws. Therefore, it is possible that we could be subject tp ligbiti a
judgment against us or any one of our subsidiaries.

Our operations could cause the dexital release of oil or hazardous substances. Any releases may be large in quantity
above the permitted limits or occur in protected or sensitive areas where public interest groups or governmental hatteorities
special interests. Any releases ofmihazardous substances could result in substantial fines and other costs and liabilities, such
costs to upgrade rigs, clean up the releases and comply with more stringent requirements in our discharge permits\atiaiahs for
resource, personal imy or other damages, and material adverse publicity. Although our contracts generally provide for
indemnification from our customers for some of these costs, the inability or other failure of our customers to fulfill any
indemnification obligations thelyave, or the unenforceability of our contractual protections could have a material adverse effect ot
our financial condition, results of operation and cash flows. Moreover, these releases may result in customers or gbvernme
authorities suspending arminating our operations in the affected area.

If a major incident were to occur in our industry, such as a catastrophic oil spill or other accident subject to internation
media attention, this could lead to an industiie regulatory response which yn@sult in increased operating costs. Any changes
to existing laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate prompted by such a future event could increase our operadimd) costs
future risk of liability. In addition, we may be required to post additicurety bonds to secure performance, tax, customs and
other obligations relating to our rigs in jurisdictions where bonding requirements are already in effect and in otleiojusisdi
where we may operate in the future. These requirements woulddadreacost of operating in these countries.
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Any of the above could materially adversely affect our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations al
cash flows.

If we or our customers are unable to acquire or renew permits and appronaajsired for drilling operations, we may be forced
to suspend or cease our operations, which may adversely affect our profitability.

Oil and natural gas exploration and production operations require numerous permits and approvals for us and our custon
from governmental agencies in the areas in which we operate. In addition, many governmental agencies have increaged regul
oversight and permit requirements in recent years. Obtaining and maintaining compliance with all necessary permitsasad appro
may require substantial expenditures and time. If we or our customers are not able to obtain necessary permits anit approvals
timely manner, our operations will be adversely affected. In addition, future changes to, or an adverse change pnetiadiamte
of, existing permit and approval requirements may delay or curtail our operations, require us to make substantial expenditure
meet compliance requirements, or create a risk of expensive delays or loss of value if a project is unabtetadymanned, any
of which could have a material adverse impact on our revenues, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The imposition by customers and/or governments in certain countries related to minimum local content, or locinton
programs or quotas may subject us to additional requirements and risks.

I n Saudi Ar abi a-KingGoanurotal Value Addhpragiame sets goals for suppliers to meet, among other
things, specified national content percentage targets. In thg U implementation of the 4@ountry Value program in Abu
Dhabi is also expected to increase local content requirements for all companies contracting with ADNOC. Compliance,with the
or other similar programs, could increase the cost of doing bssimesich jurisdictions or could subject us to fines and penalties
or loss of contracts, which could materially adversely affect our revenues, financial condition, results of operatihsfenvasca

Several countries in which we operate require foregtities to comply with certain laws and regulations concerning
minimum local content requirements. As a result, we may be required to enter into legally binding arrangements wiitidscal en
in those jurisdictions in order to conduct operationsintfonesia, Malaysia, India, Nigeria, Angola and the UAE, we maintain a
series of contractual and legal agreements with local partners and/or agents, whom management believes are an ifitbgral part
successful operation of our business in these marketthe future, we may enter into similar arrangements in other countries,
either due to changing laws or regulations or due to operational requirements in additional markets. If we were sufyserthe
of these local participants and were unablértd suitable replacements, local regulators may curtail or terminate our operations.
In addition, the success of these local relationships depends on the reputation, creditworthiness, stability and ¢ah&raislo
partners and/or agents with whieve are working. If any of these local partners and/or agents were to become subject tc
bankruptcy/insolvency proceedings or other adverse regulatory or judicial proceedings, or lose the ability to carrgeratithreso
for any other reason, then obusiness, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely
impacted.

Our existing indebtedness imposes significant operating and/or financial restrictions on us that may prevent us from pursuing
certain business opportunities and restrict our ability to operate our business.

As of December 31, 2021, we had a total prinicgmaount of indebtedness of $900.0 million of 8.25% Senior Unsecured
Not es, due February 2025 (A8.25% Senior Unsecured NotesoO
November 2024. The level of our indebtedness and the terthe afjreements governing our existing indebtedness may contain
covenants that restrict our ability to take various actions, such as to:

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares;

pay dividends or make othdistributions on, or redeem or repurchase, any equity interests;

make other restricted payments;

make certain acquisitions or investments;

create or incur liens;

transfer or sell assets;

incur restrictions on the payments of dividends or other distribsifimm restricted subsidiaries;

enter into transactions with affiliates and

consummate a merger or consolidation or sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of ¢
assets or certain subsidiariesd assets.
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Our ability tocomply with these covenants may be affected by many factors, both within and beyond our control, includin
but not limited to our future performance, falling oil and natural gas prices, prolonged periods of low dayrates, the possit
termination or loss focontracts and reduced values of our rigs. We may not satisfy these or other covenants in our existir
indebtedness. Our failure to comply with the obligations under the agreements governing our existing indebtednesst @ould resu
an event of defaulinder such agreements, which could result in the acceleration of our indebtedness, in whole or in part. In additic
our existing debt agreements contain crdstult provisions whereby acceleration or payment default by us under one of our debt
agreemets, could allow creditors to declare us in default of our other existing debt or financing agreements. This could lead to.
acceleration and enforcement of such agreements by all or substantially all of our creditors.
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These debt covenants and restricsi@mould also limit our ability to plan for, or react to, market conditions, meet capital
needs or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans and adversely affect our ability to finance our operatimts, ente
acquisitions or to engage in otHmrsiness activities that would be in our interest.

We are dependent upon cash flows from our operating subsidiaries to meet our obligations, including repayment of our debt.
Our corporate structure and operations in multiple jurisdictions may impose latiadns on the transfer of funds. If we become
unable to pay our interest or debts as they become due or to obtain further credit, we may become subject to insolvenc
proceedings.

We conduct operations through, and most of our assets are owned by, atingmrbsidiaries. Our operating income
and cash flows are generated by these subsidiaries, and as a result, the cash generated from our subsidiaries issingrgeincipa
of funds necessary to meet our obligations, including our debt obligations. Canct pr ovi si ons or | aws,
financial condition, operating requirements and debt requirements may limit our ability to access cash from subsidediés need
pay expenses or to meet our current or future debt service obligagudicable tax laws may also subject such payments by
subsidiaries to further taxation.

The inability to transfer cash from our subsidiaries may mean that, even though we may have sufficient resources ol
consolidated basis to meet our obligations,may not be permitted to make the necessary transfers from certain legal entities anc
jurisdictions to meet our debt and other obligations. The terms of certain of the agreements governing our existingesglebted
also place restrictions on our cash bakmand require us to maintain reserves of cash which could inhibit our ability to meet our
obligations.

Although our current indebtedness limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject tc
number of qualifications andxceptions and do not apply uniformly to our subsidiaries, and under certain circumstances, deb
incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. To the extent that we incur additional indebedis&ss, th
described above associdteith our substantial leverage, including the possible inability to service our debt, would increase.

If our operating subsidiaries experience sufficiently adverse changes in their financial position or results of operations,
we otherwise become unalttepay our interest or debt principal payments as they becoméhiBmuldresut in areduction of
our long-term corporate credit ratingsrhese downgrades in our corporate credit ratings could raise the cost of issuing new debt
As a consequence,eamay not be able to issue additional debt in reasonable amounts and terms, or at all. Default on our existi
debt agreements and failure to obtain further credit could result in the commencement of insolvency proceedings. Any st
proceedings would hava material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally
this could limit our ability to pursue business opportunities and could have a significant negative impact on the nesrkéiopric
common shae

To service and refinance our indebtedness, fund our capital and liquidity needs or pay any dividends, we may not generate
sufficient cash or have access to sufficient funding.

To service and refinance our indebtedness, fund our capital and liquidity aepay dividends (if any), we will require a
significant amount of cash. Our ability to raise capital is, to a certain extent, subject to economic, financial, congmgstative,
regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. Iniaalddur business may not generate sufficient cash flows from
operations, and future borrowings or alternative financing may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at allpumtan am
sufficient to enable us to service and refinance, at or befaterity, our indebtedness, fund our capital and liquidity needs or pay
dividends (if any), which would have a material adverse effect on us.

We rely on proper functioning of our computer and data processing systems that must be regularly updated ordeplata
large-scale malfunction could result in material adverse disruptions to our business.

We rely primarily on globally and locally functioning information technology systems across our value chain, including
for management financial information anarious other processes and transactions. Our ability to effectively manage our busines:
depends on the security, reliability and capacity of these systems. An attack on, or other problems with, our systesidtdould
the disclosure of proprietary formation about our business or confidential information concerning our customers, vendors or
employees, which could result in significant damage to our business and reputation.

We have put in place security measures designed to protect against the opisatipn or corruption of our systems,
intentional or unintentional disclosure of confidential information, or disruption of our operations. However, thesg securit
measures may prove ineffective. Current employees have, and former employees magdeagetoaa significant amount of
information regarding our operations, which could be disclosed to our competitors or otherwise used to harm our buginess. /
breach of our security measures could result in unauthorized access to and misappropriatiorfahwation, corruption of data
or disruption of operations or transactions, any of which could materially adversely affect our reputation, business, financ
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We have and will continue to expend resources, and dedicate personnel, to upgrade and maintain our informat
technology systems to protect against threatened or actual security breaches. In addition, we could be required goiéixpand si
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amounts taespond to unanticipated information technology issues. Failure to appropriately implement measures that could prot
against all significant risks could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operatiask #iods

Developing and expanding data security and privacy requirements could increase our operating costs, and any failure by us or
our vendors to maintain the security of certain customer, employee and busimated information could result in damage to
our reputation, be costly to remediate and result in regulatory action.

We are required to manage and process information related to our employees, customers and vendors in the ordinary cc
of business, and our operations depend upon secure retentidre aedre transmission of information over public networks. This
information is subject to the continually evolving risk of intrusion, tampering, and theft. Although we maintain sygtesverib
or defend against these risks, these systems requirengngonitoring and updating as technologies change, and security could be
compromised, personal or confidential information could be misappropriated, or system disruptions could occur. A coaipromise
our security systems could adversely affect our réjomaand disrupt our operations and could also result in litigation or the
imposition of penalties.

We have a dedicated cybsecurity team and program that focuses on current and emerging data security and data privac
matters. We continue to assesd amrvest in the growing needs of our cyseicurity team through the allocation of skilled personnel,
ongoing training and support of the adoption and implementation of technologies coupled witkexyb@y risk management
frameworks.

We may, from timeo time, provide certain confidential, proprietary and personal information to third parties. While we
seek to obtain assurances and safeguards from these third parties to protect this information, there is a risk tligt tfielatcur
held by thirdparties could be breached, resulting in liability for us.

Heightened legislative and regulatory focus on data privacy and security in the EU, U.S. and elsewhere presents a grow
and fastevolving set of legal requirements. The increasing legal andategylburden presents material obligations and risks to
our business, including significantly expanded compliance burdens, costs and enforcement risks. In particular, where the
Gener al Data Protection Regul at ¢hesrare sighiGcBnP Rndadlditien plggiklatien similarttch e
GDPR is being considered or adopted in other jurisdictions relevant to our operations. In cases of personal infornmision secu
breaches, the costs of investigation, dealing with regulatorsakimjtsteps to mitigate or remediate its effects may also be high.
The majority of the personal information we process is that of our employees.

Any significant breach in our data securitya failure to protect private informatiaould have a matefiadverse impact
on our reputation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend heavily upon the security and reliability of our technology systems and those of our service and equipment vendors
and such systems are subject to eysecurity risks and threats.

We depend heavily on technologies, systems and networks that we manage, and others that are managedgrtyur third
service and equipment vendors, to conduct our business and oper&tydmessecurity risks and threats to such systems continue
to grow in sophisticated ways may be difficult to anticipate, detect, prevent or mitifatey of the security systems used by us
or our vendors for protecting against cylsercurity threats pree to be insufficient, our business and financial systems could be
compromised, confidential or proprietary information in our possession could be altered, lost or stolen, or our (omoer cust6 )
business operations or safety procedures could be digiugégraded or damaged. cybersecurity breach or failure could also
result in injury (financial or otherwise) to peoplcethe | o:
environment, reputational damage, breaches of lawsgaations, litigation and other legal liabilitiek1 addition, we may incur
significant costs to prevent, respond to or mitigate cyeeurity risks or events and to defend against any investigations, litigation
or other proceedings that may followch events.Such a failure or breach of our systems could materially adversely impact our
reputation, business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Technology disputes could negatively impact our operations or increase our costs.

Rigs use proprietary technology and equipment which car
patent rights. In the event that we or one of our suppliers esgoliers become involved in a dispute over infringement rights
relating to equipment owned or used by us, we may lose access to repair services or replacement parts, or we could de requir
cease use of some equipment or forced to modify our rigs. We could also be required to pay license fees or royaliigsofor the
equipment. Technology disputes involving us or our suppliers osgppliers could adversely impact our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Fluctuations in exchange rates and neconvertibility of currencies could result in le®s to us.

We may experience realized currency exchange losses when cash is received or expenses are paid in currencies othe
our U.S. dollar functional currency, when we do not hedge our exposure to such foreign currency or when the resultisfa hedge
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loss. We may also incur losses as a result of an inability to collect revenues due to a shortage of convertible cilatdecdyp ava
the country of operation, controls over currency exchange or controls over the repatriation of income or capital.

If any part of our business is moved outside of its current operative jurisdiction our overall tax exposure may change mdyich
affect our alleged compliance with applicable tax laws.

We and most of our subsidiaries are incorporated in the Cayman Isl&ddsalso have subsidiaries in various other
jurisdictions. Our consolidated effective tax rate is dependent on where profits are earned and taxed or losses aheagenerate
different countries have different tax systems and statutory tax rates. ebDifferisdictions also have different tax laws and
interpretations thereof. If we move some of our operations into a new jurisdiction or acquire companies in jurisdigtiars in
we do not already operate, our overall effective tax rate may be affdetether, we may also become exposed to changes in tax
policies and amendments to tax legislation, prospectively and/or retroactively, in such jurisdictions.

There can be no assurance that the relevant tax authorities in the jurisdictions in whichateewiiexgree with our tax
calculations and judgements. If a relevant tax authority disputes our assumptions, judgements or calculations, we may in
additional tax expense, interest and penalties. Any changes in our tax exposure may affect owoatieligatce with applicable
tax law, and any nenompliance could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and ca:
flows.

Risks Related to our Structure and Ownership of our Common Stock

We are exposed to regulatognd enforcement risks regarding taxedJ.S. tax authorities may treat us as a passive foreign
investment company, causing potential adverse U.S. federal tax consequences to our U.S. shareholders.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a foreign corporatiti be treated as a Passive Foreign Investment Company

(APFI CO0), if either (i) at Il east 75.0% of its gr ossiscomenc o
of any other corporation in which it owns, directly or inditegt, 25 % or more (by wvalue) of s
certain types of fApassived income or (ii) at | easortioma@. 0%
share of the assets of any other corporation in whith owns, directly or indirectly, 2E¢

stock) either produce or are held for the product inclideso f
certain rents and royalties, dividends, e, net gains from the sale or exchange of investment property, and net gains from
commodities and securities transactions. Passive income does not include income derived from the performance of services.

We believe that we will not be treated as a PFIC for any relevant period as any income we receive from offshore drillir
service contracts should be treated as fiser vlnadditon, thaassetsie 0
we own and wutilize to generate this fAservices incomeo shc

Although there is significant legal authority supporting our position, including relevant statutory provisions, legislative
history, case law and various pronoanme nt s fr om t he U. S. I nternal Revenue Se
may stil]l characterize this income as fpassiveo i nagome i
vessels as rental income ratharttservices income for other tax purpoddswever, the IRS has subsequently formally announced
that it does not agree with the decision in that c&@espite this IRS announcement, no assurance can be given that the IRS or &
relevant court will acceptuw position that we are not a PFIC.

If we were to be treated as a PFIC for any relevant period, our U.S. shareholders may face adverse U.S.
consequencedJnder the PFIC rules, a U.S. shareholder would be liable to pay U.S. federal income tax gtigbedgplicable
rates on ordinary income upon the receipt of <certairas, Aex
plus certain interest and penaltieslthough shareholders can make certain elections to mitigate theaapliof the PFIC rules,
these elections can themselves cause other adverse tax consequences to the electing shareholder.

Subsequent to our initial public offering in 2018, we are subject to both Cayman Islands regulatory requirements and the
requirementsapplicable for Companies listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, and any subsequent changes to these requirements
and, as such, we may be subject to review by the relevant authorities.

From the time ofour June 25, 2018 initial public offeringve are subjecto both the Cayman Islands regulatory
requirements and the requirements applicable for companies listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. These requirements affec
financial statements, corporate governance, communications with shareholders, transadiicing iour common stock, such as
dividends and stock repurchases, and other items as per the relevant laws and regulations. Any of these documentsagr action:
be subject to review by the relevant authorities. Compliance with these requirementsyasubseguent changes in the
requirements or the interpretation of requirements by relevant authorities could have a material adverse impact onseur busin
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Shareholder rights and responsibilitiesill be governed by Cayman Islands law and will differ in some respects from the rights
and responsibilities of shareholders under other jurisdictions, including Norway and the U.S., and our shareholder rights und
Cayman Islands law may not be as cleadsgtablished as shareholder rights under the laws of other jurisdictions.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our Article§ As s oci at iaodnby thefildws governing sompanies
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The rights ofshiareholders and the responsibilities of members of the Board of Directors
under Cayman Islands law may not be as clearly established as under the laws of other jurisdictions. In addition,aothe rights
shareholders as they relate to, for example, theciseeof shareholder rights, are governed by Cayman Islands law and our Articles
and differ from the rights of shareholders under other jurisdictions, including Norway and the U.S. The holders of oar comm
shares may have more difficulty in protectingithinterests in the face of actions by the Board of Directors than if we were
incorporated in the U.S. or Norway. Additionally, it could be difficult for a common shareholder to prevail in a claist again
under, or to enforce liabilities predicatedonp securities laws in jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands.

Certain of our shareholders own a significant proportion of our common shares, and their interests may conflict with those of
ours or other shareholders.

Our largest shareholders are #dfies of Castle Harlan, Inc., Lime Rock Partners. (togethére A S pamchGhima s 0 )
Merchantsindustry Holdings Company Limited AiChi na Mer chantso) . These shareho
significant proportion of our common shareSheCompany dés Articles contain certain
Sponsors, including the right of the Sponsors to appoint and remove directors, subject to certain ownership threshukts being
Additionally, as of December 31, 202China Merclants was our largest shareholder and has representation on the Board of
Directors. Accordingly, the Sponsors and China Merchants can exercise significant influence over our affairs.

If circumstances arise where the interests of the Sponsors or Chin&akfisraconflict with the interests of other
shareholders, the other shareholders could be disadvantaged by the ability of these large shareholders to influercgracgions c
to the other shareholders' interests. Specifically, the level of voting inBuerthe Sponsors may impact other shareholders' ability
as minority shareholders to have an influence on the result of special resolutions which shall be required for certdin types
transactions, such as the increase or reduction of our share aagital) share transactions or the approval for a merger, or that
involve an actual or potential change of control of us, including transactions in which shareholders might receive afpremium
their shares over prevailing market prices.

In the recent pastwe have not paid any dividends on our common shares, our ability to pay dividends is subject to certain
restrictions and the availability and timing of future dividends, if any, is uncertain, which could influence the price of ou
common shares.

In recent years, we have not issued dividends to our common shareholders, and we did not distribute any dividends for
financial year ended December 31, 20&hQreements governing our existing indebtedness place certain restrictions on our ability
and the abity of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends. Consequently, the only opportunity for an investor in our commo
stock to achieve a return on their investment may be to sell the common shares at a price greater than the pricedigad, In ad
anyamendments to our existing debt agreementiny new debt arrangements may also prohibit or further restrict our ability to
pay dividends on our common shares.

Subject to such prohibitions and restrictions, the Board of Directors will determine the anddimiing of dividends on
our common shares, if any, that we may pay in future periods. In making this determination, the Board of Directorsdeill cons
all relevant factors, including the amount of cash available for dividends, capital expenddvessnts, prohibitions or limitations
with respect to dividends, applicable law, general operational requirements and other variables. We cannot predict thre amour
timing of any future dividends, and if we do commence the payment of dividends, weenuanable to pay, maintain or increase
dividends over time. Therefore, investors may not be able to realize any return on their investment in our common ahares fol
extended period of time, if at all.

The annual dividend yield of our common stock asgared to yields on other financial instruments, which may fluctuate
with market interest rates, could influence the market price of our common shares. As such, an increase in markatemtelest r
result in higher yields on other financial instrungnthich could adversely affect the price of our common shares.

Future issuances of our common shares or other securities could dilute the holdings of holders of our common shares and could
materially affect the price of our common shares, and preemptights are not available to holders of our common shares.

We may in the future decide to offer additional common shares or other securities in order, among other needs, to fina
new capitalintensive projects, in connection with unanticipated liabilitesscurrency in merger and acquisition transactions, for
employee sharbased awards, for regulatory requirements, to fund our expenses or for any other corporate purposes.

There can be no assurance that we will not decide to conduct further offergeudfies in the future. Under Cayman
Islands law and our Articles, holders of our common shares do not have preemptive rights that maintain their relatiip owners
percentages prior to the issuance of any new common shares. Without preemptivendglgpending on the structure of any
future offering, certain common shareholders may not have the ability to purchase additional equity securities. Fooe® désua
common shares or other securities may result in substantial dilution in the ownestgptage of, and may have the effect of
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diluting the value of, holdings and voting interests of common shareholders. Additionally, such transactions coulddvaveean a
effect on market value of our common shares.

Future sales, or the possibility olufure sales of a substantial number of our common shares could affect the market price of
our common shares.

We cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of our common shares, or the availability of our common shares f
future sales, will have omé market price of our common shares. Transaction volumes of our common stock have historically bee
low, and therefore our stock price may be significantly impacted by large transactions. Sales of substantial amoaatsrabaur
shares in the public anket, including by the Sponsors or China Merchants, who own a significant number of our outstanding
common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our commorkisigares, me
it more difficult for ourcommon shareholders to sell their common shares or us to sell equity securities in the future at a time al
price that they deem appropriate. Additionally, all common shares owned by the Sponsors are unrestricted and thiesfare eligib
sale or otherrainsfer in the public market, subject to applicable securities laws restrictions.

Exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect the value of our common shares and dividends paid on the common shares, i
any, for an investor whose principal currency et U.S. dollars.

Our common shares are priced and traded in Norwegian
by our Board of Directors, if any, would likely be denominated in our functional currency of U.S. dollars, and woutttbehgai
common shareholders through DNB Bank ASA (ADNBO), being
be transacted in the bank account currency of the relev
Registar. Common shareholders registered in the VPS who have not supplied their bank account details would not receive divid
payments unless and until they register their bank account details for their VPS account and inform the VPS Registchangbe e
rate(s) applied when transacting payments of dividends to the relevant common shareholder's currency would be the 8RS Regis
exchange rate on the payment date. Exchange rate movements of U.S. dollars would therefore affect the value of thisse divid
and distributions for investors whose account currency is not U.S. dollars. Further, the market value of the commass share
expressed in foreign currencies will fluctuate in part as a result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations. This coihle effleet of
the common shares and of any dividends paid on the common shares for an investor whose principal currency is not.U.S. dolla

The transfer of our common shares and their underlying assets is subject to restrictions under the securities thevtJs. and
other jurisdictions.

Our common shares or underlying assets have not been registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in the
or any U.S. state securities laws or any other jurisdiction outside of Norway and the Caymandslamasy not be registered in
the future. As such, our common shares or underlying assets may not be offered or sold in the U.S. except pursuamttioran exe
from the registration requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in the U.S. anapptioable securities laws. In
addition, common shareholders residing or domiciled in the U.S. and/or other jurisdictions may not be able to parfidgipate in
capital increases.

Investors could be unable to recover losses in civil proceedings irsglictions other than the Cayman Islands and Norway.

We are an exempted company, limited by shares and incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Directol
the Board and members of the management reside ld.$gSaudi Arabia, Australia, China, the U.Bndthe UAE. As a result,
it may be impossible for investors to effect service of process or to enforce judgments obtaine€ayman Islands or nen
Norwegian courts against us, our Board of Directors or our management.

Investors may face additional riskeelated to our common shares due to the VPS Registtlae Registrar Agreemerdnd the
recently implemented EU Central Securities Depository Regulation

In connection withour June 25, 2018 initial public offerimm the Oslo Stock Exchange, we hastablished a facility for
the registration of our offered common shares in the VPS. We have appointed DNB as our VPS Registrar in the VPS and ent
into an agreement with DNB outlining their related respo

The VPSRegistrar has registered the common shares in the(8next Securities Oslo)Following such registration,
the VPS reflects the beneficial shareholders of our registered common stock, personally or through nominee registrations.
nominee for the@mmon shareholders, the VPS Registrar will be the registered shareholder in our shareholders' register.

Common shareholders must exercise their organizational and economic rights through the VPS Registrar and they are
able to exercise direct sharehaldights. There are no provisions under Cayman Islands law or under our Articles that limit the
common shareholders' in exercising their rights in respect of the common shares through the VPS Registrar. In orisr to exer
their rights, common shareheld must instruct the VPS Registrar as to the voting in the shares represented by their common shar
In order to exercise full shareholder rights, the common shareholders must transfer their holding in the VPS to ahelyistgred
of shares in our gtreholders' register.
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We cannot guarantee that the VPS Registrar will be able to execute its obligations under the Registrar Agreement. /
such failure may, inter alia, limit the access for, or prevent, investors from exercising their organizatiooabaoric rights attached
to the underlying shares. The VPS Registrar may terminate the Registrar Agreement pursuant to a prior written natietiohterm
Furthermore, the VPS Registrar may terminate the Registrar Agreement with immediate effedbiihatefulfil our payment
obligations to the VPS Registrar or commit any other material breach of the Registrar Agreement. In the event of arterininati
the Registrar Agreement, there can be no assurance that it would be possible for us to emteevintegistrar agreement on
substantially the same terms or at all. A termination of the Registrar Agreement could, therefore, materially advetrssyaatfe
the common shareholders. The VPS Registrar disclaims any liability for any loss atteliotabtumstances beyond the VPS
Registrar's control, including, but not limited to, errors committed by others. The VPS Registrar is liable for dietidoss=
as a result of the VPS Registrar's breach of contract. Accordingly, we and our ceharefiolders may not be able to completely
recover losses if the VPS Registrar does not perform its obligations under the Registrar Agreement.

The EU Central Securities Depository Regulatif@$DR0) has recentlypecome effective undé&torwegian law throgh
provisions in the new Norwegian Central Securities Depository Ast consequence of CSDR, our currentgetvith depository
receipts is no longer permittedVe have a transitional period until DecemBér 2022 to change theegistration form in VPS
(Euronext Securities Oslo)Me have decided to seek a primary recording in VPS, with the consequence that all sharehbilers in
Companywill bedirect owners of common shares, and not depository recefoig failure by us to omply with the new CSDR
regulation, including to change our registration form before DeceBih@022, will result in our securities being suspended from
trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

General Risk Factors
We are exposed to the credit risks of owgykcustomers and certain other third parties.

We are subject to risks of loss resulting from4payment or nofperformance by third parties. Although we monitor and
manage credit risks, some of our customers and other parties may be highly leverageljesidto their own operating and
regulatory risks. During more challenging market environments, we are subject to an increased risk of customers seeking
repudi ate contracts. Our <customer sd a bvérdely affgcted hy restrictedtcredith e
markets and economic downturns. As of December 31, 2021, our allowance for credit losses was $3.2 million. If oné or seve
key customers or other parties were to default on their obligations to us, our busirressaficondition, results of operations and
cash flows could be materially adversely impacted.

We are dependent on our senior management team, other key employees and the Directors of our Board, and the business cou
be negatively impacted if we are uble to attract and retain personnel necessary for our success.

Our performance is, to a large extent, dependent on highly qualified personnel, including management, other key employ
and Directors of our Board ( A Koecgmpdleeffestivetyninepledent,our atnatdgy and further o 1
develop our business depends on our ability to attract new and qualified Key Personnel and to retain and motivate gxisting |
Personnel. Attracting qualified personnel has proved increasinglgriemt as our industry has developed and become more
advanced. An important factor contributing to our leading position and global footprint has been our ability to refad quali
employees throughout our organizational structure.

Further, the competan for Key Personnel is intense from competitors within the oil and natural gas industry, as well as
from businesses outside this industry. We may not be able to retain our Key Personnel nor attract and retain repla¢@yents fo
Personnel in the futurer the cost to attract and retain Key Personnel may increase. Our competitors may actively seek to recr
management personnel or other key employees and may succeed in such efforts. Financial difficulties and other factws might
further negativémpacts on our ability to retain Key Personnel or recgraiv talent

Any loss of the services of management, other key employees, or Directors of our Board, particularly to competitors, t
inability to attract and retain highly skilled key personnel e increased costs to replace such Key Personnel could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We are dependent on the availability and retention of skilled personnel, which may be selyexffected by increases in labor
costs.

We require highly skilled personnel to operate and provide technical services and support for our operations. Many of
customers require specific minimum levels of experience and technical qualificatiortdar pesitions on rigs which they contract.
We are also subject to nationalization programs in various countries, whereby we must hire a certain percentage afnoebl pers
within a specified time period. Hiring and retaining qualified employeeseastecially difficult during periods of high utilization
and demand for drilling services, when there is increasing competition for personnel. Such difficulties and increésedaragts
and retain qualified employees could have a material advifest @n our results of operations and cash flows.
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We may be subject to litigation and disputes that could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

From time to time, we are involved irigjation and disputes. These matters may include, among other things, contract
disputes, personal injury claims, environmental claims or proceedings, asbestos and other toxic tort claims, employiegnt dispL
tax matters and other litigation that arisesthie ordinary course of our business. Although we intend to defend these matters
vigorously, we cannot predict with certainty the outcome or effect of any dispute, claim or other litigation matter. Miehaay
insurance for litigation or claims thatay arise, or our insurance coverage may not be sufficient, insurers may not remain solvent
other claims may exhaust some or all of the insurance available to us or insurers may interpret our insurance poheaietheych t
do not cover certain claimo$ses. Litigation may result in adverse outcomes, substantial defense costs, the diversion
management 6s resources and other impacts inherent iveali:'t
material adverse effect on domsiness, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Any relevant change in tax laws, regulations, or treaties, and relevant interpretations thereof, for any country in which we
operate, earn income, generate losses or are considered @ fae& resident, and/or the loss of any major tax dispute, or a
successful challenge to our intercompany pricing policies or operating structures could have an adverse impact.

Our business is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and operates through ouwsulvsidiaries in various countries
throughout the world. Our income tax exposure is based upon the relevant tax laws, regulations and treaties tha¢ &ppilyus th
countries in which we operate or earn income or are deemed to be a tax resident.

Our income tax returns are subject to examination and review and our effective tax rate may be impacted if:

1 there are any significant changesagplicable tax laws, regulations or tax treaties, and the interpretation thereof in the
various countries imhich we operate, earn income, generate losses or are deemed to be a tax resident;

any tax authority successfully challenges our intercompany pricing policies or operating structures;

any tax authority interprets a treaty in a manner that is adverse $trocture or previous tax positions;

any tax authority successfully challenges the taxable presence of any of our key subsidiaries in a relevant jurisdiction o
we lose a key tax dispute in a jurisdiction.

= =4 =8 =9

Transactions taking place between our compaaiesd r el ated companies must be ceé
length principles in order to avoid adverse tax consequences. There can be no assurance that the tax authoritiedenifiatonclu
our transfer pricing policies are calculated using gppro at e ar més | ength prices for int
intercompany pricing could change our taxable income or losses in various jurisdictions, which could change our efiettve tax
and tax expense.

Any of the above factors could csia significant change to our local statutory tax rates and/or our effective tax rate on
worldwide earnings. In addition, if a local statutory tax rate changes, we may need to revalue our deferred tax daisiiteeand |
or recalculate our valuatiodl@vances, liabilities for uncertain tax positions or other tax allowances and reserves relevant to tha
jurisdiction. Additionally, if we do not generate sufficient income in jurisdictions with tax loss carryforwards or @hgeslare
made regardingheir value or utilization, we may be required to reduce the value of these tax assets. Any of these changes co
have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We are subject to laws and regulations inveeal jurisdictions, and failure to properly comply with such laws and regulations
may adversely affect our operations.

We are an exempted company, limited by shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In addition, we have established operat
in various otheijjurisdictions. Due to these international business activities, we are subject to laws and regulations in multipl
jurisdictions. Laws and regulations are subject to continual changes, and some legislative changes may be directhgdizasivant
to our bsiness or could oblige us to change our operations or amend our strategy. Any failure to comply with applicable natior
and/or international laws could lead to costly litigations, penalties and other sanctions, and unplanned operatiortagand stra
changes could increase our costs or decrease our profitability. Any of the above could have a material adverse impact on
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The price of our common shares could fluctuasgnificantly.

The trading volume and price of our common shares could fluctuate significantly. Factors both within and outside abbur cont
that could negatively affect the price of our common shares or result in fluctuations in the price or triatigof@ur common
shares including, but not limited to, changes in our actual or projected results of operations or those of our corhpetifessnc
earnings projections or failure to meet investors' and analysts' earnings expectations, invdettishevaf the success and effects

of our strategy as well as the evaluation of the related risks, changes in general economic conditions, changes imshareholde
other factors. Volatility in market price of securities may also occur without regdhe toperating performancé a company.

The price of our common shares may therefore fluctuate based upon factors that are not specific to us, and these fhagtuations
materially affect the price of our common shares.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commetts.
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties.

Overview

Our properties consist primarily of our mobile fleet of jagkrigs and related equipment that is located and operates across
four core operating regionMENAM, India, West Africa and Southeast Ashle also own or lease office space for our corporate
headquarters in Dubai, UAE astiorebasedacilities in UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Egypt, ItalMungary,Indonesia, Malaysia,
Vietnam, Singapore, Thailanilauritius, India, NigeriaandAngolato supportig operations

Fleet

Our fleetconsists 0of30 ILC jack-up rigsas of December 31, 20. The ILC design allows each leg to be independently
raised or lowered and permits tthelling platform to be extended out from the hull to perform operations over certain types of pre
existing platforms or structuredVe believe these design features provide greater operational flexibility, safety and efficiency than
alternative designdViany ofourjack-up rigs further feature proven, reliable technology and processes, utilizing mechanical feature:
with generally lower operating costs compared to newer, higpeeification rigs.Within their given water depth capabilities, we
believe our jackuprigsarewels ui t ed f or our customersé typical shall ow w

We have taken steps in recent years to enhance our fleet, includingnstiruction of newbuild rigs aratquisitionof
premium jackup rigs. From 2016through 2@1 we addechine premium jackup rigs to our fleetat prices significantly less than
thehistoriccost of construction for comparable newbuild rigsjuding:

In 2016 the newbuild rig Shelf Drilling Chaophraya was delivered

In 2017 thenewbuild rigShelf Drilling Krathongwasdeliveredand theShelf Drilling Mentor, Shelf Drilling Tenacious,
and Shelf Drilling Resourcefubereacquired;

1 In 2018 theShelf Drilling Sceptewasacquired

1 In 2019 theShelf Drilling Achieverand Shelf Drilling Journey wergcquiredand

1 In 2020 the Shelf Drilling Enterprise was acquired

f
f

The Shelf Drilling Journey was subsequerathd opportunisticallgold in February 2021S e &otdv i Assets Held for
S a Iteodr Consolidated Financial t& ment s included in #Altem 8. Financi al S
information.

Maintenance and Certifications

Our organizational objective is to maintain our assets to provide optimal operating performance while minimizing out c
service time and total capital expenditur&ach of our rigs is subject to the maintenance and inspection regime governed by the
I MO Gale for the Construction and Equipment of Mobile Offshore Drilling Ur@tar rigs are subject to periodic testing with a

maj or inspection every five years under the | nter ndtSidogna
requirements.This inspection typically takes six to twelve weeks and is often scheduled between customer contracts to minimi:
downtime. Our fleet is also subject tdnderwatetinspectionsiieuofDr ydoc ki ng ( AUWI LDo6), inter.

inspections between each SPIhe marine equipment of our fleet is certified according to international safety standards under the
International Safety Management Code and is certified by the American Bureau of Shipping classification society, enabli
universal recognition of our equipment as being qualified for international operations, however, our equipment maintenan
standards are governed by the guidelines, recommendations and standards provided by the American Petroleum Institute.

33



I I SHELF
DRILLING

Thefollowing table sets forth certain information concerning our rig fleet as of December231, 20

Maximum Maximum
Year Built Water Drilling
/ Last Depth Depth
Rig Name Design Upgrade (feet) (feet) Location
MENAM
High Island Il MLT 82-SD-C 1979 /2011 270 20,000 Saudi Arabia
High Island IV MLT 82-SD-C 1980/ 2011 270 20,000 Saudi Arabia
High Island V MLT 82-SD-C 1981 /2013 270 20,000 Saudi Arabia
High Island IX MLT 82-SD-C 1983 /2012 250 20,000 SaudiArabia
Key Manhattan MLT 116-C 1980/ 2010 350 25,000 Italy
Key Singapore MLT 116-C 1982 /2015 350 25,000 Malta
Main Pass | F&G L-780 Mod I 1982 /2013 300 25,000 Saudi Arabia
Main Pass IV F&G L-780 Mod I 1982 /2012 300 25,000 Saudi Arabia
Rig 141 MLT 82-SD-C 1982 250 20,000 Egypt
Shelf Drilling Achiever GustoMSC CJ46¢100-D 2019 350 30,000 Saudi Arabia
Trident 16 Modec 300C38 1982 /2012 300 25,000 Egypt
India
C.E. Thornton MLT 53-SC 1974 /1984 300 21,000 India
Compact Driller MLT 116-C 1992 /2013 300 25,000 India
F.G. McClintock MLT 53-SC 1975/ 2002 300 21,000 India
Harvey H. Ward F&G L-780 Mod I 1981 /2011 300 25,000 India
J.T. Angel F&G L-780 Mod I 1982 300 25,000 India
Parameswara Baker Marine BMC 304C 1983 /2001 300 25,000 India
Ron Tappmeyer MLT 116-C 1978 300 25,000 India
Trident Il MLT 84-SC Mod 1977 /1985 300 21,000 India
Trident XII Baker Marine BMC 304C 1982 /1992 300 21,000 India
West Africa
Adriatic | MLT 116-C 1981 /2014 350 25,000 Nigeria
Baltic MLT Super 300 1983 /2015 375 25,000 Nigeria
Shelf Drilling Mentof? LeTourneau Super 116 2010/ 2017 350 30,000 Congo
Shelf Drilling Resourceful LeTourneau Super 116 2008 / 2017 350 30,000 Nigeria
Shelf Drilling Tenacioud Baker Marine Pacific 375 2007 / 2017 375 30,000 Angola
Trident VIII Modec 306C35 1981 /2018 300 21,000 Nigeria
Southeast Asia

ShelfDrilling Chaophraya LeTourneau Super 116E 2016 350 30,000 Thailand
Shelf Drilling Enterprise Baker Marine Pacific Clas: 2007 / 2020 375 30,000 Thailand
Shelf Drilling Krathong LeTourneau Super 116E 2017 350 30,000 Thailand
ShelfDrilling Scepter Keppel FELS Super B 2008 /2019 350 35,000 Thailand

(1) Rigwas in international waters in the process of mobilization to the listed location as of December 31, 2021
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information regarding legadroceedings is set forth fiNote1371 Co mmi t ment s
FinancialStatements included ifitem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary®ata

a n tb thEComsolidated e n c

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5. Mar ket for Registrantés Common Equity, Re
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the OSE undetiti@ers y mb o | i Humbeay of holders of record of our common
stock as ofebruary24, 202 was2,153 The numbepf beneficial shareholders is substantially greater than the number of holders
as a large portion of our common stock is held through brokerage firms.

Oslo Bgrs is a stock exchange listing which complies with EU requirements and Norwegian stock exchange legislatic
OnDecembeBO, 2021, the last reported sale price of our common shaméseOSEwas8.40 NOK per share, which was equivalent
to approximately 8.95per share based on the Bloomberg Composite Ra88afNOK to $1.00in effect on that date.The
following table sets forth the high and lahoseprices for our common shares as repodadhe Oslo Stock Exchange for the
periods listed belowShare prices are presented in $ per common share based on the Bloomberg Composite Rate on each da
measurement.

2021
High Low
TS o (U U5 (= R $ 0.69 $ 0.30
ST=Toto] oo o [U =T g (=] S PO PO P PP OPPPPPTTPPPPPP 0.65 0.55
LI L0 Ko U= U =] PP PP 0.58 0.41
FOUMNQUAITET ...ttt e s e e e e 0.95 0.52
2020
High Low
T o [UE= U5 (= S $ 2.65 $ 0.49
ST=Tolo] oo o [U =T g (=] S PO PO PPP TP OPPPPRTTPPPPPP 0.52 0.3
LI L0 Ko U= U =] PP PP 0.42 0.22
FOUMTNQUAITET ... ettt e e e e e 0.43 0.16

Dividends

In recent years, th€Eompanyhas not issuedividends to itcommonshareholdersand the Compangtid not distribute
any dividends for the financial year ended December 31.20he Companydés future dividend
the Board of Directorswho will consider issuinglividends to holders of common shares with otleégvant conislerations and
factors, includingbut not limited tot h e  C o mvorking gapitaland capital expendituneeedsyesults of operations, financial
conditionand investment opportunitesCer t ai n of t he Co mopragamcdvenants ¢hbhiit tha payneeet ofe n t
dividends.

SeefiNote 117 D e bandfiNote 171 Sh ar e h o | d ¢orosr@onskligatetFingndalst at e ment s i ncl ud
Financi al Statements and Suppl ementary Datao for additio
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total retu
on the Oslo Stock Exchange petioll endinganm ecembed3d,20 Thé @aplc asstmeds anf o r
investment of $100 at the beginning of this peridthe comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are nof
indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future performance of our common stock.
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Issuer Purchases oEquity Securities

On September 1, 2019, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program under which thecOoldpany
repurchase shares of the Companyds common stock for oan a
approval( t he 2019 Rep.uAng tepuslased shargpereaanceled and resuméhe status of authorized and
unissued shares upon the repurchase date, as the repurchasedeatea@ssidered constructively retired on the repurchase date.
Shareswererepurchased in the open market on the O8Eaccordance with Cayman Islands law, the repurchased shares were
canceled by default immediately after repurchdaeMarch 2020, the Company suspended its repurchase activities under the 2019
Repurchase Programnd the program expired on September 1, 2021

The Company repurchased approximately 721,000 shares of common stock at an average price of $2.16 (19.50 NOK)
share during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 1.4 million shares of csimchaat an average price of $2.13 (19.33 NOK)
per share during the year ended December 31,.28b%mounts were repurchased during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 6. [Reserved]
ltem 7. Management 6s Discussion and Analysis of F
Operations.
The following discussion of our results of operations, liquidity and capital resources includes a comparison of the yea
ended December 31,20and2@0. Thi s i nf or mati on should be read in conjun
1. Businesso, Part | . auditeccconsdlidated fiRanciakstatEraents amd thetnotes theretotincleded under

Ailtem 8. Finamdi Slupptl ememé mry Dat eKEquedlemte where in this Fo
Overview

We are a leading international shallow watéfshore contractorproviding equipment and services for the drilling,
completion maintenance and decommissionof@il and natural gas wellsNe are solely focused on shallow water operations in
depths of up to 375 feetndour fleetconsists 080 ILC jack-up rigsas of December 31, 202making usone oft h e  wlargektd 6 s
owneis and operataof jack-up rigs by number of active shallow water rigs.

Since our inceptiom 2012 we have applied oduffit-for-purpose strategy to enhance the performance of our business,
people and processes, leveraging our sole foctiseoshallow water segment and the decades of experience of our people with our
customers, rigs and markets where we operdlfe. believe that this strategy has enabled us to execute our vision of being the
finternational jackup contractor of choi@eand will allow for sustainable, longerm profitability across our fleet.
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Our fleet is welsuited to our core operating regions of MENAM, S@ast Asia, India and West Africalhese markets
are generallycharacterized by relatively benign operating conditions with activities concentrated in workover and developmen
programs on producing assets with existing infrastructure.

We have one reportable segment, Contract Services, which reflects how we managgmass and that our market is
dependent upon the worldwide aitd natural gaimdustry. The rigs comprising our fleet operate in a single maakdtarenobile
As a result, ourigs canbe deployed globally taneetthe changing needs of our customers, which largely consiéDafs, I0Cs
and independent oil and gas companies.

See fAltem & mord@infamatioeabosit@ur businesincluding discussionsf our recent eventsoperations
customers and customepntracts strategy ad competitive strengthsisk management and insuranpdesalth, safety and
environmentour peopleand operating expenses, capital expenditures and deferred costs.

Outlook

Brent crude oil prices, the key driver in the demandsfallow water drilling activity, improved from an average of $43
per barrel in 2020 to $71 per barrel in 20Zhe increase idemandor oil and gas wadue to theeasingof COVID-19 lockdowns,
combined witha strongeconome recoveryanda partialrebound of the travel industryln recent monthdow global oilinventories
and an increase in geopolitical tensitiaseresulted in further escalation ofl prices. Brent crude prices rosem $86 per barrel
in October 20210 over $90 per barrel in Jaamy 2022. Supply and demand dynamics are expected to remain tight for the near to
medium term.

The global number of contracted jaok rigs increased fror@39in January2021 to 349 in January 202&d marketed
utilization increased from 79% t83% overthe same periad We expect shallow water activity show a significanincrease in
2022, driven by rising oil prices and demawdhichis projected to exceed ppandemic levels by the end of 2022.

Our liquidity position remains strong with cash and ceghivalents of $232.3 million as of December 31, 2021, with no
debt maturities until 2024. We divested six rigs in 2021, including all of our stacked rigs, for total net proceedsrofli§s1.3
As of February 2022, our fleet consists of 30 marketafteand28 of these rigs are currently under contract. During the fourth
quarter of 2021, our EBITDA increased 28% sequentially, primarily tduacreasd revenues. We anticipateBITDA will
continue tamprovein 2022 due texpected further improvements in effective utilizatidiwenty-onenew contracts and contract
extensions were executed in 2021 which resulted in growth in our backlog from $1.4 billion at the end of 2020 to $1g bfllion
December 31, 2021We contirue to see an increase in marketing activity in all our key geographical markets with a strong pipeline
of opportunities and an improving dayrate environment.

Given the strength in the price and demand outlook for oil and gas, we have an optimisticfoutioe industry in 2022,
and believe we are well positioned as the sector continues to recover

Operational measures
We use various operational measures common to our industry to evaluate our operational performance, including:

1 Contract backlogs the maximum contract dayrate revenues that can be earned from firm commitments for contrac
services represented by executed definitive agreements based on the contracted operating dayrate during the con
period less any planned eot-service perids for regulatory inspections and surveys or other work. Contract backlog
excludes revenues resulting from mobilization and demobilization fees, capital or upgrade reimbursement, recharg
bonuses and other revenue sources. Contract backlog may alsie ithe maximum contract amount of revenues for
the use of our rigs as bareboat charters or as accommodation units. The contract period excludes revenues f
extension options under our contracts unless such options have been exercised. The cerstiact dayrate may
differ from the amount estimated due to reduced dayrates for rig movements, adverse weather and equipm
downtime, among other factors. Actual dayrates may also include contractual adjustments based on market factc
such as Brent ade oil or natural gas prices or cost increases, and such adjustments are not estimated in the back
dayrate. Contract backlog is a key indicator of our potential future revenue generation.

1 Average dayratds the average corsdct dayrate earned by matébkle rigs over the reporting period excluding
mobilization fees, contract preparation, capital expenditure reimbursements, demobilization, recharges, bonuses
other revenuesAverage dayrate can be calculated related to historical revenues or cbhatidog.

1 Contracted rigsconsist ofall of our rigs that arender contracgtincluding rigscurrently operating under a contract
and rigspreparing for ampcoming contract.

1 Average contracted days per figithe total remaining contracted days for all contracted rigs divided by the number
of contracted rigs.

T Tot al recor dabl e isthecumideealrecordablgafetyincidentRder200)000 mdrours

Marketable rigsconsist ofall of our rigsthat are operating or aevailable to operatéut excluding stacked rigend
rigs under contrador activities other than drillingplug and abandonmeat associatedervicesas applicable.
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1 Uptimeis the period during which we perform well operations without stoppage due to mechanical, procedural o
other operational events that result in #pyoductive well operations time. Uptime is expressed as a percentage
measured daily, monthly or yearly. tipe performance is a key customer contracting criterion, an indication of our
operational efficiency and directly related to our current and future revenues and profit generation.

91 Effective utilizations the number of calendar days during which marketaigs generate dayrate reveadé/ided
by the maximum number of calendar days during which those rigs could have generated elegmate Effective
utilization measures the dayrate revenue efficiency of our marketableEftective utilization varies due to changes
in operational uptime, planned downtime for periodic surveys, timing of underwater inspections, contract preparatic
and upgrades, time between contracts and the use of alternative dayrates foromaiteagher periodsiepairs,
standby, force majeure, mobilization or other rates that apply under certain circumstdle@sclude all other types
of revenusfrom the calculation oéffective utilization.

The following table includes selected operating measures as ofmbec&1, 2@1, 2020 and2019:

As of December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Contract backlog (in MillioNS).........cooviieeiiieiiiiiie e $ 1679 $ 1,377 $ 2,005
Weighted average backlog dayrate (in thousands)................. $ 67.7 $ 67.2 $ 69.7
(70] o1 17> T4 (=0 4 o L3 28 29 31
Average contracted days Per.fig......cccccceeeieieiiieeie e, 885 706 928

Contract backlogs of December 31, 20 is expected to be recognized over the perasigetthe following table, subject
to certainlimitations andadjustments as discussaiove:

2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total
Contract backlog (imillions)..........cccoeviiveeiiiiieeennns $ 442 % 275 $ 243 $ 719 % 1,679

The following table includes selected operating measures for the years ended Decem!l&), 200 2and2018:

Years endedDecember 31,

2021 2020 2019
L L P 0.16 0.19 0.19
IADC Average TRIR ... 0.57 0.47 0.63
Weighted average actual dayrate (in thousands)................... $ 60.5 $ 58.9 $ 64.7
Average marketable MfgS......ccooevveeviiiiiiii e, 30.6 32.1 32.6
L]0 1] 0 = TP 99.3% 99.4% 99.2%
Effective UtiliZation............coouiiiiii e 73% 80% 71%

Financial measures

I n addition to terms under U.S. generally aGAARfmanea ac
measures. We present the noGAAP measureswhich includeadjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (AAdj ust e dDAHBIded iyAcvenue@mAd jAdg tuessd eEBIEBDA Mar gi |
income (loss)which isthe mostdirectly comparable GAAP financial measui/e believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA Margin are useful neAAP financi al measures because they are wi
operating performance without regard to tkeleded items, which can vary substantially from company to company, and are also
useful to an investor in evaluating the performance of the business ovetriiaddition, our management uses Adjusted EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDAMargin in presentation® tour Board of Directors to provide a consistent basis to me#seioperating
performance of our business, as a measure for planning and forecasting overall expectations, for evaluation of acgalnssults
such expectations and in communicationthvaiur shareholders, lenders, noteholders, rating agencies and others concerning ou
financial performance.Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDAMargin may not be comparable to similarly titted measures
employed by other companies and should not be carside isolation or as a substitute for net income (loss) or other data prepared
in accordance with GAAPAdjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin have significant limitatiansluding but not limited
to the exclusion from these numberssafious cash requirements to operate our business.
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Our financial measures for the years ended Decembe2(21, 2020 and 2019 were as followgin thousands, except
AdjustedEBITDA Margin):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

NEE IOSS. .. ittt e et ee e s sbe e e e e anes $ (78,637) % (274,859) $ (149,536
Add back:

Interest expense and financing charges, net of interest iréan 113077 89,528 79,570
INCOME tAX EXPENSE....ovviiieeiieeiiiee ettt e e e e eeenaa 18470 19,695 12,979
D=1 0] (=TI F= L1 (0] o RS 65,820 69,895 82,50

Amortization of deferred COSIS........oovviiiiiiiiiiiiieiie e, 38,930 47,148 75,305
Loss on impairment of asSetS.......ccccvveeeeeeeeieiiiiicieee e - 249,156 57,986
Loss /(gain) on disposal of assets...........coeecvvviiiivieeee i, 53 (3,601) (905
2] 1 I PP $ 157,713  $ 196,962 $ 157,902
Acquired rig reactivation cosf8..............cccoceeeiiiiiiicic - 816 19,479
Onetime corporate transaction CO8¥s...........cccvevveveierieiennnn. 585 2,483 133

Adjusted EBITDA ....ooooiiiiiie e $ 158,208 3 200,261 _$ 177,514
Adjusted EBITDA Margin ......ccoooieeeriiiiiieeesiiiieeessieeeee e 30.1% 34.2% 30.8%

(1) Represertgtinterest expenses incurred and accrued on our debt and the amortization of debt issuance fees and costs ovel
term of the dehtnet ofinterest incomeThis alsancludes the $10.1 million loss on debt extinguishment in relation to our debt
refinancirg transactions during the year ended December 31, 2021.

(2) Represents the expenditures accounted for as operating expenses in accordance with GAAP, which were incurred in connec
with the reactivation of stacked or idle rigs acquired with the specifintinteto reactivate and deploy.

(3) Represents certain otiene third-party professional services.

Our restricted subsidiaries accounted I00% of our Adjusted EBITDA forboththe years ended Decembdr;, 2021 and
2020 and100% and93% of our assets as of December 2021 and 2@0, respectively

Operating Results for theYear Ended December 31, 2ad2Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 20
(In thousands, except percentages)

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 Change % change
Revenues
Operating reVeNUES..........cceeeeveeecveeeciveeennee. $ 515,069 % 570,343 % (55,274 (10%)
Other reVENUES.........ccccuiieiieeeeeeieeieeieeeeens, 11,497 14,833 (3,336) (22%)
526,566 585,176 (58,610 (10%)
Operating costs and expenses
Operating and maintenance..............cccc.u..... 323994 341,426 (17,432 (5%)
Depreciation...........ccocvveeieneeeciesie e 65,820 69,895 (4,075, (6%)
Amortization of deferred costs...................... 38,930 47,148 (8,218) (17%)
General anddministrative...........cccccceeeeinnnee. 46,400 45,849 558 1%
Loss on impairment of assets...........c.ceee...., - 249,156 (249,156 (100%)
Loss / (@in) on disposal of assets................. 53 (3,601) 3,654 101%
475,204 749,873 (274,669 (37%)
_Operatmg income/ (I0SS).......uuvuuuciiieiiiaeninnn, 51362 (164,697 216,059 131%
INCOME...iiiiieeeeiiieeeeesieeeeeesiiaeaeans
Other (expense) / income, nNet.....................
INterestinCome.............ooovviiiviiiiiiceiiieeeeieeeieens 47 175 (128) (73%)
Interest expense and financing charges...... (113124) (89,703 (23,421 (26%)
(@11 01T 0 1= P 1,548 (939) 2,487 265
(111,529 (90,467 (21,062 (23%)
Loss before income (60,167 (255,164 194,991 76%
INCOMeE tax EXPENSE.......evvvviieiiiiiiriieeeeeeenn 18,470 19,695 (1,225 (6%)
NELIOSS.....vvieeiiee et $ (78637  $ (274,859) $ 196222 71%
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Revenues

Totalrevenusfor 2021 were$526.6million compared to $86.2million for 2020. Revenusfor 2021 consisted of $15.1
million (97.8%) of operating revenseand #.1.5 million (2.2%6) of other revenu® In 2020, these same revenues werd 3
million (97.5%) and $148 million (2.5%), respectively.

Total revenusfor 2021 decreasedy $58.6 million compared to the same period ir2B@rimarily due to$70.6 million
related to lower effective utilization across the fleetioas fewer rigs were operating in the 2021 period as compared to the same
period in 2020 partially offset byan increaseof $12.3million from higheraverage earned dayrates.

Operating and maintenance expenses

Total operating and maintenanegpenses for 2A2were $824.0 million, or 615% of total revenue, compared to4834
million, or 58.3% of totalrevenue, in 220. Operating and maintenance expenses irl2@2sisted of $905 million rig-related
expenses and3B.5million shorebased expenses$n 2020, these expenses wergd(®.0million and $35.4 million, respectively.

The decrease in total-related expenses of $B5million primarily consisted of$12.0 million lower expenses for rigs
divested in the current or prior perio®2.9 million lower expenses related to the bareboat charter rigs with China Merchants and
$5.8 million in other rig cost savingsThis was partially offset b$2.1 million in net increased expenses for rigs with different
operating periods in 2021 as coaned to 2020 due to the timing of contract start dates and suspension or termination periods an
$3.1 million higher maintenancand shipyard expensesShorebased expenses decreased by $1.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 compared to the sgrariod in 202@nainly due to the continued impact of cost savings measures implemented
across all field locations during 2020

Depreciation expense

Depreciation expense RD21 was $5.8million compared to 9.9 million in 2020. In 2021, depreciation expense was
impacted by$8.5million of lowerdepreciation omigs and equipment which were impaired in 2020 layp#4.5million of increased
depreciation foonerig thatwasplaced into operation iearly 2021. The Compay anticipates that depreciation expense will
decrease in 2022scompared to 202due toa change in accounting estimate related to¢h@aininguseful lives of certain gis

Amortization of deferred costs

The amortization of deferred costs in 20@as $88.9 million compared to 47.1 million in 2020. The decreasen
amortization for the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily related to lower amortization of contract preparatimh costs &
major equipment overhauls on rigs that were impaired in 2020.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrativexpenses in 2020 werd&4 million compared to 458 million in 220. The $.6 million
increaseprimarily resultedrom an increase in compensation and benefits expenses over the prior year, partially offsidby a $
million decreasen provision for bad debt due to the current year collection of aged receivables for which an allowance was recorde
in 2020.

Loss onimpairment of assets

Loss on impairment of assets wa&492 million in the year ended December 20020. The loss in 2020 included
impairment onl9 of our rigs and other lonlived assets anfive rigs classified as assets held for salehere were no such
transactions during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of assets

Losson disposal of assets waB.$million in the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to a gain of $3.6 million for
the same period in 2020rhe decrease in the gain on disposal of assets for the year ended Decemb2t 8&a2@imarily due
to the highenetproceeds on the rig sales in 20particularlyfor the sale of the Trident XI\Gompared to smaller gains and losses
recorded on the rig sales in 2021.

Other (expense) / income, net

Other (expense) / income, net, consisting of interest expense and finance charges, interest income and other, net wa
expense of #(11.5 million in 2021 compared to $(90.5) million in 202During 2021, other expense consisted primarily of interest
expense and financingharges of $(13.10) million, as well as interest income ofBthousand and other, net 0f.$ million in
income. This compares t&(89.7) million, $0.2 million an&(0.9) million in expensedor those respective categoridsring 2020

Interest expense and financing changese £3.4million higher compared to 2020, primarily due to $10.1 million in loss
on debt extinguishment related to the termination of the SDHL Revolver and the 8.75% Senior Secured N2&S3raillib$ in
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interest on the 8.875% Notes, partially offset By2$nillion in lower interest due to the termination of the SDHL Revolver and the
8.75%Senior Secured Notes.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense in 2D%vas #.8.5million compared to $4.7 million in 2020. While the Company is exempt from

all incometaxation in the Cayman Islands, a provision for income taxes is recorded based on the tax laws and rates applicable
the jurisdictions in which the Company operates and eiactwmme or is considered resident for income tax purpoSéwse
relationship beteen the provision for or benefit from income taxes and the income or loss before income taxes can var
significantly from perioeto-period considering, among other factors, (a) the overall level of income before income taxes, (b)
changes in the blend aidome that is taxed based on gross revenues rather than income before taxes, (c) rig movements betwe
taxing jurisdictions, (d) changes in the Companyos taxéedg or
in a particular juridiction, and (e) fluctuations in foreign currency rates against the U.S. Dollar which are used to measure ta
receivables in various jurisdictions.

Income tax expense in 2021 was lower than in 2020 primarily due to a reduction in rerahloegerinterest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions applicable for the period, partially offset by an increase in tax expense primatity piate
year tax receivables which are measured in foreign currencies and subject to fluctuationshegdisstDollar

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and uses of liquidity

We had £32.3 million and $73.4 million in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectivel
Historically, we have met our liquidityeeds principally from cash balances in banks, cash generated from operadicansh from
issuance of longerm debtand equity Our primary uses of cash wggayments focapital and deferreelxpendituresgosts related
to debt financing and debt servicing and income taxes.

On March 26, 2021, the Company closed a private offerirg8@0.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 8.875%
Notes. The proceeds were used to cash collateralize bank guarantees issued under the SDHL Revolver, repay all outstan
borrowings under the SDHL Revolyeedeem and repurchase all of the outstanding 8.75% Senior Secure@ibtes general
corporate purposes

Restricted cash consists of cash deposits held related to bank guarantees and are recorded according to the maturity
plus expected extensionad renewals as either other current assets or othetdomgassets in the consolidated balance shéats.
of December 31, 2021, we had restricted azs$2.8 million and $.8.1million in other current assets and other ldagn assets,
respectively.As of December 31, 2020, we had restrictadh of $15.5 million and $35 thousand in other current assets and other
long-term assets, respectivelflhe increase in restricted cash as of December 31, 2021 as compared to December 31, 2020, w
due to the ash collateralization of bank guarantees which had been issued under the SDHL Revolver before its termination in Mal
2021. As of December 31, 2020, the Company owed $55.0 million and had issued bank guarantees totaling $2216dwaithen
SDHL Revolver.

At any given time, we may require a significant portion of cash on hand for working capital, capital and deferrec
expenditures and other needs related to the operation of our busiMssnay consider establishing additional financing
arrangemets with banks or other capital provide&ubject in each case to then existing market conditions and to otexpeated
liquidity needs, among other factors, we may use a podiaur existing cash balances anternally generated cash flows to
redwe debt prior to scheduled maturities through debt repurchases, either in the open market or in privately negotiatenstransact
or through debt redemptions or tender offefmy such transactions will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liguidit
requirements, contractual restrictions and other factdfe.may seek to extend our maturities and/or reduce the overall principal
amount of our debt through liability management transactions, which may include exchange offers and/or recapitabzations.
also Material Cash Requirements below.

Going concern assumptionas perOslo Bgrsreporting requirements

The existence of COVIEL9 has caused disruptions to businesses and economic activity gldbedtgin of our contracts
were terminated, shortened or renegotiated in 2020 which has adversely impacted our bAsioeBgcember 31, 2021, we have
adequat cash reserves, significantly enhanced by the sale of the Shelf Drilling Journey in February 2021 and the issuance of
8.875% Notes in March 2021, and we are continuously managing our cash flows and cash forecasts.

As a result of these factors, managerrbelieves that we have adequate liquidity to fund our operations for the next twelve
months, and, therefore, our financial statements have been prepared under the going concern as&ddiidioal. capital and/or
refinancing of our existing debt mée required in the future to meet evolving business needs.
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Discussionof Cashflows for the Year ended December 31, Z0compared to the year ended December 32®0

The following table sets out certain information regarding our castsflmvthe years ended December 31228nd 2@0:

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating actiVities...........cccceeeviiveeeeciiiee e, $ (16,241) $ 54,218
Net cashprovided by / sed in investing activities...........ccccvveeeeeeiee e, 23,568 (88,675
Net cash provided by financing actiVitieS............ccccciiiiieee e, 156,928 95,121
Net increase in cashashequivalentsand restricted cash........ccoooveeiieiiiiieeiviniennnn. $ 164,255 $ 60,664

Net cash(used in) forovided byoperating activities

Net cashused in operatingctivities totaled $6.2million in 2021 compared to net cash provided of $54.2 million 2020.
Thedecreasef $70.4million in cash from operations was primarily dueatdecrease in revenues in 2021 when compared to the
prior year.

During 2@1 and 20, we made cash payments $#6.0 million and $85.2 million in interest and financing charge
respectively, includeth other operating assets and liabilities, néte also made cash payment$d6.7 million and $5.8 million
in income taxes includeid other operating assets and liabilities, net duringlzthd 2@0, respectively.

Net cashprovided by /(used in investingactivities

Net cash provided by investiragtivities totaled $3.6 million in 2021 compared to cash used of $88.7 million in 2020.
The net proceeds from disposal of assets to®8€d4 million in 2021 compared $7.2 million in net proceeds and $15.9 million
in deposits related to rig sales in 20Zhe $16.3million increase was primarily related to the receipt of the remaining proceeds
for the sale of the Shelf Drillindourney, High Island VII, Trident 15, Key Hawaii, Galveston Key and Randolph Yost in 2021 as
compared tgroceeds received for theo rigs divestedluring 2020and deposits received in 2020 for rig sales finalized in 2021

Cash used for capital expenditsitetaled #5.9million and $111.8 million in 2021 and 2020, respectivelhe $5.9
million decrease was primarily due to the acquisitéomd readiness project costs for the Shelf Drilling Enterprise, which was
acquired in 2020 and commenced operations in early 2021.

Net cash provided bfinancing activities
Net cash provided by finangractivitiestotaled$156.9million in 2021 compared t$95.1 million in 2020.

The increasef $61.8 million in cash provided by financing activities was primarily due to an increase in cash proceeds
from the issuance of debt, partially offéstan increase in payments to retire ldagn debt when compared to the prior year.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 20&insisted of $04.1million in proceeds from issuance of the 8.875%
Notes, net of discount, lesg.8 million in debt financing costs, partially offset by cash payments of $80.0 million and $55.0 million
to retire the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes and SDHL Revolver, respectively}.a@mdlon in related debt extinguishment costs.
Net cash provided by financing activitigs 2020 consisted of $80.0 million in proceeds frima issuance of the 8.75% Senior
Secured Notes, less $3.2 million in debt financing costs and a net increase of $20.0 million in borrowings under the &ixétl. Rev
partially offset by $1.6 million in reprchases of common shares.

Capital expenditures and deferred costs

Capital expenditures and deferred costs include fixed asset purchases, investments associated with the cohstructio
newbuild rigs and certain expenditures associated wétjulatory inspections, major equipment overhauls, contract preparation
(including rig upgradgs mobilization and stacked rig reactivatior@apital expenditures and deferred costs can vary from quarter
to-quarter and yeato-year depending upon the réguments of existing and new customers, the number and scopeaftsrrivice
projects, the timing of regulatory surveys and inspections and the number of rig reactiv@@pital additions are included in
property and equipment and are depreciated theeestimated remaining useful life of the assé@sferred costs are included in
other current assets and otheng-term assets on the consolidated balance sheet and are amortized over the relevant perioc
covering: (i) the underlying firm contract period to which the expenditures relate or (ii) the period until the next piianilaed
expenditure is to be made.
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The tablebelow sets out our capital expenditures and deferred costs for the years ended Dece?iBéra®t, 2020 in
thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Regulatory and capital mainteNanBe...........c.cccvivieiiiiiiiecie e $ 67321 $ 44,837
COoNtract PreParatiof) ...........cc.vieeieieiieiie e e et e e e s e et ete e ees 28,710 14,783
Fleet Spares and OthY..............ccuevueiiiieie et sresreestesreeeesreeseesraesassreesresreeans 15,628 6,431
$ 111,659 $ 66,051
RIQ @CQUISITIONSY ......oiiiiiiiee ettt et 1,462 88,331
Total capital expenditure and defer@mbts.............oocueiiiiiiieiei e, $ 113121 $ 154,382

(1) Includes major overhauls, regulatory costs, general upgrades and sustaining capital expenditures.
(2) Includes specific upgrade, mobilization and preparation costs associated with a customer contract.

(3) Includes (i) acquisition and certification costs for the rig fleet spares pool which is allocated to specific rig exgesditiode
when required by that rigvhich will result in an expenditure charge to that rig and a credit to fleet spares and (ii) office and
infrastructure expendituse

(4) Includes capital expenditures and deferred costs associated with the acqaisiti@adiness projects for Shelf Drilling
Enterprise acquired in January 2020 and for two newbuild premiurrujacigs acquired iMay 2019

Capital expenditures and deferredsts werebl1131 million and $1544 million in 2021 and 2@0, respectively. The
decrease of4.3 million was primarily due to the86.9million decrease in rig acquisitions mainly explained B9.% million for
the acquisition and operations readiness of the Shelf Drilling Enterprise in Z0@0was partly offset by36.4 million higher
regulatory, capital maintenance and contract preparationpastarily for one rig in Angolaone rig in Indiaandtwo rigs in Saudi
Arabiaand ®.2million higher spending in fleet sparasd otheiin 2021.

The following table reconciles the cash paytseelated to additions to property and equipmentcaadges in deferred
costs, net to the total capital expenditures and deferred costs for the years ended Dec&tiea’d 2@0 (in thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020

Cashpayments for additions to property and equipment.........ccccoocveeeiiiieeeeniieeen, $ 45,852 $ 111,817
Net change in accrued but unpaid additions to property and equipment............... (5,752) 744

Total CapitaleXPENAITUIES. ... ....ocvvee ittt ee e e e s etae e ereeseaaeeseaeee e $ 40,100 $ 112,561
Changes in deferred COSKERL..........cocoeieiiiiiii s $ 34,091 $ (5,327,
Add: Amortization of deferredostS..........oooieiiiiiiiiie e 38,930 47,148
0]tz |0 (] (ST (=0 o0 1) £ $ 73,021 $ 41,821
Total capital expenditure and defer@mbts.........ccccoceeeiiiiiiiii e, $ 113121 $ 154,382

Material Cash Requirements

In the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual obligations that impact or could impact our liquidit
As of December 31, 2021, our anticipated material cash requirements consisted primarily of payments related to delatrgkrvicing
repaymentspperating costs and expensegerating lease obligationsapital expenditures and deferred casid income tees

As of December 31, 2021, we had a tatdlebtedness of $1.2 billion which related to the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes
and 8.875% NoteslInterest related to each of these note issuances is payablarsamally andrincipalpayments begin in 2024.
See NANdMDebet 011t o our Consol i datlgadke mFi8nardinalnc$tadt eSmern teganeinrt s

As of December 31, 2021, we hagerating lease obligations outstandafgl16.2 million. Se e i NioDebet 01 1t 0 ¢
Consolidated Financial Statementgiin t e m 8 . Financi al Statements and Suppl em

Weroutinely have material spending on capital expenditures and deferred costs to support ourdndinessxpect this
will continue Although certai custom equipment may have long lead tinves,do nottypically commit tosignificantcapital
purchase# advance

We arecurrentlychallenging a tax assessmef$20.2 million, inclusive of interest, penalties and feedated to one of
theCo mp any 6 s . Wehave appealedittse assessment and believe it is more likely than not that we will ultimately prevail
In January 2022, esbegan making requuenonthly taxdepositalculatedover a six year periogklated to thimssessment
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We maintain surety bond facilities in either U.S. dollars or local currencies provided by several banks in India, the Unite
Kingdom, UAE, Nigeria and Thailand, and which may be secured by restricted cash balances to guarantee varidual,contrac
performance and customs obligatiomss of December 31, 202We had$43.6 million in outstandingsurety bond. We do not
currently anticipate making cash payments related to thesty bonds.

Certain financial information of SDL and SDHL

The following tables present certain financial information for SDL and SDHL for the years ended December 31, 202:
2020 and 2019, and certain adjustments to show the differences in this financial information between SDL and SDHL for the
periods. These djustments primarily reflect the preferred shares outstanding at SDL during the year ended December 31, 2018 &
general and administrative costs relating to certain professional expenses that are recorded at SDL and not @&hiSDHL.
information is preseted pursuant to the Indenture for our 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2021
(In thousands)

Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Revenues
Operating reVENUES..........ccveeeeivieeecieeeieeeeeiiee e, $ 515,069 $ - $ 515,069
Other rEVENUES..........cvviieiiiiie e 11,497 - 11,497
526,566 - 526,566
Operating costs and expenses
Operating and maintenance.............ccocevvvvvvvemmreennnnnnn. 323,994 - 323,994
(DT o] (=T o = 11 (0] o S 65,820 - 65,820
Amortization ofdeferred COStS..........cvvvvveeeiiiiiiieeennnes 38,930 - 38,930
General and administrative............cccooeeeiiicieeee e, 46,40 (2,319) 45,088
Losson disposal of assets..........ccccovvviiiiieesceeeeeiinn, 53 - 53
475,204 (1,319) 473,885
Operating INCOME..........uuvuiiiiiei e eeereeeee e 51,362 1,319 52,681
Other (expense) / income, net
INEEreSt INCOME....uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 47 - 47
Interest expense and financing charges...................... (113,124 - (113,124
Other, NEL...oue e 1,548 3 1,551
(111,529 3 (111,526
Loss before income taxes..........cocevvvvvevvivivieemeeeeiiiiinnn, (60,167 1,322 (58,845
INCOME taX EXPENSE. .. ciiiirieeeeiiiiie e eeieent et e eeeeiineeaeens 18,470 - 18,470
Net loss and net loss attributable to common shares... $ (78,637 % 1,322 $ (77,315
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Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021
(In thousands except per share daa

Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents............c.cccooeveveniriiennnns $ 232,315 $ (3503 % 228,812
Accounts and other receivables, B&t...........cccccceeevenn. 136,251 1,617 137,868
Other Current asSetsS.........c.uuuvvvurieiieieireeiiiiiieeieeeeeeeeens 68,080 - 68,080
Total CUMENt ASSEIS....cccciiiiiiiieeeiiiiieeeiiiiee e e s siiieeeens 436,646 (1,886 434,760
Property and equipment.........ccccceeev i iiiiceeeee e, 1,588,062 - 1,588,062
Less accumulated depreciation...............ccvveeeeieaceeennne 555,975 - 555,975
Property and equipment, Net.........cccccveveeeiiiieceenene, 1,032,087 - 1,032,087
Deferred taX aSSeLS.......uuuiiiirrieeeeeiieeiiiiieee e ssiieeeeees 3,241 - 3,241
Other loNGterMasSetS......uuvvviviiieeieeeee e, 145,563 - 145,563
TOtAl ASSELS....viiiiiiieeiciiee e et eeme et e eitae e e eitee e s enbeenee e e $ 1617537 $ (1,886) $ 1,615,651
Liabilities and equity
ACCOUNtS PAYADIB.......cuvvieiiieeeee e $ 68,624 $ 147 3% 68,477
Interest payable.............oueiiieiiiiiceeeiie e 31,565 - 31,565
Accrued iINCOME taXeS.......cocuueviiiiiiieeiieeeiieeeeeee e 4,977 - 4,977
Othercurrent liabilities.............cuuveeiiiiiiiiieeeiieeeeeeee, 53,715 - 53,715
Total current liabilities........ccccoveveeeeeiiiiieeee e, 158,881 (147) 158,734
Longterm debl.......ccccoieieiieeiieeeeeee e 1,192,529 - 1,192,529
Deferred tax liabilities. ... 7,469 - 7,469
Other longterm liabilities..........cccceeeieiieeeiiiiiieee e, 44,987 - 44,987
Totallong-term liabilities...............ccoeeeiiiiiicceecceeee, 1,244,985 - 1,244,985
Commitments and contingencies
ComMMON SNArES ..., 1,371 (1,371 -
Additional paidin capital®..............ccoeeeeeiiiieeie e 1,006,250 (93,663 912,587
Accumulated 10SSEY ...........ccovviveeece e, (793,950 93,295 (700655
LI E= =T [0 SR 213,671 (1,739 211,932
Total liabilities and equity.........ccccooeeeeiiiiiiiiceee e, $ 1617537 $ (1,886) $ 1,615,651

(1) This adjustment primarily relates to legal and accounting fees paid by SDHL on behalf of SDL.
(2) This adjustment reflects the total numbeSob L dutstanding shares @87,115,793vith a par value of $0.01 per share.

(3) This adjustment primarily reflects aga t a | contribution from Shelf Drilling
preferred shares dividends at SDL, partially offset by ordinary shares dividend at SDHLis 100% owned by Shelf Drilling
Mi dc o, Ltd. (AMi dclyowedmhSDc.h is 100% direct

(4) This adjustment primarily relates to the Midco term loan interest expense and financing charges, preferred shares dividen
SDL, ordinary shares dividend at SDHL and certain general and administrative costs incurred at SDL.
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ConsolidatedStatements of Cash flows for year ended December 31, 2021

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
N L 0SS .ot e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net casédin operating
activities
DEPreCiatioN ......cciiii it ee et
Provision for doubtful accounts, net.............ccoeoeiiiiiieeeeenn,
Amortization of deferred revenue............ccocccvveeiveccee e,
Sharebasedcompensation expense, net of forfeitures / Cap
contribution by Parent shalmsed compensatian................
Non-cash loss on debt extinguishment................ccccvvveeeene
Debt extinguishment COSES............cocccciiiiiieeee e
Amortization of debt issueosts premiums and discounts.....
Losson disposal Of 8SSetS.......ccceiiiirieeieeiiee i
Deferred tax eXpense, Net........cccovvviiieeiiecen e
Changes in deferred COStS, NEL........coovvveieeeiiiiiieciieeiieeeeee,
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Intercompany receivablesdpayables, net..............cccuveeeen.
Other operating assets and liabilities, net..........ccccceveeern.

Net cashused inoperating activitieS...........ccceevvvvveeenns

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions toproperty and equipment.........cccccveereereeieeeninnnns
Proceeds from disposal of assets..........coceccvevivieenneiiincccnns

Net cashprovided byinvesting activitieS.........ccccccceeeeen..

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt...........ccccveeeieiieeeiiiniiniinnnnne.

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginnymguof.
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year...

SHELF
DRILLING
Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
$ (78,637 1,322 $ (77,315)
65,820 - 65,820
675 - 675
(15,433 - (15,433)
3,345 (150) 3,195
5,232 - 5,232
4,865 - 4,865
4,670 - 4,670
53 - 53
595 - 595
(34,091) - (34,091)
- (1,504 (1,504)
26,665 343 27,008
(16,241) 11 (16,230)
(45,852 - (45,852)
69,420 - 69,420
23,568 - 23,568
304,054 . 304,054
(80,000 - (80,000)
(55,000 - (55,000)
(4,860 - (4,860)
(7,266 - (7,266)
156,928 - 156,928
164,255 11 164,266
88,963 (3,514 85,449
$ 253,218 $ (3,503 % 249,715
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Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year endedember 31, 2020
(In thousands)

Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Revenues
Operating rEVENUES...........eevuereieeaiieaeseeesieeaseeeeseeeenns $ 570,343 3 - $ 570,343
Other FEVENUES.........coiiiiiiiiiieiieeee s eee e 14,833 - 14,833
585,176 - 585,176
Operating costs andexpenses
Operating and MaintenancCe..........ccccovvvvveveeeeceeeeeennee 341,426 - 341,426
DEPreCIatioN. .....ceeeeiiiiiieeeesiiiieeeiiie e e et e e e s siieeees 69,895 - 69,895
Amortization of deferred COSES.........ccvvvvvieeiiiiiieecinnnns 47,148 - 47,148
General and administrative............c.coooeeiiiiieee e, 45,849 (208) 45,641
Loss on impairment of asSets...........occvvvveeiiiieennnenn, 249,156 - 249,156
Gain on disposal Of aSSeLS........ccveeviiiiiiiieieaeee e (3,601 - (3,601
749,873 (208) 749,665
Operating [0SS.......coicuiiiiieiiiii e (164,697 208 (164,489
Other (expense) / income, net
INtEreSt INCOME. . uiiiiiiiieiiieeiie et a e e e 175 - 175
Interest expense affithancing charges............c.c.cc.uee..., (89,703 - (89,703
Other, NEL.....ciiieiiiiiieee e (939) (8) (947)
(90,467 (8) (90,475
Loss before incCome taxXesS.......cooeeeeeeveeeeevieviemmeeeeiiiiinnnn, (255,164 200 (254,964
INCOME taX EXPENSE....ciiieviireeeiiiiie e ieeer e eee 19,695 - 19,695
Net loss and net loss attributable teommon shares..... $ (274,859 $ 200 $ (274,659
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Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020
(In thousands except per share daa

Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Assets
Cash and casbguivalents.............cccevcveeviienenieiceenens $ 73,408 $ (3,514, % 69,894
Accounts and other receivables, B&t...........ccccceevenen. 129,009 594 129,603
Assets held for sale........ccooeiiiiiiiiiicce 77,075 - 77,075
Other CUIreNt aSSELS........uuuvurirrrierieeeieeainiereiinneeeeeeeeees 56,654 - 56,654
Total CUMTENt @SSEIS.......coovuviiiiieiiiieeniieeee e 336,146 (2,920 333,226
Property and equUipmMeNnt............oocveeeeeeniieeniniiieeeeee s 1,575,114 - 1,575,114
Less accumulated depreciation...............cvveeeieeaceeennne 508,794 - 508,794
Property and equipment, Net...........ccccveeeveiiieeennnnne 1,066,320 - 1,066,320
Deferred tax asSelS........cvuiivviiiiei e 1,958 - 1,958
Other longterm asSetS......ccvvvieeieeeeeiiiiiicceeeieeeeeeeeeeen, 111,929 - 111,929
TOtal ASSELS....uviiiieiie ettt $ 1,516,353 $ (29200 $ 1,513,433
Liabilities and equity
ACCOUNES PAYADIE......ccvviieiiiiee e $ 66,632 $ B 3 66,629
Interest payable.............eeiiiiiiiiceeeie e 29,333 - 29,333
Accrued iINCOME TaXES......ccocuurrriiiriieieieeasiniirebbeeeeeeeeees 4,680 - 4,680
Other currentiabilities ..........cooieviiiiiiiiiiiee e 46,682 - 46,682
Total current liabilities........ccceeeeveieieiiiiieeee e, 147,327 (3) 147,324
Longterm debl......ccccoeeiiiiiiiiiieeee e 1,023,963 - 1,023,963
Deferred tax liabilities..........ooooviiiiiiiiiiie s 5,591 - 5,591
Other longterm liabilities..........cccccceveiiieiiiiiiieee e, 50,509 - 50,509
Total longtermliabilities............covviiiiiieiiiiccccicieeee, 1,080,063 - 1,080,063
Commitments and contingencies
COMMON SNAMED.......coceeiieeecreeecree et e eeeeereeareeas 1,362 (1,362 -
Additional paidin capital®..............cocooeveivi e 1,002,914 (93,528 909,386
Accumulated I0SSEY ...........ocoveiiee e (715,313 91,973 (623,340
QLI £= L =T [0 SRR 288,963 (2,917 286,046
Total liabilities and eqUItY.........ccceeeeveeeiiiiiee e s $ 1,516,353 $ (29200 $ 1,513,433

(1) This adjustment primarily relates to legal and accounting fees paid by SDHL on behalf of SDL.
(2) This adjustment reflects the total number of outstanding shares of 136,223,040 with a par value of $0.01 per share.

(3) This adjustment primarily reflectsacaptab nt r i buti on from Shelf Drilling Inte
preferred shares dividends at SDL, partially offset by ordinary shares dividend at SIDHLis 100% owned by Shelf Drilling
Mi dc o, Ltd. (AMi dcoo)ediwyhSDlch i s 100% directly own

(4) This adjustment primarily relates to the Midco term loan interest expense and financing charges, preferred shares dividen
SDL, ordinary shares dividend at SDHL and certain general and administrative costs incurred at SDL.

48



Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated Statments of Cash flows for year ended December 31, 2020
(In thousands)

N L 0SS .ot e e e e
Adjustments taeconcile net loss to net cash provided by

operating activities

DEPIreCiation.........ccuiiiiiiiiiiie e eceee et

Loss on impairment of assets
Loss on derivative financial instruments, net

Provision for doubtfuhccounts, net

Amortization of deferred revenue.

Sharebased compensation expense, net of forfeitures / Cap
contribution by Parent shal®sed compensation..................
Amortization of debtssue costs and premium.......................

Gain on disposal of assets
Deferred tax expense, net.

Payments for settlement of derivative financial instruments,
Changes irdeferred costs, NEL........cccvvvviiiieiiiiieeeiiiiieeeeeee,

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Intercompany receivables

Net cash provided by operating activities......................
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property and equipment.............ccccvveveeiieneinnns

Deposits related to rig sales, net
Proceeds from disposal of assets

Net cash used imvesting activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of debt

Proceeds from revolving credit facility.............cccccoevvvvieennen.
Repayments of revolving credit facility............c....cccuvverieeneen.

Purchase of common sharf&s.
Ordinary shares dividend pdfd
Payments of debt financing costs

Net cash provided by financing activities......................
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.

(1) This adjustment relates to the repurchase of common shares recorded at SDL level.

2 Thi s

adjust ment

reflects
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Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
(274859 % 200 $ (274,659)
69,895 - 69,895
249,156 - 249,156
334 - 334
2,634 - 2,634
(12,417 - (12,417)
4,169 77) 4,092
3,335 - 3,335
(3,601 - (3,601)
1,182 - 1,182
(334) - (334)
5,327 - 5,327

- (128) (128)

9,397 6 9,403
54,218 1 54,219
(111,817 - (111,817)
15,948 - 15,948
7,194 - 7,194
(88,675 - (88,675)
80,000 - 80,000
75,000 - 75,000
(55,000 - (55,000)
(1,639 1,639 -
- (3,000 (3,000)
(3,240; - (3,240)
95,121 (1,361 93,760
60,664 (1,360 59,304
28,299 (2,154 26,145

$ 88,963 $ (3514  $ 85,449

the ordinary shares dividend
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Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019

(In thousands)

Shelf Drilling,

Shelf Drilling

Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Revenue
Operating rEVENUES...........ceiuieiieeeiirereesieeesieeesieeeneeee e $ 561,295 $ - $ 561,295
Other FEVENUES.........coiiiiiiiiiieiieeee s eeeenas 14,858 - 14,858
576,153 - 576,153
Operating costs and expenses
Operating and maintenance............cccccuvvvvvveeeeiicecnnnnnns 366,715 - 366,715
DePreciation..........ooiiiiieiiiiiiiieees e eea e 82,503 - 82,503
Amortization of deferred COSES.........cccvvvviviiiiiiieinianns 75,305 - 75,305
General and administrative..........cooooeviiiiiiiccceeeeeeeee, 50,773 (135) 50,638
Loss on impairment of aSSets...........eeevevviiiiiieccceninnnen. 57,986 - 57,986
Gain on disposal Of aSSELS........cceeviiiviiieieiaeee i (905) - (905)
632,377 (135) 632,242
Operating [0SS.....c.coiiiuiiiiie it ieeei e (56,224) 135 (56,089)
Other (expense) / income, net
INEEreSt INCOME.....uiiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt 1,138 - 1,138
Interest expense and financing charges..............c........ (80,708) - (80,708)
Other, NEL.....ueiiiiiiiiieee e e (763) (11) (774)
(80,333) (11) (80,344)
Loss before inCome taxXes.......ceeeveeeeeeeieeiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeiinennnn (136,557) 124 (136,433)
INCOME taX EXPENSE. . cciiiviiieiieeiiie e eeeer et eeenen, 12,979 - 12,979
Net lossattributable to common shares.............ccoee..n..... $ (149,536) $ 124 $  (149,412)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019

(In thousands except per share daa

Shelf Drilling,

I I SHELF

DRILLING

Shelf Drilling

Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.
Assets
Cash andtash equivalents............cccocoeeveeieeeeeieee e, $ 26,055 $ (2,154) $ 23,901
Accounts and other receivables, B&t...........cc..ccecvennneee. 154,834 466 155,300
Assets held for sale.......cccovieiiiiiiiecc, 1,583 - 1,583
Other CUIENt @SSELS......uuvuurieriieeieeiieiaeerieieeieeeeeeeeaeaaaaaeens 68,787 - 68,787
Total CUMTeNt aSSEIS........covuviiiiieeiiiieeeiieee e 251,259 (1,688) 249,571
Property and equipment..........ccooooieiiiiiiiiene e 1,775,678 - 1,775,678
Less: accumulated depreciation............cccccoveuvvvieecenenen. 478,694 - 478,694
Property and equipment, NeL........ccccceeeeeeeieiiicceeeeen. 1,296,984 - 1,296,984
Deferred taX aSSeLS.......cuiviviiiiiiiee et 2,732 - 2,732
Otherlong-term assets...........cccuvieiieeeeeiieiiiiiiieeeeeeeea e 149,070 - 149,070
TOtal ASSELS....vvieiivieeeeteie et $ 1,700,045 $ (1,688) $ 1,698,357
Liabilities and equity
ACCOUNES PAYADIE......cveiiiiiiee et eeeeiie e, $ 79,236 $ (91) $ 79,145
Interestpayable..............eeiiiiiiiiceeei e 28,245 - 28,245
Accrued iINCOME TaXES.......cooeiiiiiiiiiiiiineere e siieiienes 5,029 - 5,029
Other current liabilities............ccccuvviiiiiiiieei 41,455 - 41,455
Total current liabilitieS.......ccccoveeeeeiiiiiiieeeeeeeee, 153,965 (91) 153,874
Longterm debl.........cooooeiiiiiiiieeee e 924,540 - 924,540
Deferred taxiabilities. ..o 5,183 - 5,183
Other longterm liabilities............ccccoeviieiieiiiieeei e 54,907 - 54,907
Total longterm liabilities.............ccoeeeiiiiiieiiieeeee e 984,630 - 984,630
Commitments and contingencies
COMMON SNANES ... ..ot e 1,366 (1,366) -
Additional paid-in capital®...............cocoeeeeiericeeeeee, 1,000,298 (92,004) 908,294
Accumulated other comprehensive income................... 240 - 240
Accumulated 10SSEY ...........ocveveeeieiee e (440,454) 91,773 (348,681)
LI t= L= U Y R 561,450 (1,597) 559,853
Total liabilities and €qUItY.........cccoveviieiiiie e $ 1,700,045 $ (1,688) $ 1,698,357

(1) On February 21, 201%ve announced the signing of definitive agreements with affiliates of China Merchants to acquire two
newbuild CJ46 rigs and bareboat charter a further two with options to buy one or both through the initial contractreem of th
years. This adjustment marily relates to legal and accounting fees paid by SDHL on behalf of SDL.

(2) This adjustment reflects the total number of outstanding shares of 136,643,239 with a par value of $0.01 per share.

(3) This adjustment primarily reflects a capital contributionférh el f Dr i | 1 i ng I nter medi at e, L
preferred shares dividends at SDL, partially offset by ordinary shares dividend at SDHLis 100% owned by Shelf Drilling
Midco, Ltd. (AMidcoo) which is 100% directly owned by ¢

(4) This agustment primarily relates to the Midco term loan interest expense and financing charges, preferred shares dividend:
SDL, ordinary shares dividend at SDHL and certain general and administrative costs incurred at SDL.
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Consolidated Statements @fash flows for year ended December 31, 2019
(In thousands)

SHELF
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Cash flows from operating activities

Adjustments to reconcile net lossrtet cash used in operating
activities

Gain on derivative financial instruments, net...........ccco.o........
Reversal of doubtful accounts, net.........cccccoeviiiiiiccecene e
Amortization of deferred revenue............cccccovvviiieecinee e,
Sharebased compensation expense, net of forfeitures / Capi
contribution by Parent shalmsed compensatiéh..................
Amortization of debt issue costs and premium......................
Gain on disposal Of aSSELS.........c..uuvvuiieieieeieeeiinieerieereeeeeeeeeeas
Deferred tax eXpense, NeL.......ccc.uuvueiiiiiiiieeeecieeieeeeeeeee e
Proceeds from settlement of derivative financial instruments
Changes in deferred cOSts, net.......cccvvvviviiiiiieeeeiiiiiiieee
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Intercompany receivablél................cccceiiiieeereieeeceee
Other operating assets and liabilities, Bet.............c.ccoeune...

Net cash used in operating activities.............ccceeveerneee.

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property andquipment..........ccccvvvveiiiiiiieeniieienns
Proceeds from disposal of aSSeLs........ccccuvveriiiriieeniissiiiiininnns

Net cash used in investing activities............cccccooevvieees

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from revolving credit facility............cccccceevviiieennnnn
Purchase of common Shafds............ccccceevveiiiieeeieccee e
Payments of common shares issuance €0sts........................
Ordinary shares dividend pafl..............cccccovevieiviemieceeienenn,
Payments of debt financing COStS..........coccvvveiiiinccn i,

Net cash used ifinancing activities...........cccccoeccvveeeeriace

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted.cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning af .y¢

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year...

Shelf Drilling, Shelf Drilling
Ltd. Adjustments Holdings, Ltd.

$ (149,536 $ 124 $ (149,412
82,503 - 82,503

57,986 - 57,986
(284 - (284
(232 - (232,
(6,284 - (6,284

1,536 (87) 1,449

2,700 - 2,700
(905! - (905,

1,038 - 1,038

284 - 284
(4,940 - (4,940

- 434 434

3,266 (872) 2,394
(12,868 (401) (13,269
(91,391 - (91,391

8,359 - 8,359
(83,032 - (83,032

35,000 - 35,000

(2,866 2,866 -

(623 623 -
- (5,000 (5,000
(147 - (147

31,364 (1,511 29,853
(64,536 (1,912 (66,448

92,835 (242) 92,593

$ 28,299 $ (2,154 % 26,145

(1)

(2
ended December 31, 2019.

®3)

preparation of SDL financial statemts.

(4)

(5) This adjustment relates to the issuanc@&769,230 neweommon shares on M&@; 2019 to China Merchants related to the

acquisition of two premium newbuild Gd4ackup rigs

6) This adjustment reflects t
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This adjustment relates to the repurchase of common shares recorded at SDL level.

nary

This adjustment primarily relates to shdn@sed compensation expense recorded at SDL level.

shares

This adjustment primarily relates to settlement ofitlkercompany receivable balance between SDL and SDHL during the year

The adjustment relates to certain professional service expenses, including accounting fees incurred in connection with

di vidend
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
Contingent liabilities

Themajority of thecontingent liabilitieghatwe areexposed to relate to legaoceedingscertain contractual and customs
obligations secured by surety bonds and bank guaraateksncertain tax positionsSeefiNote100 | nc o me T @Notes 0
13 8 Commitments and Contingencies$o our Consolidated Financial Statementsfitem 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Dafa As of December 31, 21, we are not exposed to any contingent liabilities #matexpected to result in a
material adverse effect amur consolidated finacial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Derivative Instruments

The Boardof Directorshas approved policies and procedures for derivative instruments that require the appoaval of
Chief Financial Officer prior to entering into any derivative instrumeRtem time to timeye may chooseo enter into a variety
of derivative instrumentis connection with the managemeniofr exposure to fluctuations in interest atnd currency exchange
rates.Wedo not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes; howevaay enter into certain transactions that do
not meet the dteria for hedge accounting

Off-balance Sheet Financing
We had no off-balance sheetrrangementduring the yearendedDecember 312021 and 2@0.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based aposatidatedinancial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GARP.preparation ofhe consolidatedinancial statementm
accordance with GAAPequires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,diabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date afahsolidatedfinancial statements antthe reported amounts of
revenus and expenseduring the reporting periodCertain accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties to such an
extent that there is a reasonable likelihood that materially different amounts could have beenurgdertdififerent conditions, or
if different assumptions had been usétle evaluate our estimates and assumptionsreguarbasis. We base our estimates on
historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable cinclenttances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparéetr from ot
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions usieelgrepaation of ourconsolidatedinancial
statements.

We identify our critical accountingolicies as those that are significant to our results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows and that require maesigaesmanidgédnentsimorsatters thatfré i ¢
inherently uncertain.We believe that our more critical accounting policies inclteleenue recognitiomgperating expenses and
deferred costqroperty and equipmerdssets held for salksases andnpairment of longived assets

Our significant accounting policies are includedfidote 27 Si gni fi cant Accounting Pol
Financial Statements filtem 8. Financial Statements aBdpplementary Daéa

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when control of a good or service promised in a contract is transferred to a custor
Control is obtained when a customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain sllystdindif the remaining benefits from
that good or service. The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers and thgse timin
differences result in receivables, contract assets or contract liabilities, as appropoiat t he Company 6s cons

The Companyds services provided wunder each contract
comprised of a series of distinct time increments or service periods in which we providesseNariable consideration is only
recognized as revenues to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur during the conthatterrm.
determining if variable consideration should be recognized, management considdrsrwhete are factors outside of the
Companyés control that could resul't in a significanial r e\
reversal of revenue. A description of our principal revenue generating activitiesfalievas:

Operating Revenues

A significant portion of the Company6s revenues is ge
to its customers for the provisiai services related tdrilling, completion, maintenance adgcommissioning of oil and natural
gas wells The Companyd6s contracts with customers contain mul

vary based on the actual operations. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer dhe d@pézanined based on the varying rates
applicable to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Variable consideration generally relates to distnoeseds
during the contract term and is recognizedhia period when services arerfprmedto the extent it is probable that a significant
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revenue reversal will not occuWe have applied the disclosure practical expedieAttounting Standards Codificatigni AS C 0 )
606-10-50-14(b) and have not disclosed variable consideration refatenaining unsatisfied performance obligations.

The Company may earn lurgum fees relating to contract preparation, capital upgrades and mobilization in certain
contracts, which are typically invoiced at the commencement or initial phase of thecofii@se activities are not considered to
berevenue generating activitidsstinctfrom the performance of services under the contrBiserefore suchrevenues are recorded
as a contract liability and amortized on a straigte basis over the firmantract term.Certain customers may also make advance
payments of dayrate revenues, which are deferred and recognized when the related dayrate services aré&pfavitiéebs for
contract preparation, capital upgrades and mobilizatimhadvance payents from customers for future services are recorded as
contract liabilities inother current liabilities and other lostgrm liabilities, as appropriate, in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company may earn luagum fees relating toontract demobilization, which are typically invoiced at the end of the
contract and may contain provisions stipulating conditions that must be present for such revenues to be Téee@ethpany
assesses the likelihood of receiving this revenue basgdiar experience and knowledge of market conditions and other factors.
Demobilization fees are recorded when it is unconditional and probabthehatvill not be a material cumulative revenue reversal,
which typically occurs near the end of the cantrterm. Once the recognition criteeiee met, thedemobilization revenues are
recorded as operating revenues over the remaining firm contract term and a contract asset is recorded for any reveede recog
prior to invoicing.

Many contracts have teination and/or extension options which can be exercised at the option of the customer. In certai
cases, the Company can charge an early termination fee if a contract is terminated by the customer. Termination revenue:
typically billed after a termiation notice is received from a customer or activity related to a contract ceases. Termination revenue
are typically recognized as revenues when bidlad it is probable that revenues will not be reversed. Revenues related to an
extension option are pycally accounted for as a contract modification as a separate contract.

Other Revenues

Other revenues consist of amounts billed for goods and services such as catering, additional egugpesbnnel,
consumables or accommodations. Twmwmpany may use third parties for the provision of such goods and servidgeménts
involved in identifying the performance obligationghesecustomer contracts and determining whether the Company is a principal
or an agent in the provision of ¢ain equipment and consumables to the custorfbe Companyenerallyis considered to be a
principal in revenue transactions when it obtains control of a good or service before it is transferred to the custd@oenpdrne
typically acts as a principah the provision of catering, accommodation services, additional personnel and the provision of
additional equipmenand consumabledirectly used to providéntegratedservices to the customeihe Company generally acts
as an agent in the provisionather equipment and consumabiesthe customer

Operating Costs and Expenses and Deferred Costs

Operating costs and expenses are generally recognized when incurred. Certain expenditures associated with con
preparation, mobilization, regulatory inspections and major equipment overhauls are recorded as deferred costs innbther cur
assets or tier longterm assets, as appropriate, ondbesolidated balance sheets

Deferred contract costs include certain contract preparation and upfront mobilization expenditures for rigs entering bindil
services contracts. Such costs gemerallyconsiderec ost s t o ful f il the Companyds fut
related contract and are therefore deferred and amortized on a diregbasis over the firncontract term. Certain deferred
contractcostsare related to contractually required inspecti@m] such costs are amortized on a strdigbtbasisover the time
period until the next scheduled inspecti@eeNote 4i RevenuesContract Liabilities and Deferred Contract Castsl Allowance
for Credit Losses Demobilization costs which are incurred at the end of a contract and costs associated with rig preparation and
mobilization of without a firm contract are expensed as incurred.

Non-contractual deferred costs includests of inspectionismcurred to obtain regulatory certifications to operate the rigs
and periodic major overhauls of equipment. Regulatory certifications, inclGding c i a | Periodic Surveys
Inspections in Lieuof Dd o ¢c ki ng ( fald défetrdd andl pmortized on a straigte basis over the time period until the
next survey or inspection, generally 30 to 60 monPatiodic major overhauls are deferred and amortized on a stliaiglttasis
over a period of five years.

Property ard Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is initially stated at cdsxpenditures for additions, includiragher costs necessary to bring the
asset to the condition and location necessary for its intended use, improvements and substantial enhamceayEtaizad.
Routine expenditures for minor replacements and repairs and maintenance that do not increase the functionality oadigeif the
are expensed as incurre@onstruction in progress includes interest capitalized during the period ofassetiction for qualified
assets if the construction is expected to take one year or longer and the amount of interest is material. Whenpleadsatdas
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service, it is transferred from construction in progress to the appropriate categonpropaty and equipment. Property and
equi pment is subject to periodic i mphivemdnAsstessdonhbehswd

Depreciation commences when an asset is placed into service or is substantially complete and ready for its intended |
Depreciation is computed using the strailyi method, after allowing for salvage value where applicable, over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are recorded as component of property and ejuipmen
are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining expected lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvaments. |
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount shall be depreciated over the remaining useful life of that asset.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Years
0 TP 30
EQUIPMENT BN SPAIES......eeeiiiiitiie ettt emmmneee ekt e e st e e e ettt e e aab e e e e anbb et e e e anbbeeeeeennnes 9-13
201 o1 Lo P PSP PP P PP 30
(01 1= TP P PP PPPP PP 3-5

The Company periodically reviews and adjusts, as appropriate, the remaiefinigiues and salvage values of rigs when
certain events occur that directly impact such estimates. This includes changes in operating condition, functiongl aagbabilit
market and economic factor£On December 31, 2021, the Company had a changecouating estimate, which resulted in a
change in the useful l'ives of 12 rigs. This changteeyahi d
ended December 31, 2021.

Theremaining st i mated average usef ul l'ife of exi22Alisligears.i gs

When assets are sold, retired or otherwlisposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are written off, net of
any proceeds received, and any gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations.

Assets Held for Sale

Property and equipment is reclassified astalsskl for sale when (a) there is a committed plan to sell the thedes
unlikely to be subject to significant changes or termination, (b) the asset is available for immediate sale, (c) airtibatedrte
complete the sale, including an active program to locate a buyer, (d) the sale is expecteuripleted wiin one year and (e)
the asset is being actively marketed at a price that is reasonable relative to its fairAssiets. held for sale arecorded at the
lower of carrying value or fair value less estimated costs toasellaresubject to periodic imgirment testing as discussed in
Al mpair me-chivedl Aessgtso bel ow.

Leases

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveygffiteto control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange foconsideration.The Compay hasmade an accounting policy electitmpresent the lease and associatedlease
operations as a single componbased upon the predominant componérmase classification as shaerm lease, operating lease
or finance lease is made at fease inceptionThe Company consideall relevant contractual provisions, including renewal and
termination options, to determine the term of the led&enewal or termination options that are reasonably certain of exercise by
the lesseand those conblled by the lessor aiiecluded indeterminingthe lease termThe Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise the Qat@atsoNote 81 Leases.

ShortTerm Leases

The Company made actcounting policy election not to recognize a rightise asset and lease liability for shiatm
leasewith an initial term of 12 months or less, therefore these leases are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheests. Exp
for shortterm lease are recognized on a straigime basis over the lease tetrmdereitheroperating and maintenance expenses
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations

The Company as a Lessee

The Company recognizes lease lidigis and rightof-use assets for all operating and finance lefgeshich it is a lessee
at the lease commencement ddtease liabilities are initially recognized at the present value diutiee lease payments during
the expected lease term usilgeg i nt er est rate implicit in the | ease, i f
borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are recorded, according to the payment dates as other current liabilities and -t¢her long
liabilities in the consotlated balance sheets. For any contract considered predominantly a leaseledsearomponents are
included in the initial measurement of the lease liabilfjnance lease and operating lease liabilities are recorded separately. The
right-of-use asset is initially recognized at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease pajenents m
at or before the commencement date, legdease incentives received and any initial direct costs incurred by the Company. Right
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of-use assets are recorded as other-tenm assets in the consolidated balance sh&tssequent to initial recognition, the right
of-use asset iseflectednet d amortization. Rightof-use assets are subject to periodic impairment testing as discussed in
Al mpair me-bht vefl A9 s €ost togdl &léased asset to the condition and location necessary for its intended us
are capitalized as leasehatdprovements.

The Company remeasui¢s lease liabiliteswith a corresponding adjustment to the rigfilse asset due to an applicable
change in lease payments such as those due to a lease modification not accounted for as a separaerzontcaeinges in the
expected term of the lease, and certain gharin assessments and contingencigdge Company has made an accounting policy
election to account for lease concessions related to the effects of the dO\fiBndemicas though enforceable rights and
obligations for those concessions existed indhginal leasecontract and, therefore, the Company will not account for these
concessions as lease modificatioiifie Companys insteadaccountingor rent reductions as a negative variable lease payment in
the period in which that payment would havecome due ands accountingfor temporary rent deferrals as a shierm lease
payable until the amount becomes due and payable.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the operating lease liabilitycieased for thanterestcomponent of the lease liability
and reduced by the lease payments mddperating lease expenses are recognized single lease cash a straightine basis
over the lease termwhich includes the interest component of the measurement of the |dsliy bad amortization of the right
of-use asset.Operating lease expenses are recognized based on the type of leaseddasséheroperating and maintenance
expensesr general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operation

Finance lease expenses are recognized separately in the consolidated statements of operdtieristevéht expense on
the lease liabilityrecorded under interest experse the amortization of the rightf-use asset recorded lbased on the type of
leased assetndereitheroperating and maintenance expermageneral and administrative expenses

The Company as a Lessor

The Companyds contract s wientdrelated te theounderlyisg rigsand ecuipnment,lineaddiica
to service components of labor and expertise to operate the rig and equipment. The service component of operating a ri
predominant in the Company6s nsdonitsregenuessfrom dortracts with oustemers astservice ¢
revenues with a single performance obligation. 5&e venue Recognitiond above.

Impairment of LongLived Assets

The Company evaluates property and equipment,-afihise assets and other leliged assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment imdicators
include chages in the general economic and business environment, industry specific indicators, Company specific factors
conditions related to a specific asset or asset group. An impairment loss on an asset or asset group is recordedimbaézdthe es
undiscoungd future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carry
amount . Any actual i mpairment | o0oss recognized repiuesent

The Company estimates the fair values of property and equipmentpfigbe assets, deferred costs and other-lwmeg
assets to be held and used by applying a combination of income and market approaches, using projected cash flowssand esti
of the exhange price that would be received for the assets in the principal or most advantageous market for the assets in an ort
transaction between mar ket participants as of the noeraes ur e
approach is based on estimated cash flows expected to be realized from the use of the assets. Asset impairmentmeydlyations ¢
nature, highly subjective. The critical estimates are significant unobservable inputs, which are based on numerossedtimate
assumptions about future operations and market conditions including but not limited to those such as projected rig, utilizatic
dayrates, operating, overhead and major project costs, remaining useful life, salvage value and discount ratecst inéhtasc
assumptions. The Company estimates the fair values of assets held for sale based on the expected sale price lesstsdiimated c
sell, which can include significant unobservable inputs. These assumptions are considertuming levé 3 fair value
measurements.

New Accounting Pronouncements
SeefiNote 3 7 Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronounceméatshe ConsolidatedFinancial Statements

included infiltem 8. Financial Statemenémd Supplementary Datdor a discussioron recently adopted and issued accounting
pronouncements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to various market risks, including liquidity risk, interest rajéaiisign currencyisk and credit risk.
Liquidity risk

We manage our liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash resangedebfacilities, and by continuously monitoring
our actualind forecastash flows and by matching the matupiyfiles of financial assets and liabilitieden possible

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk related to the fixed rate debt un8&5%Senior UnsecureNotesand theB.875%
Notes Fixed rate debt, where the interestriate f i xed over the I ife of the instrum
one year, exposals to changes in market interest rates if and when maturing debt is refinanced with new debt.

We have in the past and may in the future utilize isterate swaps to manage differenoeshe amount, timing and
duration of the Companydés known or expected cash paymenf
maintain documented policies and procedures to monitor and control tlé degvative instrument.We are not engaged in
derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

Ourinternational operations expogsto currency exchange rate riskhis risk is primarily associated with compensation
costs of employeeand purchasing costs from nthS. suppliers, which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. We donot haveany nonU.S. dollardebtand thus are n@xposed to currency risk related to debt.

Our primary currency exchange rate risk management strategy involves strucent@igcustomer contracts to provide
for payment from the customer in both U.S. dollars and local currefbg. payment portionehominated in local currency is
based on anticipated local currency requirements over the contractDerento various factors, including customer acceptance,
local banking laws, other statutory requirements, local currency convertibility and the ohpélettion on local costs, actual local
currency needs may vary from those anticipated in the customer contracts, resulting in partial exposure to currencyag&change
risk. The currency exchange effect resulting froar international operations ha®t historically had a material impact oour
operating results.

Further, we have in the past and may in the future utilize foreign currency forward exchange doritractsr e x ¢ o n t
to manage portion offoreign exchange risk, for which weaintain documented poi&sand procedures to monitor and control
the use of the derivative instrumen@ur forex contracts generally require us to net settle the spread between the contracted foreig
currency exchange rate and the spot rate on theaobfixing date.We are not engaged in derivative transactions for speculative
or trading purposes.

Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that potentially subjasto concentrations of credit risk are cash and cash equivalesiiscted
cashand accounts receivabled/e generally maintain cash and cash equivalantsrestricted casit commercial anks with high
credit ratings.

Our tradereceivables are with eariety ofgovernment owned or controlled energy companies, pubigthd integrated
oil companier independenéxploration and production companied/e perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers,
and generally do naequirematerial collateral We may from timeto-time requireour customer¢o makeanadvance payment or
issuea bank guarantdketter of creditin our favor to covetthe risk ofnon-payment undeour contracts.

We determineour expected credit losses four pools of assets with similar risk characteristics based on historical loss
information as adjusted for future expectatioAdlowance for credit lossesas 8.2 million and £.6 million as of December 31,
2021 and 2@0, respectively.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Consolidatedrinancial Statements asf December 312021 can be found in the Eibits section pages-Eto F-42.

Item 9. Changes andDisagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None
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[ltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

We are not required to repdahts Item.

Item 9B. Other Information .
None
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspctions.

Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The following table sets forth information concerning our executive officers and directors, includmggibe as of
December 312021:

Name Age as of December 31, 202 Position

Ernie Danner 67 Chairman of the Board

David Mullen 63 Director and Chief Executive Officer

JohnK. Castle 81 Director

J. William Franklin, Jr. 50 Director

Dongyang Lou 45 Director

David B.Pittaway 70 Director

John Reynolds 51 Director

Benjamin Sebel 51 Director

Usama Trabulsi 76 Director

David Williams 68 Director

William Hoffman 61 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Gregory OO6Bri 35 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
lan Clark 62 Executive Vice President
Directors

Ernie Danner, Chairman of the Board

Mr. Danner joined our board of directors in October 2013 and has served as Chairmd@vef ttsnce November 2018.
Since January 2018 Mr. Danner has served as an Operating Partner of SCF Partners, a private equity firm focused en oil se
investments, which he joined in October 20Currently Mr. Danner serves as Chairman of the board of directors of Nine Energy
Service, Inc., a NYSE listed company providing completion services to oil and gas producers in North America and Chairman
the board of directors of BCCK Engineering, Inc, a private company that designs, fabricates and installs natural gag proces:
plants in North America.Mr. Danner also serves as Chairman of the board of directors of Pipeline Plastics LLC, a manufacturer ¢
HDPE pipe.Mr. Danner served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Exterran Holdings Inc. from July 2009 to October 201
and as a member of its board of directors from 1998 to October 204 Also served as President, Chief Executive Officer and a
director of Exterran GP LLC the general partner of Exterran Partners L.P. Exterran was a global leader in natural ga®ieompres
products and services and a provider of equipment and solutions for processing, production, air emissions and wateotreatme
the energy sector with over 10,000 employees with operations in 30 courtfiedanner has a Masters of Accounting and
Bachelor of the Arts degree from Rice University.

David Mullen, Director& Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Mullen has overBy ear s6 experience in the oil services busi
October 2012.Since April 2018, Mr. Mullen has served as an Independent Director of Subsea Fr8m.September 2010 to
April 2011, Mr. Mullen was CEO of Wellstream Holdings PLC, a UK listed company that designed and manufactured subse
pipeline products and included as part of the product offering, subsea services and inst&ltatioi\pril 2008 6 August 2010,
Mr. Mullen served as Chief Executive Officer of Ocean Rig ASA, a Norwegian listeedéléna water drilling contractoPrior to
Ocean Rig ASA, Mr. Mullen also spent four years as a senior leader of TransoceaAsL&knior Vice Presiderdf Global
Marketing, Business Development and M&A at Transocean Ltd., Mr. Mullen spearheaded marketing and strategic planning.
Mullen had a 23sear career at Schlumberger, including as President of Qilfield Services for North and South Akfreridallen
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received a B.A. in Geology & Physics from Trinity College Dublin and an M.Sc. degree in Geophysics from University College
Galway.

John K. Castle, Director

Mr. Castle joined our board of directors in November 28aé has served as Chairman of M@mination Committee
since February 2019Mr. Castle has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Castle Harlasindecl987 and as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Branford Castle, Inc since 188#r to forming Castle Harlannt., Mr. Castle was
President and Chief Executive of investment banking firm Donaldson, Lufkin & JenretteMmcastle is a board member of
various private equity companies, and he has previously been a director of numerous private and publicscéfepaageserved
as a Director of the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the WB. Castle is a Life Member of the Corporation of the
Massachusetts Institute of Technolo@reviously, he had served for 22 years as a Trustee of New York Medical College, including
11 of those years as Chairman of the bodvd. Castle is a Trusteedn Chai r man of the Executive
Cathedral in New York City and is a member of the Finance Coahtile Archdiocese of New YorkFrom 2000to 2018, Mr.
Castle was a Director of Castle Harlan Australian Mezzanine PartnersdPandiia Director of CHAMP Group Holdings Pty Ltd.

He has served on various visiting committees at Harvard University, including the Harvard Business ich@aktle received
his Bachelorés degree from t he Masas aRakeuS3clolartwith High Bidtinction ftom o
Harvard University, and has four Honorary Doctorate Degrees of Humane Letters.

J. William Franklin, Jr., Director

Mr. Franklin joined our board of directors in September 28 has served as Chairmarited Compensation Committee
since May 2020He joined Lime Rock Partners in 2003 and was named a Managing Director inQ@@8ntly based in Houston,
Mr . Franklin has worked in the firmds Hous tayeda leadesshipgraleiry ,
the firmds investment efforts in the oilfield servialye an
Before joining Lime Rock Partners, he had experience in private equity, energy company opexatioesergy finance at
Riverstone Holdings from 2000 to 2003, Simmons & Company International from 1996 to 1998, and Parker & Parsley Petrolel
Company from 1995 to 1996Mr. Franklin currently serves on the board of directors of AccesseESP, Arsenal ¢&=sgkralyne
and OIISERV. He previously served on a number of the boards of private equity backed oil and gas related corHpaisies.
graduate of the University of Texas at Austin (B.A., B.B.A.) and Harvard Business School (M.B.A.).

Dongyang LouDirector

Mr. Lou joined our board of directors in August 2020 and is currently Chairman anexéontive Director of CMIC
Ocean ErATech Holding Co., Ltd. since April 201&le i s al so the Chief Financi al of f
Holdings Co., Ltd.Mr. Lou served as an engineer in the Chemical Engineering Office of the Institute of Standardization of Nuclea
Industry and as secretaggneral for the National Technical Committee for Standardization of Radioisotopes from July 1997 to
Octoler 2001, as an engineer in the Planning Department in China Isotope Company from October 2001 to August 2003, &
specialist of the board of supervisors for Key Large Statmed Enterprises under the State Council from August 2003 to August
2004, as depy head of the board of supervisors for Key Large Stateed Enterprises under the State Council from September
2008 to September 2012, as an assistant to the department director of the intellectual property administrative deg@rinaent of
Merchants Gsup Li mited (ACM Groupodo) from September 2012 to Ma
finance department (intellectual property department) of CM Group from May 2015 to October 2015, and as a deputy departm
director of the financdepartment (intellectual property department) of CM Group from October 2015 to NovembeN2OLdu
obtained a bachel orb6s degree in applied chemistry ftioom P
also from Peking Univeaity in 2002.

David B. Pittaway, Director

Mr. Pittaway joined our board of directors in July 200 Pittaway is Vice Chairman and Senior Managing Director of
Castle Harlan and has been with the firm since its founding in 1®&a. to joining Castle Harlan, Mr. Pittaway was Vice President
for Strategic Planning and Assistant to the President ofaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc.Before joining DLJ, he was a
management consultant in strategic planning with Bain & Company in Boston, Mass., and previously was an attorney with Morg:
Lewis & Bockius, specializing in labor relationkle is a board meber of Caribbean Restaurants, LLC and has also served on the
boards of multiple other Castle Harlan portfolio companies, including American Achievement Corporation, Statia Termipals Grot
N. V., Mortonds Restaur ant GHeabpseraen as VidenGhdirmah of Beahfard Castld, led. ang s
Branford Chain, Inc.He is also currently a board member of The Cheesecake Factoriinc. Pi tt away6s com
include being dormerdirector of the Dystrophic Epidermolysis Bullosa Research of Ametitaddition, he served for twenty
years in the United States Army Reserve and, upon retiring as a Majorfthenced and acts as a director of the Armed Forces
Reserve Family Assistae Fund, which provides needed support for families of American service members whose breadwinnel
are serving their country in overseas conflidie is a graduate of the University of Kansas (B.A. with Highest Distinction), and
has both an M.B.A. witlligh Distinction (Baker Scholar) and a Juris Doctor degree from Harvard University.
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John Reynolds, Director

Mr. Reynolds joined our board of directors in September 2012 andf@inder and a Managing Director of Lime Rock
Partners.He joined Goldman&hs in 1992 and spent six years in the Investment Research Department where he had senior anal
responsibility for global oil service sector research and was one of tiratézpanalysts in the sectdre cefounded Lime Rock
Partners in 1998Based n West port, Connecticut, Mr. Reynolds | eads t
service sector.He previously served on the board of directors of ArcBémckjewel, Eastern Drilling, EnerMech, Hercules
Offshore, IPEC, Noble Roébtrd Drilling, Patriot Drilling, Revelation Energy, Roxar, Sensa, Tercel Qilfield Products, Tesco
Corporation, Torch Offshore, and VEDCO Holdingelr. Reynolds is a graduate of Bucknell University (B.A.) and serves as a
member of its Board of Trustees.

Benjamin Sebel, Director

Mr. Sebel joined our board of directors in November 20H2.is a Senior Advisor to Branford Castle Partners and was
most recently a Managing Director at CHAMP Private Equity, having been with the firm from 2005 untill2@diately prior,
Mr. Sebel was a Managing Director at Castle Harlan for seven years, and is experienced in all aspects of private ¢upeity inves
including deal origination, realizations and fundraising in both the United States and Ausinatiediatelyprior to joining Castle
Harlan, Mr. Sebel worked at Goldman Sachs & Co. in its Capital Markets GRyapiously, Mr. Sebel spent two years as Special
Advisor to the Hon. Nick Greiner AC, a former premier of New South Wales, and commenced his cdreeManagement
Consulting Services Group of PricewaterhouseCoopers (Australia), where he also qualified as a Chartered AddouBdodl
is currently Chairman of Rocking Horse Finance Group, Chairman of Gerard Lighting &rdaplnvestment Committellember
at Commencer CapitaMr. Sebel was formerly on the board of Riverina Fresh Pty. Ltd., ATF Services, Centric Wealth Limited,
Healthcare Australia Holdings Pty Limited, Study Group Pty Limited, United Malt Holdings, lon TnackAssociated Packaging
Technologies, Inc., Equipment Support Services, Inc. and AdobeAir,NincSebel holds a Bachelor of Commerce (First Class
Honours) from the University of New South Wales, an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School, aradlisséegof the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.

Usama Trabulsi, Director

Mr. Trabulsi joined our board of directors in August 2017 and is a Managing Member of Integrated Renewable Energ
Systems Ltd., a Saudi Arabia registered privately helddairiability company.Previously, he was the Chief Financial Controller
(Deputy Minister Portfolio) of the Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral Resources, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia for over 14 yeags and th
representative of the Minister of Petroleum and Mih&asources to the Executive Committee, Auditing Committee and
Compensation Committee of Saudi Aramco for over 13 yellis. Trabulsi has served on the board of directors of Arabian Oil
Company from 1996 to 2003 and Arabian Oil Holdings, Inc. Japan f@08 & 2007, in each case as the representative of the
Saudi Governmentl n addi ti on, Mr . Trabul si served as t he -Q0bA®Ir man
Refinery Company Ltd., a joint venture company between Petromin (thedBtagsl National Oil Company) and Mobil Oil
Company from 1990 to 19934eanwhile, Mr. Trabulsi served as Executive Vice President for Operation and Marketing of SUMED
Oil Pipelines Co., a joint venture company between Egypt, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, UAE aad ®at received his B.A. in
Economics and Political Science from the King Saud University in 1965 and received his M.B.A. from Michigan State Universit
in 1970.

David Williams, Director

Mr. Williams joined our board of directors in August 2017 and has served as Chairman of the Audit Committee sinc
November 2018 He has served as the Chairman of PTL UK Topco Ltd dieg2019and Tharsus Ltd of Newcastle upon Tyne
since 2012.Previousy, Mr. Williams wasthe Chairman of Shepherd Group Ltd of York from 2014 until April 2020, the Chairman
of Ramco Ltd from March 2013 until January 2019, the Chairman of Frog Capital (previously known as Foursome Investments)
13 years and the Interim @ Executive Officer of Logstor Holdings A/S of Logstor, Denmark for two ye&msor to this, Mr.
Williams was the Chairman, then Chief Executive, of Serimax Holdings SAS of Paris from June 2004 to June 2006 and June 2(
to October 2011, respectivelyde also held several positions at 3i plc from 1985 to 2003, including regional managing director.
Mr. Williams received a BSc (Hons) in Naval Architecture and Shipbuilding from the University of Newcastle upon Tyne in 1975
has a Certified Diploma in Actintancy and Finance and received an MSc from London Business School in 1985.

Executive officers
David Mullen, Director& Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Mullen has been our Chief Executive Officer since October 2&18.¢ Dii r ect or s. 0
William ( i K u Haffréan, Executive Vice PresidéatChief Operating Officer
Mr. Hoffman has worked on rigs around the world and has40gre ar sd experience in the
industry. Mr. Hoffman joined Shelf Drilling in October 2012From August 209 to April 2011, Mr. Hoffman was Senior Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer of Seahawk Drilling, a Houston and Gulf of Measeml jackup drilling provider where

60



I I SHELF
DRILLING

he was responsible for the company é@emehtation fFromolfoé thugh August ar
2009, Mr. Hoffman spent 18 years with Noble Corporation where he held senior operational and executive roles, including Vi
President of Worldwide Marketing, Vice President of Western Hemisphere Operations amdePresi o f Nobl eds
services division, Triton Engineering Servicéddr. Hoffman received a B.S. degree from Southwest Texas State University.
Gregory O6Brien, E& @hefu-inanciat Offdear c e Pr esi dent

Mr. OO6Brien was appointed Executive Vi c ePridetohkiscurcrmle, an
Mr . O6Brien served as Director, Strategic Planning Mrince
O 6 B joined Shelf Drilling from Lime Rock Partners, where he focused on oilfield services and exploration & productior
investment opportunities internationallBe f or e t hat , Mr . O6Brien held energy ir
SunTrust Robison Humphrey.Mr . O6Brien graduated from the Mclntire Sct
2008.
lan Clark, Executive Vice President

Mr. Clark has ovedlOy e ar s 6 experi ence i Priotthja@ning $helf Dsillng ivNowmler 2012,s i n
Mr. Clark spent 12 years with Transocean Ltd. where he most recently served as Vice President of Human Resource®fnd as p
its senior managementtea®.r evi ous r ol es included Division Meastas@iaendaldoor
Managing Director for Nigeria.Before joining Transocean Ltd., Mr. Clark had ay#@r career with Schlumberger in various
managerial, technical and marketing roles across Europe and AflcaClark has a B.S. degree in ElectricaaBlectronic

Engineering from HerieWatt University in Edinburgh, Scotland and completed both the Advanced Management Program a
Harvard Business School and the Financial Times-Becutive Director Diploma.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
We arenot required to report this Item.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Shareholders Matters

We are not required to report this Item.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

We are not required to report this Item.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fee and Services

We are not required to report this Item.

Part IV
ltem 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Scheduke

Financial Statements pagesl to F42.

Material agreements governing indebtedness cafotwed on our websitat www.shelfdrilling.comin the investor
relatiors section under key documents
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SHELF DRILLING, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Revenues
Operating rEVENUES. .......ccceiuerieeiteesameeemeeeeeeeanieeneeens $ 515,069 $ 570,343 % 561,295
OtherreVENUES........uueiiiiieiiiiiee e eeens 11,497 14,833 14,858
526,566 585,176 576,153
Operating costs and expenses
Operating and MmaintenancCe.............cceeeeecivveeerniveeenn 323994 341,426 366,715
(D=1 0] (Yol = L1 0] 1SS 65,820 69,895 82,503
Amortization of deferred costs...........coeeeriiiiciiiieenn, 38,930 47,148 75,305
General and administrative............c.ccoeeveeeiiieieieeeeeennn, 46,400 45,849 50,773
Loss on impairment GSSEtS..........coovvvvveeiiiieeenniinen. - 249,156 57,986
Loss / (@in) on disposal OBSetS........cccevcvvveeeriiieeeenns 53 (3,601, (905
475,204 749,873 632,377
Operating iNCOME / (0S9..-vecuvveriuereeeiiiiiieeeiieee e 51362 (164,697% (56,229
Other (expense) / income, Net.......ccoeeeeeeeveeiiiivenennnnnnn,
INtErest INCOME.......ccciiiiiii e ceeeeeee e e 47 175 1,138
Interest expense and financing charges.................... (113,124 (89,7®) (80,708
(@ 11 1T 1= O 1,548 (939) (763
(111,529 (90,467) (80,333
Lossbefore income taxes.............cereeevnveinnnnnnnnnnns (60,167 (255,163 (136,557
INCOME taX EXPENSE.....covviiieeeieieiiiieemmcc e 18,470 19,695 12,979
LY B (0 T $ (78637) % (274,859 $ (149,536
Loss per share:
Basic and Diluted Common shares............ccceeeeu.n. $ (0570 % (2.02 $ (1.16
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and Diluted Common Shares....ccc.cceooeeveeevennnnnn 136,816 136,157 128,389
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SHELF DRILLING, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

Years endedDecember 31,
2021 2020

2019
N = o T $ (78637) $ (274,859 $ (149,536
Other comprehensive incomé@oss) net of tax

Change irunrealized gains / (losses) on derivative
financial instruments

Changes in unrealizgtbsses) fains...............c......

- (574) 281
Reclassification of net losses / (gains) frother
comprehensive income to net income

- 334 (284)
$ -0 $ (240) $ ®3)
Total comprehensive 10SS.........cccooveieiiiinieesieiie e, $ (78637  $ (275,099 $ (149,539
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(In thousands, except per share data)
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December 31,

2021 2020
Assets
Cash and casBUIVAIENTS. .........ccuuiiii i $ 232,315 $ 73,408
Accounts and other receiVabIBRE..............eeviiiiiiiiiiii e 136251 129,009
ASSELS Neld fOBAIE. .. ..ceiiie i - 77,075
(@)1 [= T ol U (=] g1 = T TT= U 68,380 56,654
TOtal CUMMENEBSSELS. ... e e e e e e e e e e e nenreees 436646 336,146
Property anGEgUIDIMENT.........ueeeeiiiiiee ettt et e et eessibeee e e ssber e e e e snbneeesssnneeeeens 1,588,062 1,575,114
Less: accumulatedepreCiation.............ocveeee i, 555,975 508,79
Property and eQUIPMEITIEL.........uuiiiiiiiieeee it 1,032,087 1,066320
(D= (=] = T0 I = D= FTs ] (PR 3,241 1,958
(@)1 g [= T (0] gL | (=T g = TTT= 145563 111929
] £ 1 IR=TSToT =) (TR $ 1,617,537 $ 1,516353
Liabilities and equity
ACCOUNESPAYADIE. ... ..coitiiiiiiiiiee e $ 68,624 $ 66,632
INEErESIPAYADIE. .. .eii e a e e e s aees 31,565 29,333
ACCIUEA INCOMEBAXES.......ceeeieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e aeean e 4,977 4,680
Other currentiabilities...........vveieiieiiei e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaaeas 53,715 46,682
Total currentiabilitiesS........ccoceeiii i 158,88 147,327
(o] o B (=1 .00 (=] o) R 1,192,529 1,023,963
Deferred tadiabilities............uvoe i 7,469 5,591
Other 1oNGterM liabilitieS. .......evieiie e e e 44,987 50,509
Total longtermliabilities. ........cccoeeeeeii i 1,244,985 1,080,063
Commitments andontingenciegNote 13)
Common shares of $0.01 par vgla84,063shares authorizeak ofboth
December 31, 2021 and 202B7,116and 13&23issued and outstandirag of
December 31, 2024nd, 2@0, reSPECHIVEIY.......cccvvvveiiieeeee e vm s 1,371 1,362
Additional paidin capital............coooiiiiiiiii i ——————————— 1,006,2® 1,002,914
Accumulated other comprehensSIiMEOME..............ccvvvviveveeieeeiiiiiei e - -
ACCUMUIAIEAOSSES. ... ..o ccviiiiiiee et e e e e e e s e e e e e e e e s et e e e e e eaeeseesanrnneeeees (793950 (715,313
B0 t= 1 =T [0 PR RSTRSP 213,671 288,963
Total liabilitieS and EQUILY..........ceviiiiiiiiieiiieieiii e e e e e aeaeeas $ 1,617,537 $ 1,516353
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SHELF DRILLING, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Common Addi'tio'nal other .
paid-in comprehensive  Accumulated Total
Shares Parvalue  capital income losses equity

Balanceas ofDecember 31, 208............... 111,240 $ 1,112 $ 880,820 $ 243 % (290,918% 591,257
NELIOSS...evviiieiiiiiie e - - - - (149,536 (149,536
Net unrealizedosson derivative financial

INSTIUMENTS. ...t - - - 3) - 3)
Issuance of common shares...................... 26,784 268 120,876 - - 121,144
Repurchase of commahares..................... (1,381 (24) (2,934 - - (2,948
Sharebased compensation expense, net ¢

forfeitures. ... - - 1,536 - - 1,536
Balanceas of December 31, 20Q.............. 136,643 $ 1,366 $1,000,298 $ 240 $ (440,454% 561,450
NEtI0SS...coii i, - - - - (274,859 (274,859
Net unrealized loss on derivative financial

INSITUMENTS.....cooiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee - - - (240 - (240
Issuance of common shares...................... 301 3 3 - - -
Repurchase of commahares..................... (72)) @) (1,550 - - (1,557
Sharebased compensation expense, net ¢

forfeitures. ... - - 4,169 - - 4,169
Balanceas ofDecember 312020.............. 136,223 $ 1,362 $1,002,914 $ - % (715,313$% 288,963
NEtI0SS...coi i, - - - - (78637) (78637)
Issuance of commashares............ccccceeuvee. 893 9 (9) - - -
Sharebased compensation expense, net ¢

forfeitures.......ocuvveeeee e - - 3,345 - - 3,345
Balance & of December 31, 202............... 137,116 $ 1371 $1,006,250 $ - 3 (793950)$ 213,671




SHELF DRILLING, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

SHELF
DRILLING

Years ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities

[N L= (01T $

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net casgled in) frovided by

operating activities
12T 0] (=Tl = L1 (0] o
Loss on impairment Of @SSetS........cuvvvveiescmmmemmreeeeeee e e e e s
Provision for / (reversal grovision foj) credit lossesnet...........
Amortization of deferred revenue...........cccccceeevveiiiiicmceceee e,
Loss / (gain) on derivative financial instrumentsi...................
Sharebased compensation expense, net of forfeitures.... ...
Noncash portion of loss on debt extinguishment...................
Debtextinguishment COSES..........ovuviiiiiiicer e
Amortization of debt issue cosfgremium and discounts............
Loss / (@in) on disposal of assets...........cccceevevivieivieieeiee s e
Deferred tax eXPense, Net........ccoooee e oo e e e e e e eeee e e aa e
(Paymentdor) / proceeds fronsettlement of derivative financial
eI (VT =] 0] ST o (=R
Changes in deferred COSKBL*............ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e,
Changes in operating assets and liabilities.............................

Net cash (used in) / provided by operatagjivities.................

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property and equipment*.............ccccveeeeeesimccmemeeeeeen.
Proceeds frondisposal of assets........cccccevvvvviiiiiiiiiii e
Deposits related t0 rig SAlEBet.........cvveeieiiiiieee e

Net cashprovided by / (sed in investing activities..................

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds fronissuance of debt...........c.ooiiiii,
Repayments of lonterm debt...........cccoooiiiiiii
Proceeds from revolving creddcCility............ccoceeeevieiiiiiinisimmeeeenn,
Repayments of revolving credit facility................ooovvviiiiiiiiiiiinnnnn.
Payments of debt extinguishment and retirengests......................
Payments of debt financing COStS...........ccooiiiiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e,
Purchase of commashares..........cccccevveeveiici e,
Payment®f common shares issuance

Net cash provided by financiragtivities............cccccovveeeieee.

Net increase / (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restrict:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginny@gpf......

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at endydar*..........

2021 2020 2019
(78,637 $ (274,859 $ (149,536
65,820 69,895 82,503

- 249156 57,986
675 2,634 (232
(15,433 (12,417) (6,284
- 334 (284)
3,345 4,169 1,536
5,232 - -
4,865 - -
4,670 3,335 2,700
53 (3,609 (905
595 1,182 1,038
- (339 284
(34,091 5,327 (4,940
26,665 9,397 3,266
(16,241 54,218 (12,869
(45,852 (111,817 (91,399
69,420 7,194 8,359
- 15,948 -
23,568 (88,679 (83,032
304,054 80,000 -
(80,000 - -
- 75,000 35,000
(55,000 (55,000 -
(4,860 - -
(7,266 (3,240 (147
- (1,639 (2,866
- - (623
156,928 95121 31,364
164,255 60,664 (64,536)
88,963 28,299 92,835
253,218 $ 88963 $ 28,299

* SeeNote 20i Supplemental Cash Flow Information freconciliation of cash payment for additions to property and equipment
and changes in deferred costs, net to total capital expenditures and deferred costs, edfrtb@kclianges in operating assets and
liabilities and a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances.



SHELF DRILLING, LTD. III SHELF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DRILLING
Note1d Nature of Business
Business
Shelf Drilliwags iLndor gairSDitLedd on August 14, 2012 (fAinc

Islands. SDlwi t h its majority owned subsi di arisaleading intergationdi €hallow t h
water offshore contractor providirgenicesand equipmentor the drilling, completion, maintenance and decommissioning of oil
and natural gas wells. We are solely focused on shallow water operations in deptis 87bifeetand our fleetonsists 030
independenteg cantilevel( i | L C eup rigs as oflDecember 31, 2021. Since June 25, 2018, SDL shares are listed on the Osl|
Stock Exchange (AOSEO0) under the ticker symbol SHLF.

SDL is a holding company with no significant operations or assets other than interests in ismdiredirect subsidiaries.
Al | operations are conducted t hr anundifectvébllg dwhed Bubsidiary of S@OuHOo | d
corporate offices are i n Dgebgraphicallyaosettceodr operationstheEMiddle Bast,eNorth ( i U
Africa and the Medit er r apastdgia, lfdia ang WeshAdricur [drddst dhardholders arSaffiliated
of Castle Harlan, Inc., Lime Rock Partners and China Merchadtsstry Holdings Company Limitel ACha Mer c har
Additionally, other shareholders may have large holdings as reported in public filings in accordance with the ruleskaf the OS

Note2 & Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accoun
principles in the United States (AGAAPO) . The amo wardsts al
thousand, uless otherwise stated.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, itsawradly subsidiaries and those
entities that meet the criteria f ompanyiadeensedtblm the primaybengficiarng n |
Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

As of December 31, 2021, the Companyés consolidated f
of VIEs. SeeNote 5i VariableInterest Entities As of December 31, 202the Companyloes not havenvestmentsvhich meet
the criteriato be reported undéhe equity method of accounting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estime
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets arad thabditites
of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporkistjmatesd.
are used for, but are not limited to, the following: collectability of receivables, depreciable or amortizable lives okasset
lease obligationsimpairment of assets, provision for income taxes, valuation of dfzmed compensation, postemployment
benefits and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the jice that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betwee
market participants at the measurement date. The-léwekhierarchy of fair value measurement, which reflects the degree to
which objective pices in external active markets are available to measure fair value, is as follows:
Level 18 Quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 20 Observable prices that are basednputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.
Level 30 Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input tivdficast to the relevant
fair value measur ement . The Companyds assessment olrest he
judgment and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities being measured and thesnplaitbin the fair value hierarchy.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when control of a good or service promised in a contract is transferred to a custor
Control is obtained when a customer has the ability to direct the wselafbtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from
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that good or service. The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers and thgse timin
di fferences result in receivables, contract assetnsesheets. cor

The Companyds services provided under each contract
comprised of a series of distinct time increments or service periods in which we provide services. Variable considerigtion is
recognized as revenues to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur during the conthattemrm.
determining if variable consideration should be recognized, management considers whether there are factors outside of
Conpanybs control that could result in a significant reve
reversal of revenue. A description of our principal revenue generating activities are as follows:

Operating Revenues

Asignifcant portion of the Companyb6s revenues is generate
to its customers for the provision of services relatedriling, completion, maintenance and decommissioning of oil and natural
gaswells TheCompanyés contracts with customers contain multipl
vary based on the actual operations. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer are typically determined based g thesaryi
applicalte to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Variable consideration generally relates to distinct Sedsce per
during the contract term and is recognizedhia period when services are perforntedhe extent it is probable that a siggant
revenue reversal will not occuWe have applied the disclosure practical expedieAttounting Standards Codificatigni AS C 0 )
606-10-50-14(b) and have not disclosed variable consideration related to remaining unsatisfied performance obligations.

The Company may earn lungum fees relating to contract preparation, capital upgrades and mobilization in certain
contracts, which are typically invoiced at the commencement or initial phase of the cofitres¢ activities are not considered to
berevenue generating activitiestinctfrom the performance of services under the contrBleerefore suchrevenues are recorded
as a contract liability and amortized on a straigie basis over the firm contract terr@ertain customers may also make advance
payments of dayrate revenues, which are deferred and recognized when the related dayrate semowétedr Upfront fees for
contract preparation, capital upgrades and mobilizatimhadvance payments from customers for future services are recorded as
contract liabilities inother current liabilities and other loigrm liabilities, as appropriat# the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company may earn luagum fees relating to contract demobilization, which are typically invoiced at the end of the
contract and may contain provisions stipulating conditions that must be present for such revbeeuesxeived The Company
assesses the likelihood of receiving this revenue based on prior experience and knowledge of market conditions amdsother fac
Demobilization fees are recorded when it is unconditional and probable that there will moatezial cumulative revenue reversal,
which typically occurs near the end of the contract term. Once the recognition eniterizet the demobilization revenues are
recorded as operating revenues over the remaining firm contract term and a corgtdstrassrded for any revenue recognized
prior to invoicing.

Many contracts have termination and/or extension options which can be exercised at the option of the customer. In cert
cases, the Company can charge an early termination fee if a costtaonhinated by the customer. Termination revenues are
typically billed after a termination notice is received from a customer or activity related to a contract ceases. Termipaties
are typically recognized as revenues when bifled it is probble that revenues will not be reversed. Revenues related to an
extension option are typically accounted for as a contract modification as a separate contract.

Other Revenues

Other revenues consist of amounts billed for goods and services such agjcatiditional equipmergnd personnel,
consumables or accommodations. The Company may use third parties for the provision of such goods and sigeicesnts]
involved in identifying the performance obligationgliesecustomer contracts and determining whether the Company is a principal
or an agent in the provision of certain equipment and consumables to the custbmé&ompany generally is considered &b
principal in revenue transactions when it obtains control of a good or service before it is transferred to the custdoenpdrne
typically acts as a principal in the provision of catering, accommodation services, additional personnel anddioa pfovi
additional equipmenand consumabledirectly used to providéntegratedservices to the customeihe Company generally acts
as an agent in the provision of other equipment and consunfabtbe customer

Operating Costs and Expenses anBeferred Costs

Operating costs and expenses are generally recognized when incurred. Certain expenditures associated with con
preparation, mobilization, regulatory inspections and major equipment overhauls are recorded as deferred costs innbther cur
assets or tier longterm assets, as appropriate, ondbesolidated balance sheets

Deferred contract costs include certain contract preparation and upfront mobilization expenditures for rigs entering bindil
services contracts. Such costs are generally consideced t s t o f ul f i | the Companyo6s fut
related contract and are therefore deferred and amortized on a dirsgbasis over the firm contract term. Certain deferred
contract costs are related to contractually requinsgéctions, and such costs are amortized on a sttaightasisover the time
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period until the next scheduled inspecti@eeNote 4i Revenues, Contract Liabilities and Deferred Contract GogtAllowance
for Credit Losses Demobilization costs whiicare incurred at the end of a contract and costs associated with rig preparation and o
mobilization of without a firm contract are expensed as incurred.

Non-contractual deferred costs includests of inspections incurred to obtain regulatory certifioa to operate the rigs
and periodic major overhauls of equipment. Regulatory certifications, incl&dmg c i a | Periodic Surveys
Inspections in Lieuof D o c ki ng ( fard Wéfetrdd andl pmortized on a straigie basis oer the time period until the
next survey or inspection, generally 30 to 60 mon#Patiodic major overhauls are deferred and amortized on a stliaiglasis
over a period of five years.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equieaits are comprised of cash on hand, cash in banks and highly liquid funds with an original maturity
of three months or less. Other bank deposits, if any, with maturity of less than a year are classifiectersnshank deposits
within other current agss in the consolidated balance sheets. Bank overdrafts, if any, are classified as current liabilities in tt
consolidated balance sheets.

Restricted cash consists of cash deposits held related to bank guarantees. Restricted cash badaamdsda@ccording
to their maturity date, as either other current assets or othetdomgassets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Accountsand Other Receivables, Net

The Companyadnd othereceivablast censist primarily of trade accourgseivable from the provision of
services, with original credit terms of less than one yAacountsand othereceivabls are recorded in the consolidated balance
sheets at their nominal amoumet of allowance for credit losses, or the estimatedeadizable value, which approximattir
value.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company applies the current expected credit |l oss
cost basis, primarily its trade accourggeivable, and off balance sheet exposures to credit lo$besCompanydeterminests
expected credit losses for its pools of assets with similar risk characteristics based on historical loss infasredjasted for
future expectations.

The Companypoolsits receivable assetssingits internal determination of collection riskhich is based on several
factors, including the size and type of customer, tnhoe Co
region in whichthe customepperats. Adjustments to th&€ompany &istoric loss rates were maeéth consideration ofhe
increasing risk of default related to the COVIDB pandemic andny relevant customer and industryspecificfactors, as needed
Management reviews its assumpti@ach reporting periodnd makes adjustments as neetteckflect changes in historical loss
rates and expectations, which managementiyediprovides a reasonable estimation of future losBas.pooling of assets and the
adjustment of historical loss ratesludea high degree of judgement and actual results can differ materially from these expectations

For other financial instruments measured on an amortized cost basis and off balance sheet credit exposures, the Comj
considers quantitative and qualitativédrmation, including historical experience and future expectations, which management
believes provide a reasonable basis for the estimation of future losses.

The Companyecords a provision for credit losses in its general and administrative expetiesansolidated statements
of operationdo reflectthe netchange irthe allowance focredit lossesluring the period Amounts determined to be uncollectible
are writteroff against the allowance for credit losses.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is initially stated at cdsxpenditures for additions, includiragher costs necessary to bring the
asset to the condition and location necessary for its intended use, improvements and substantial enhancements are capita
Routine expenditures for minor replacements and repairs and maintenance that do not increase the functionality or $iebf the a
are expensed as incurre@onstruction in progress includes interest capitalized during the period of asset construgtiatfiffed
assets if the construction is expected to take one year or longer and the amount of interest is material. Whenpleadsptas
service, it is transferred from construction in progress to the appropriate category under property aneheqgupoperty and
equi pment is subject to periodic i mphivemdnAssessdnhbehoswd

Depreciation commences when an asset is placed into service or is substantially complete and ready for its intended |

Depreciation is computed using the straidjhe method, after allowing for salvage value where applicable, over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are recorded as component of property and efuipmen
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are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining expected lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvaments. |
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount shall be depreciated over the remaining useful life of that asset

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Years
0 L PP PP 30
[T 01T o] =T gL A= Vo IR 0= U =PSRRI 9-13
2 101 o T o S 30
101 =T PSRRI 3-5

The Company periodically reviews and adjusts, as appropriate, the remainindivssfaid salvage values of rigs when
certain events occur that directly impact such estimates. This includes changes in operating condition, functiongl axaghabilit
market and economic factor®On December 31, 2021, the Company had a change in atmp@stimate, which resulted in a
change in the useful lives of 12 rigs. This changteeyahi d
ended December 31, 2021.

The remaining estimated average useful I i f2021sTlyears i st i

When assets are sold, retired or otherwlisposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are written off, net of
any praeeds received, and any gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations.

Assets Held for Sale

Property and equipment is reclassified as asset held for sale when (a) there is a committed plan to selihteisasset
unlikely to be subject to significant changes or termination, (b) the asset is available for immediate sale, (c) atibaedi®
complete the sale, including an active program to locate a buyer, (d) the sale is expecwmhipleted witin one year and (e)
the asset is being actively marketed at a price that is reasonable relative to its fairAssleis. held for sale arecorded at the
lower of carrying value or fair value less estimated costs toasellaresubject to periodic imgirment testing as discussed in
Al mpair me-bivedl Assgtso bel ow.

Leases

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveyrigtteto control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange foconsideration.The Compay hasmade an accounting policy electitmpresent the lease and associatedlease
operations as a single componbased upon the predominant componémase classification as shaerm lease, operating lease
or finance lease is made at the lemseption. The Company consideall relevant contractual provisions, including renewal and
termination options, to determine the term of the led&newal or termination options that are reasonably certain of exercise by
the lesseand those controlled by the lessor mrduded indegerminingthe lease termThe Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise the §a@alsiNote 8i Leases

ShortTerm Leases

The Company made an accounting policy election not¢tognize a righof-use asset and lease liability for shimm
leaseswith an initial term of 12 months or less, therefore these leases are not recorded on the consolidated balance stessts. Exp
for shortterm leases are recognized on a straliglet basis over the lease tetmdereitheroperating and maintenance expenses
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations

The Company as a Lessee

The Company recognizes lease liabilities and rafhise assets fall operating and finance leades which it is a lessee
at the lease commencement ddtease liabilities are initially recognized at the present value dithiee lease payments during
the expected lease term using the interest rate implicit iretlaed e if that rate can be deter
borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are recorded, according to the payment dates as other current liabilities and -t¢her long
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. For anyractnconsidered predominantly a lease, all-le@se components are
included in the initial measurement of the lease liabilkjnance lease and operating lease liabilities are recorded separately. The
right-of-use asset is initially recognized at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease pajenents m
at or before the commencement date, legd@ase incentives received and any initial direct costs incurred by the Company. Right
of-use assets are recorded as other-teng assets in the consolidated balance sh&etssequent to initial recognition, the right
of-use asset iseflectednet d amortization. Rightof-use assets are subject to periodic impairment testing as discussed in
Al mpairmebived As s ostsipgdl®léased assetto the condition and location necessary for its intended us
are capitalized as leasehahdprovements.
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The Company remeasuriés lease liabilileswith a corresponding adjustment to the rightuse asset due to an applicable
change in lease payments such as those due to a lease modification not accounted for as a separaerzontcaeinges in the
expected term of the lease, and certain gharnn assessments and contingencigdsee Company has made an accounting policy
election to account for lease concessions related to the effects of the d®\fiBndemicas though enforceable rights and
obligations for those concessions existed indhginal leasecontract and, therefore, the Company will not account for these
concessions as lease modificatioffile Companys insteadaccountingor rent reductions as a negative variable lease payment in
the period in which that payment would havecome due ands accountingfor temporary rent deferrals as a shienm lease
payable until the amount becomes due and payable.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the operating lease liabilitycieased for thenterestcomponent of the lease liability
and reduced by the lease payments madperating lease expenses are recognized single lease cash a straightine basis
over the lease termwhich includes the interest component of the measurement of the Iédgy bamd amortization of the right
of-use assetOperating lease expenses are recognized based on the type of leasaddesséther operating and maintenance
expensesr general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations

Finance lease expenses are recognized separately in the consolidated statements of operdtiernstevihkt expense on
the lease liabilityrecorded under interest expersad the amortization of the rightf-use asset recorded lbaased on the type of
leased assetndereitheroperating and maintenance expermageneral and administrative expenses

The Company as a Lessor

The Companybds contract s wnentdrelated te theounderlyisg rigs@and ecuipnment,lineaddiicm
to service components of labor and expertise to operate the rig and equipment. The service component of operating a ri
predominant in the Company6s nsdonitsregenuessfrom dortracts with oustemers astsarvice ¢
revenues with a single performance obligation. 5¢&e ve nue Recogniti onodo above.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates property and equipment,-dffise assets and other leliged assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment imdicators
include chages in the general economic and business environment, industry specific indicators, Company specific factors
conditions related to a specific asset or asset group. An impairment loss on an asset or asset group is recordedimbgzdthe es
undiscoungd future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carry
amount . Any actual i mpairment | oss recognized repiuesent

The Company estimates the fair values of property and equipmentpfighe assets, deferred costs and other-lveg
assets to be held and used by applying a combination of income and market approaches, using projected cash flowssand estil
of the exhange price that would be received for the assets in the principal or most advantageous market for the assets in an ort
transaction between mar ket participants as of the noemesur e
approach is based on estimated cash flows expected to be realized from the use of the assets. Asset impairmentreydlyations ¢
nature, highly subjective. The critical estimates are significant unobservable inputs, which are based on numerossedtimate
assumptions about future operations and market conditions including but not limited to those rggbcted rig utilization,
dayrates, operating, overhead and major project costs, remaining useful life, salvagaedaiseount rate as well asst inflation
assumptions. The Company estimates the fair values of assets held for sale based on the expected sale price lesstsdiimated c
sell, which can include significant unobservable inputs. These assumptions are considenecumioig levé 3 fair value
measurements.

Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes is based on relevant tax laws and rates in effect in the countries in which the Company oper:
and earns income or in which the Company is considered resident for income tax purposes. Current income tax expearse reflec
est mate of the Companyds income tax l|iability for taéaftedcur:
and any tax audit adjustments.

Deferred income taxes reflect t he At e mpasseatsaandyliabiities fore r e
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, tax effected by applying the relevantsieck oate, ba
enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the reversal of such differexpested to affect taxable income.
The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent the assets will more likely than not be realized. In making <
determination, all available positive and negative evidence is considered, including schederleals of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. When necessary, valuaties allowat
are established to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected tele taabilities for uncertain tax positions
are recorded as lortgrm liabilities for tax positions that have been taken that are more likely than not to ultimately be denied upo
examination or audit by tax authorities. Any interest and penaltiesddtatincertain tax positions are included as a component of
income tax expense.
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The Company is subject to the tax laws, including relevant regulations, treaties and court rulings, of the countries a
jurisdictions in which it operates. The provisiar fncome taxes is based upon interpretation of the relevant tax laws in effect at

the time the expense was incurred. I f the r el evanliatidna xi r
of such laws, or if any such laws ateaaged retroactively, additional tax may be imposed which could significantly increase the
Companyébés effective tax rate related to its worldwide ea

Share-Based Compensation

The Company issues sharased compensation under its 2017 L-egm In@ntive Plan (thé2 0 17 LTI Po) , g
theformofnonqual i fi ed stock options (i NQSkaslased eomgbnsatiensatvards maye d
contain a combination of time based, performance based and/or market based vesting cosfiicgizased compensation is
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations based on the grant date fair valeestmated number of options,
shares oRSUsthat are ultimately expected to vest.

The Company determines the grant date fair value of its NQ@stime based vesting conditionssing theBlack-
ScholesMerton model, using inputs and assumptions/udag the market price of the shares on the date of grant, th&reisk
interest rate, expected volatility and expected dividend yield over a period commensurate aifietiied term

The Company determines the grant date fair value &$9s with performance and/or market based vesting conditions
using theStochastic oMonte-Carlo valuation techniqyeising inputs and assumptions, including the market price of the shares on
the dateof grant the riskfree interest rate, expected volatility and expected dividend yield over a period commensurate with th
remaining term prior to vesting.

The grant date fair vbaded @®mmpernsation aveardCtibamareauttimaiebeerp loavese is
recognized as an expense over the applicable vesting period. The Company has made an accounting policy election to recot
the expense for awards with a service condifind graded vesting features a straightine vesting method ovehe applicable
vesting period.Any subsequent changes in the estimatgdber of shares ®tSUsexpected to vest will be recorded as cumulative
catchup adjustmento compensation cost in the period in which the change in estimate occurs. For awards with a market conditic
compensation cost is recognized over the service period regardless of whether the market conditions are ultimatelyFachieved.
awards which gst only after a specific event such as an exit evehtori t i al PubblPiOo) Of cemipeag s &fii
recognized upon the occurrence of the event. The Company has made an accounting policy election to ety fmtféitures
in compensatio expense as they occur.

The Company evaluates any modifications to its stweréed awards and accounts for them in the period of modification
based on the appropriate service, performance, and/or market conditions. Wiarctition of an award iseompanied by the
concurrent grant of eeplacement award, is accounted for as a modification of the terms of the cancelled awée Company
has made an accounting policy election to pool the costs and expenses of a cancelled award()caudragyt replacement
awards and expense them over the remaining vesting period of the replacementatharéxtent that the vesting period of the
replacement award exceeds the remaining vesting period of the original award

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors various employee benefit programs, including defined contribution plans, retention progran
employee end of service plans, and a defined benefit gaa.alsdNote 12i Employee Benefit Plans

ShoreBasedRetentionPrograms

The Company has variowshorebasedretention plans for which associated payouts are typically made upon vesting,
provided the participant is still employed by the Company. The retention plans consist of awards granted for certagsdhgiloye
generallyvest over a period ranging froometo four years The Company recognizéiseser et ent i on pl an expel
vesting periodand accrues a liability for their ultimate paymerixpensesand the corresponding liabilitgre reversed iin
employee termination resain the forfeiture of accrued retention payments prior to vesting.

Certain of our Company retention plans are paid in advance of vesting and coefa@yraent provision, which requires
employees to repay thretention amounif employment is not maiained through the end of the vesting period, with certain
exceptions.For retention plans paid in advandse Companyecords an asset upon payment which is amortized as retention plan
expenses over the sting period Expenses are reversadd a receivable from employee is recoridesh employee termination
resulsin the forfeitureof theretentionaward

Defined Contribution Plans

The Companyponsors several defined contribution plans for certain employees in various jurisdictions. These plans a
governed by statutory laws, union agreements and/or Company policy, as appropriate. These plans include various plans u
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international jurisditions. These plans include Company matching amounts, based on jurisdiction, and other Company paymen
which may be based on job category or years of serviceCthenpany és contri buti ons @mganye X p ¢
has no further obligatianfor these plans.

EmployeeEnd of Service Plans

The Company offers end of service plans to employees in certain countries in accordance with the labor laws in the
countries or Company policies. The Company makes cash payments whenever the depamuemployee triggers the
requirement to pay benefits. In certain countries for which management estimates that end of service liabilitiescanet sibaifi
Company obtains a thirdarty valuation to estimate the end of service benefit liatiiised on actuarial assumptions that include
an employee census and historical data

Defined Benefit Plan

Certain employees are eligible for defined benefits under a Company plan and these benefits are fully vested. T
empl oyeeds benefit amount is calculated based on tind&heempl
Companyimmediately recognizes any gains and losses from thisgridraccrues a liability fahe ultimate paymerst Benefits
are paid in a single lump sum cash payment when a participant is no longer employed by the Company

The plan does not have any assets,does the Company intend to fund the plan. Amounts expected to be paid under the
defined benefit plan are determined based on actuarial assumptions.

Debt

Premiums, discounts and debt issuance costs related to the issuance of term debt are deferred and recorded as an adju:
to the associated debt balarme the consolidated balance sheet$iese amounts are amortized to interest expense using the
effecive interest method through the maturity of the related debt.

Debt issuance costs relatenl line-of-credit arrangements, regardless of whether there is any outstanding balance, are
recordedunder other longerm assets on the consolidated balance shedtamortizedo interest expensan a straightine basis
over the term of the linef-credit arrangement.

In the event of early retirement of debt, any extinguishment costs and unamortized premiums, discounts and debt issue
costs associated with thietired debt arexpensed as interest expense and financing charges in the consolidated statements
operations.

Earnings / (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (AEPSO) i snoncshateshyl a't
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the @erioding contingently forfeitable unvested share
based compensation. The twlass method is used for participating securities, as applicable.

Diluted EPS adjusttheweighted average number of common shares outstanding in the basic EPS calculation for the effe!
of potential future issuances of common stock relating primarily to diza®ed compensation awards and other potentially dilutive
instruments using thieeasury stock method.

The dilutive effect of sharbased awards using the treasury stock method consists of the total awards to be issued in
future period | ess an fiassumedo buy back of s lerage marketpricé h e
of common stock for the relevant period as the priceeper
if any, and the average unrecognized compensation expense of the award during the period. This cefoulasuit in a
significantly lower dilutive effect than the stotlased awards currently outstanding and/or in certain awards beirdjlativie.
Anti-dilutive awards can become dilutive in future periods based on changes in the average marketepniceoof stock and
decreases in the unrecognized compensation costs.

In periods of net losses attributable to common shareholders, all potentially dilutive securities willdiritargj and
therefore basic and diluted EPS will be the same.

Foreign Currency

The Companyds functional currency is the U.S. doll ar.
the Companyds revenues are denominated in U.S. dollars.
A significant amount of the Companyds expenditures ir

in U.S. dollars or are effectively denominated in U.S. dollars, as the payment currency is fixed to the U.S. dollar., Eenamer
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subsdiaries have a significant amount of their operating expenses payable in local currencies. To limit the potentiatrsicef c
fluctuations,when management believes that market conditions are favdrebl@éompany may choose to enter into a serfies o
mont hly foreign currency forward contracts as discussed
exposure to noiw).S. dollar denominated currency exchange rate fluctuations may be limited by such derivdtirassactions
denominated in net).S. dollar currencies are recorded in U.S. dollars at the prevailing exchange rate. Realized transaction gal
or losses and gains and losses from the remeasurement of assets and liabilities denominate8 idalber currenciesareported

as other, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Derivative Financial Instruments

TheCompanyb6s derivative financi al instruments consi st
and interest rate swapsiehthe Company may designate as cash flow hedgash derivative contract is stated in the consolidated
balance sheets at fair valu®erivatives with asset fair values are reported in other current assets or othtrtorassets and
derivatives wih liability fair values are reported in other current liabilities or other-teng liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets, depending on their maturity date.

The Company has documented policies and procedures to monitor and control the estedb#tive instruments. The
Company does not engage in derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

Derivative gains and losses are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations except that, to the extei¢he deriv.
qualifies for and is designated as an accounting hedge, the gains and losses are reflected in income in the same perigd as offs
gains and losses on the qualifying hedged positions. Designated hedges are expected to be highly effective, and there
adjugmentsto record the carrying value of the effective portion of the derivative financial instruments to their fair value ard recorde
as a component of accumul ated other comprehensive iangeo me
in fair value for each designated hedge included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness will remain in AOCIL alatdstfisde
into earnings in the period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings or it is detatntiiecidtbcast hedged
transaction will not occur.

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company may enter into forex contracts when management believes that market conditions are favorable to purche
such contracts with the expectation that the contracts, when settled, will reduce the exposure to foreign currenclogagsand
future foreign currency expenditures. The amount and duration of these contracts are based on the monthly forecast &sexpenditt
in which the Company conducts significant business and for which there is a financial market. These forward contracts al
derivatives and any change in fair value included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness is recognized in AOCIL. THe net gair
(losses) on forex contracts reclassified from AOCIL are recorded as operating and maintenance expense.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company may enter into interest rate swaps to manage exposures arising from business activities that result in t
payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by intefédiratesCo mpany 6 s d

finand al i nstruments are used to manage differences in the
payments principally related to the Companyds borrowings.
The Companybés objectives i n uslhiltydp interedt eéxpeasse &nd to andnage iseexposura to i

interest rate movementsto accomplish this objective, the Company may use interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate ri
management strategy to effectively convert all or a portion of riablerate debt to a fixedate of interest.Interest rate swaps
designated as cash flow hedges of variabte debt involve the receipt of varialslte amounts from a counterparty in exchange for
the Company making fixethte payments over the life tife agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. The
gains / (losses) on interest rate swaps reclassified from AOCIL are recorded as interest expense and financing charges.

Note 30 Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncemés
Recently issued accounting standards

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024 Reference Rate Reform (Topic 84B)Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides relief for companies preparing for discontinuation ohtaterest r
such as the London | nt er banThe AU prevides dompaai¢sevidptighdl éxpe@iéhts mairilyn 2
relating to eligible contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform iitegeaanecr
met. The key optional expedients generally allow a Company (1) to account for and poegemttanodifications as an event that
does not require contract remeasurement or reassessment of a previous accounting determination at the modificatitun date, (
continue hedge accounting when certain critical terms of a hedging relationship cmah(®),ta make a ortime election to sell
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and/or reclassify certain hetd-maturity debt securitiesThis ASU is effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 and can be
applied prospectively as of the beginning of the interim period that includeshNar 2020 through December 31, 202% this

ASU has an open effective date until December 31, 2022, the Company will continue to evaluate the impact of this stardard on
consolidated financial statements atedermine if the Companyill adopt thisstandard.

Note 48 Revenues, Contract Liabilities and Deferred Contract Costs and Allowance for Credit Losses
Revenues

See the consolidated statement of operations for the amounts of operating and other revenues. On December 31, 202:
contract with the longest expected remaining duration, excluding unexercised options, extends JimeugbB31 Refer to
fiRevenueRem gni t i on 0 aGosts afidExpeasesaand Defgrred Casts Note 2i Significant Accounting Policies for
information on our accounting policies for revenue recognition and certain operatingaiedstxpensethat are deferred and
amortized over future periods. Sdete 227 Segment and Related Information for disclesaf total revenues bgountry based
on the location of the service provided.
Contract liabilities and deferred contract costs
Contract liabilities

The Company recognizes a contract liability when we invoice an amount which is greater tteevelues allocated to
the related performance obligatiofts goods or services transferred to a custont@ontract liabilitiesincludefees forcontract
prepaation, capital upgrades and mobilizatiand advance payments from customers for future servibesh are recorded as
other current liabilities and other lottgrm liabilities, as appropriate, in the consolidated balance sheets

Following are the detailof the contract liabilities (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
Current CoONtradliabilitieS. .......coocevuuiiieiie et e e e e e e e eaaaaanns $ 29,036 $ 9,546
Nortcurrent CoNtradiabilities............uvviiiiiiiiiee e 1,757 5,419
$ 30,793 $ 14,965

Significant changes in contract liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Balance, beginning OfQar.........coueu i a e e e $ 14,965 $ 25,421
Increase due to contraCtlBEIAItiONS............cvvvuieiiiiiieee e, 31,261 2,786
Decrease due to amortization of defem@gdenue............cooccveeeiiiiiiie i, (15,433 (12,417)
Decrease due to application of customer deposits and other..............cccccceeeinnnnn, - (825)
2 1 U [or =T =T o Lo [0 2T L P $ 30,793 $ 14,965

Approximately$9.7 million and $11.7 million of revenues recognized during the years ended December 31, 2021 ant
2020, respectively, were included in the beginning contract liabilities balance.

Expected futur@mortization of contract liabilities, net recorded a®etember 312021 isas follows (in thousands):

For the periods ending December 31,

20 2N $ 29,036
2023 e eeeeeeeee ettt eeeeeetettta—teeeeetetetaeeeeettetan . n e ———— ettt seeaeeerrtn 1,512
D2 0 245

$ 30,793

Deferred contract costs
The Companyds deferred contract costs are m&ermhgonr el

contractual costs such as regulatory inspections, major equipment overhauls (including rig upgrades), and stacketbnig activat
are expased, deferred or capitalized into property and equipment as appropriate and are not included in deferred contract costs
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Following are the details of the deferred contract costs (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
Current deferre@ONtraCtCOSES. ... uuuuuiiiiieie e e i isiiee e e e e s e e ss e e e e e e e se s snnreraeeeeenannan $ 23,563 $ 12,114
Non-current deferred CONtraCbStS.......ccooeeeeveiiiiieiiii e, 13,127 13,762
$ 36,690 $ 25,876

Significant changes in deferred contract costs were as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Balance, beginning Of YEaI..........ccuuiiiiiiiiie e $ 25,876 $ 39,050
Increase due to contraCtlalditioNS.............uvviiiiiii i 28,710 14,834
Decrease due to amortization of deferred coni@sts............ccccceeeeeeiiiciiiiieeeeeeenn, (17,896) (18,811)
Decrease due to impairment of deferred contract COSts........ccccceveveeiiiiiciiiennnnnnn. - (9,197)
Balance, BN OFEAT........coiiiiiiiiie et stee ettt bbb snbeenbeesneeanaeas $ 36,690 $ 25,876

Allowance for credit losses

Allowance for credit losses wa8 ®million and $2.6 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectiMelyements

in allowance for credit losses were as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Balance, beginning OfEar...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiie e $ 2,639 $ 1,849
Provision forcredit I0SSES, NEBL........ciiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeie e o s 675 2,634
Write-off of uncollectibleamOUNTS. .........ocvieiiiiiiie e (128) (1,521)
Foreign exchange and Other...........c..oooiiiiiiii e, - (323)
BalanCe, €N OF AT ...........ciiiiiiie et eee e e et s et e e e e e eabe e e eaaaeeneeeas $ 3,186 $ 2,639

Note 58 Variable Interest Entities

The Company, through its wholly owned indirect subsidiary SDHL, is the pribeargficiary of VIEs providing services

which are Shelf Drilling Ventures (Malaysi a) Sdn. Bhd. (
Drilling (Nigeria) Limited (ASDNLO), S h e ElffDrilldg (Arigadla), himgitadaf f s
(ASDALO) and which are included in these consolidated fi

for drilling services in Angola, and as a result in September 2021, the Company exercisediiig eantractual right to transfer
legal ownership of 49% of the shares in SDAL for which it is the primary beneficiary.

These VIEs are incorporated in jurisdictions where majority or significant foreign ownership of domestic companies i

restricted or ommercially incompatible with local content requirements. To comply with such foreign ownership and/or local
content restrictions, the Company and the relevant local third parties, described further below, have established dnelseavi=s
contractuabrrangements to convey decisioraking and economic rights to the Company.

Following is the information about the thigrty interests in the VIEs:

Third party ownership percentage

Third party
country of As of December 31,

incorporation 2021 2020
SDV M.ttt ettt e e Malaysia 60% 60%
PTHItEK. ..o Indonesia 20% 20%
SDINL. ettt Nigeria 51% 51%
SDOSL .ttt Nigeria 20% 20%
SDAL. .ttt e Angola 51% 100%

not par
ma r

Each of the third parties listed above are not in a position to provide additional financing to their respective VIEs and c
ticipate in any gains and/or losses. The Company is the primary beneficiary as it has the power to direct the ngerating
keting activities, which are the activities that mo s
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obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive a majority of the benefits of the VIEs. Therefore, the Company ireeddeterm
that the VIEs meet the criteria to be presented as conso

Following are revenues and operating costs and expenses of the VIEs, after eliminating the effect of intercompa
transactions, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

SDVM PT Hitek SDNL SDOSL SDAL Total

December 31, 2021:

ReVeNnUES.........cocceeevvcceenenn, $ - $ - $ 29,202 $ - $ - $ 29,202
Operating costs and expense 260 469 29,159 5,236 320 35,444
December 31, 2020:

REVENUES.......cocoeeeeeeeeerenn, $ - $ - $ 43,583 $ - $ - $ 43,583
Operating costs and expense 265 576 39,428 6,756 - 47,025
December 31, 2019:

REVENUES.......cocoeeeeeeeeerenn, $ - $ - $ 61,344 $ - $ - $ 61,344
Operating costs and expenst (14) 2,563 55,035 9,107 - 66,691

There are no material differences between the results of operations and cash ft@xsabolidated Company, inclusive
of the VIEs listed above, then there would have been if the VIE operations were run out of a wholly owned subsidiary of t
Company.

Following are the assets and liabilities of the VIEs, after eliminating the effect of intercompany transactions, as ¢
December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

SDVM PT Hitek SDNL SDOSL SDAL Total

Assets

Cash and caskquivalents................... $ 9 $ 98 $ 268 $ 15 $ 47 $ 437
Accounts and other receivables, net.. - 155 10,860 - - 11,015
Other current assets........ccccceeeeeeeeeee. - - 241 710 - 951
Total currenassets.......ccooeeeevevvevnnnnnnn. 9 253 11,369 725 47 12,403
Property and equipment, net............. - - 2,120 - 16 2,136
Other longterm assets....................... 7 53 3,7% 900 136 4,881
Total noncurrentassets...........ccc........ 7 53 5,90 900 152 7,017
Total aSSetS......ccoevvvvvieeiiiiieieiiieiiiiiinns $ 16 $ 306 $ 17,274 $ 1,625 $ 199 $ 19,20
Liabilities

Accountspayable..............cccceeeeeeeennns. $ 71 $ 146 $ 4,565 $ 84 $ 228 $ 5,094
Other current liabilities....................... 53 88 3,477 599 117 4,334
Total currentiabilities........................., 124 234 8,042 683 345 9,428
Other longterm liabilities.................... 220 202 2,063 569 69 3,123
Total longterm liabilities..................... 220 202 2,063 569 69 3,123
Total liabilities..........cccccvvveveiiiiiiiiiinens 344 436 10,105 1,252 414 12,551
Carrying amount, Net...............cc.o...... $ (328) $ (1300 $ 7,169 $ 373 $ (215) $ 6,80

F-20



SHELF DRILLING, LTD.

SHELF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I I I DRILLING
Following are the assets and liabilities of the VIEs, after eliminating the effect of intercompany transactions, as c
December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

SDVM PT Hitek SDNL SDOSL SDAL Total

Assets

Cash and caskquivalents................... $ 26 $ 521 $ 2,818 $ 91 $ - $ 3,456
Accounts and other receivables, net. - 965 5,906 - - 6,871
Other current assets.........ccccevvvvvnnnnn. - - 668 1,134 - 1,802
Total currenBssets........cocoeevevvvveieenens 26 1,486 9,392 1,225 - 12,129
Property and equipment, net............. - - 2,165 - - 2,165
Other longterm assets..............ccueee... 8 64 3,912 581 - 4,565
Totalnoncurrent assets..................... 8 64 6,077 581 - 6,730
Total aSSetS......cccvvveeiicveiieeecieee e, $ 34 $ 1,550 $ 15,469 $ 1,806 $ - $ 18,859
Liabilities

Accountspayable..........cccoceeiiveieennn. $ 66 $ 246 $ 3,129 $ 40 $ - $ 3481
Other current liabilities....................... 17 43 4,030 391 - 4,481
Total currentiabilities......................... 83 289 7,159 431 - 7,962
Other longterm liabilities.................... 231 202 4,273 604 - 5,310
Total longterm liabilities.................... 231 202 4,273 604 - 5,310
Total liabilitieS..........cceeeeeeeeiiiiiieieees 314 491 11,432 1,035 - 13,272
Carrying amount, Net..........c....cveee... $ (280) $ 1,059 $ 4,037 $ 771 $ = $ 5,587

There are no material restrictions on distributions of the assets disclosed above, except for certain property and equipn
which is pledged as collateral as discussedote 11i Debt. Liability holders typically have recourse to the general credit of the
Company when seeking to enforce settlement of liabilitieee Nbte 237 Related Parties for additional discussion on the
Companyés transactions with its VI Es.

Note 68 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
RIOS ANOBOUIDMENT. .. ..ttt s b anebanans $ 1,488,910 $ 1,412,428
(0701 g1 (W To o] a T o] L0T0 | {1 25,183 97,689
] 01 LS PP 54,511 45,603
Land andouilding.........coooeoiiiiii i ————— 2,197 2,197
(@10 T PSR 17,261 17,197
Total property an@QUIDMENT.........ouuuiiii it e e e e e e e e e e eeen, 1,588,062 $ 1,575,114
Less: AccumulatedepreCiation..........c.uuuiieeieeee e e e e e e e s (555,975 (508,794
Total property and EqUIPMEIMIET. .........oiiiui e e e e e e e e e s e e eeaaas 1,032,087 $ 1,066,320

See alsdNote 9i Loss o

Capital Expenditures

n Impairment of Assets.

Total capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 20840wvierdlion, $112.6 million and

$219.9 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2020, capital expenditures included $80.5 milliom tredated t
acquigtion, reactivation and upgrade costs of the Shelf Drilling Enterprise. During the year ended December 31, 2019, capit
expenditures included $176.0 million related to the two premium newbuild CJ46jads delivered in May 2019 ($121.8 million

of which was financed by the issuance of common shares. Selaksd6i Shar e h ol d e rNot@ 20E §uppleingntala n d
Cash Flow Information).

As of December 31, 2020, construction in progress included $81.2 million related to the Shelf Enténgrise.
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Sales and Disposals

Sales and disposals of property and equipment with a net carrying valde/ ahiion, $3.5 million and $3.1 million
during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were conclodigrdéoceedof $4.2 million, $1.3
million and $0.8 million, respectively, which resulted in a loss of disposal of assédsbaniflion, $2.2 million and $2.3 million,
respectively.SeeNote 7i AssetsHeld for Sale for information on the sale of rigs recorded as assets held for sale.

Note7d Assets Held for Sale

As of December 31, 2021, thenereno rigs recorded as assets held for sale. As of December 31, 2020, the Randolph
Yost, Trident 15, Key Hawaii, Galveston Key and Shelf Drilling Journey were recorded as assets held for safmNSte9i
Loss on Impairment of Assets.

In the fourth quarteof 2020, the Company executed agreements to sell the five rigs recorded as assets held for sale f
total proceeds of $80.9 million The Company recorded an impairment on these rigs of $11.2 million during the year ended
December 31, 2020 based on thie goceeds less estimated costs to sell the fidgee Company received gross cash deposits
totaling $16.5 million related to these sales in 2020, of which $15.5 million relating to the sale of the Shelf Drilliey Jmas
recorded as restricted cashtome Companydés consolidated balance sheet as

In the third quarter of 2021he Company executed an agreement to sell the High Island VII for $4.2 miliating the
year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed the Salefddrilling Journey, High Island VII, Trident 15, Key Hawaii,
Galveston Key and Randolph Yost with a combined carrying valu8@B#illion for total net proceeds of83.3million, which
resulted in a gain on disposal di.$million. During the yeaended December 31, 2020, the Company sold two rigs, the Trident
X1V and Hibiscus with a combined carrying value of $0.2 million, for total net proceeds of $6.0 million which resultedhio@ g
disposal of $5.8 million. During the year ended DecemliePB19, the Company sold the Key Gibraltar, Adriatic X, Rig 124 and
Comet with a combined carrying value of $5.0 million for total net proceeds of $8.2 million and recognized a gain onofisposal
$3.2 million.

Note80 Leases

The Company has operating lease agreements principally for office and yard space, expatriate employee accommodati
vehicles and rig and office equipment with either cancellable orcannellable lease terms. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of differemtns and conditions. The leases typically are for periods rangingoftem
to five years and are spread across multiple geogetaplications where the Company operates. Most leases include extension
and/fot er mi nati on options, where the exercise of the | ease r
include payments that are adjusted periodically f oridualnf | ¢
value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Seblale®i Loss on Impairment of Assets.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not have any finance leases.
Operating right -of-use assets and operating leasiabilities

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
Right-of-use assets
Other I0NGLEIMASSELS. ... ..uviiiiiiiiie ettt s e st e e e e aanee s $ 12,376 $ 14,591
Lease liabilities
Other CUITENHADIIITIES. ... ..coieeeeee e e e e e e e e e e ana e eeeeens $ 7,602 $ 8,563
Other longtermliabilities. .........coooiii e, 8,609 13,730
$ 16,211 $ 22,293

China Merchants bareboat charter leases

On February 21, 201%he Company signed agreements with China Merchants to bareboat charter two premium newbuil
jack-up rigs, each with an initial contract term of three years and options to extend the lease term or to buy the rig. ratimge ope
leases provided for totldase payments of approximately $16.4 million each to be paid over the respective lease tieenthird
quarter of 2020, the Company paid $3.9 million to settle and terminate its obligations under the bareboat charter agittements
China MerchantsThe Company did not take possession of the leased rigs prior to the termin@ti@n@ompany recorded $3.6

F-22



SHELF DRILLING, LTD. III SHELF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DRILLING

million in operating and maintenance expenses in the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended Decembe
2020 related to thkease terminations.

Lease expense
During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, total lease expergs8 miof, $12.1 million and $13.9
million, respectively, of which &5 million, $8.1 million and $7.6 million, respectively, related to the operating leasedfgtse

assets and33 million, $4.0 million and $6.3 million, respectively, related to shiertn leases

Following is the summary of the maturity of lease lidibs as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

20 8,037
2023ttt e e e e e e e e e aaaaeaaaaaaaeaataaatattttatatrarrrraraarr————., 5,615
20 1 3,048
2025 it eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeeeteeetet ettt ettt e ettt tt ettt te s s —— et et ta et etereteeerrees 515
20 2 T 93
B [T =T L L= SR PSR 93
o) = I (oo e 3T A =] ] £ U $ 17,401
LTSS 1 = =) 1,190
Present Value Of |€adADIIITIES. ...........iiiiiiii e e et e e e e e e e aa b s e e eeeesstban s eeeseeanstans e ssennnnnnnnnns $ 16,211

The weighteeaverage remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate for operating leafeisgyhssets are
as follows:

December 31,
2021 2020

Weightedaverage remaining lease term (YEars).......cocveuvuveeeeiiiuireeeiniieeeessineeens 2.56 3.22
Weightedaverage diSCOUNT FALE. ...........ueiiiiiiiiieiiiiiie e 6.31% 5.82%

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Compars; Qadlitn, $9.4 million and $7.0 million,
respectively for amounts that have been included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities.

Note96 Loss on Impairment of Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of its-limeg assetsvhenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recovdaiadse. impairment calculations use significant unobservable
inputs, which are based on numerous estimateghahdie year by garassumptions about future operations and market conditions
for each rigand arehereforeconsidered nomecurring level 3 fair value measurements.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Compangidered thgeneral economic and business environment,
industry specific indicators, Company specific factors and conditions related to specific assets or asset groups alhdidsdtes
identify any indicators which would trigger an impairment analysis for its-lowegl assets. Therefore, the Company did not record
a loss on impairment during the year ended December 31, 2021.

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company identified severatanors of impairment, including amprecedented
decrease in global oil anthturalgas demand and an increase in economic instability resulting from the Candemic, as
well as the sharp decline in Brent crude oil pricdaurther, as the number gflobal cases of COVIEL9 increased, many
governments implemented lock downs and travel restriction measures. The resulting reduction in oil consumption armdiggkice cre
significant downward pressure on rig demand and dayrddesing the fourth quarteof 2020,the Company identified several
indicators of impairment, includingpntinuingdownward pressure on revenues due to customer contract terminations, suspension
and renegotiation of prices generated from the impact of the pandemic on global femodnd hereforethe Compangoncluded
that a triggering event had occurred during the first quarter and fourth quarter of 2020 and performed an asset impdysisent an
for its longlived assets during these periods.

The assumptions used in tA820 impairment calculations included in the first few years an average marketed utilization
above 80% and a modest average dayrate increase over 2020. The discount rates used in 2020 were within the range of 1
16%, which represents an increase fimior years, primarily due to the negative impacts of COYD

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a loss on impairment of assets of $249.2 million in
consolidated statements of operations. Impairment losses during tlemgledrDecember 31, 2020 were recognized on 19 rigs and
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otherlongl i ved assets and five rigs classified as assets held
property and equipment of $183.1 million and also included thainmgnt of assets held for sale of $11.2 million, current deferred
costs of $19.4 million, neourrent deferred costs of $26.8 million and rigfiuse assets of $8.7 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company identified indicatopaaiment which prompted the Company
to assess its lonlived assets for impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a $58.0 milli
impairment loss on eight rigs and other ldivgd assets, including three rigs classifexlassets held for sale. This impairment
l oss related to the impairment of the Companydés prompmert.y
current deferred costs of $2.4 million, roarrent deferred costs of $3.8 million amght-of-use assets of $1.1 million.

Note 100 Income Taxes
Tax Rate

The provision for income taxes is based on the tax laws and rates applicable in the jurisdictions in which the Compa
operates and earns income or is considered resident fonénaxx purposes. Tax rates can vary significantly between jurisdictions.
SDL is exempt from all income taxation in the Cayman Islands, its country of incorporation. The relationship betweeisithre pro
for income taxes and income or loss before inctemes can vary significantly from peridd-period considering, among other
factors:

the overall level of income before income taxes;

changes in the blend of income that is taxed based on gross revenues rather than income before taxes;

rig movements between taxing jurisdictions;

changes in rig operating structures which may alter the basis on which the Company is taxed in a paitdidaon

and

71 fluctuations in foreign currency rates against the U.S. Dollar which are used to measure tax receivables in vario
jurisdictions.

=A =4 =4 =4

The annual effective tax rate f30.0)%,( 7% and@mpodontiyefyears endedt i
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense wag&5million, $19.7 million and $13.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. The ogponents of the provisions for income taxes were as follows (in thoysands

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
CUITENT TAXBXPENSE. ....uveeeeeiiitieee et etaeee e e itaae e e s saaeeesasaaseeeananneeessnnnaeeeesnnnneens $ 17,85 $ 18,513 $ 11,941
Deferred taXXPENSE. .. ... e e e e e e e 595 1,182 1,038
INCOME LAXEXPENSE. ... veeeveeeeureeeetteeeeseeeeteeeebeeeeseesesteeeessaeeaseeasaeseanseeasees $ 18,470 $ 19,695 $ 12,979

The following is a reconciliation of the difference.
computed at the Cayman statutory rate of zero percent an

Years endedDecember 31,

2021 2020 2019
Income tax expense at the Cayman statutory rate..........cccooceeeiveeeniunnnnn. $ - $ = $ =
Taxes on earnings subject to rates different than Cayman statutory rate 13,509 15,479 15,839
Change in reserve for uncertain tax positionsS...........ccoovuuveeriiiieeeeiiinen, 2,852 3,219 (1,499)
Adjustments to prior year tax liabilities ogceivables..............cccoeecvvvveennn, 1,993 (527) (1,199)
Interest and penalties on uncertain tax POSItioNS...........ccuveeiiiieeeeeiiineenn. 116 1,524 (162)
[N COMIE LAY XD ..ttt e ettt ettt e e e et e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeas $ 18,470 $ 19,695 $ 12,979

Income tax expense in 2021 was lower time2020primarily due to a reduction in revenwsasd lower interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions applicable for the pefadjally offset by an increase in tax expense primarily related to prior
year tax receivables which areasured in foreign currencies and subject to fluctuations against the U.S. Dollar

F-24



SHELF DRILLING, LTD. III SHELF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DRILLING

Deferred Taxes

The Companyds deferred tax assets iHomaldsunhieh ae exdpecteddtd er y
utilized in future periods. To the extent that insufficient taxable income is generated by the relevant subsidiarniesyeafstto
fully utilize these net operating loss cafoywards, any remaining carfprwards will expire by2029

The Companyds deferred tax liabilities as of Decembe]
carrying value of certain asts for financial reporting purposes versus the basis of such assets for income tax reporting purpos
and liabilities related to the future income tax cost of repatriating the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiariéshicimare
considered peranently reinvested. If unforeseen law changes or other facts and circumstances cause a change in expectat
regarding the future tax cost of repatriating these earnings, the resulting adjustments to the deferred tax balances aould ha
materialeffecon t he Companyés consolidated financial statements

The significant components of the Companyédés deferred

December 31,

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets
Net operating lossarry-forwards of subsidiaries...........ccccceeeveiiiiiiiiiiiiie s $ 5,244 $ 6,582
ValuatioNAIIOWANCE.........ueiiieiiiiiie ettt eeanneees (2,003) (4,624)
$ 3,241 $ 1,958
Deferred tax liabilities
(DI o] (<o i (o) TSRS $ 5,036 $ 3,656
UNFeMiIttEAEAININGS. ... tteeeieeeeeiieiiiieeeeeeeeeeeesssssbeeereeeeeeessaasnsareeeeeaaeeesssaanrnssnneaeaeens 2,433 1,935
$ 7,469 $ 5,591

Deferred tax assets are recorded net of any valwuati ol
used to determine the valwuation all owance, includingsany
ability to recognize the underlying deferred tax assets and could require future adjustments to the valuation allowances.

The $2.6 million decrease in the valuation allowance was primarily due to an increase in future estimated taxable incol
at relevant subsidiags which is expected to allow the Company to use a larger amount of its net operating lefeswardg in
future periods.
Liabilities for Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company has tax liabilities related to various tax positions that have beemtétkertex returns of certain subsidiaries

t hat have resulted in a reduction in tax I|liabilities fo
fiuncer t atheyabe mone likelyhtream not to be succes#fdhallenged by th relevant tax authorities in the future.
The changes to liabilities for uncertain tax positions, excluding interest and penalties, were as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Balance, beginning Of€ar. ... $ 11,721 $ 8,502 $ 10,001
Additions for current period taBOSItiONS..........coceeivieeiiieiieei e, 631 3,216 654
Additions for prior period tax POSItIONS............euveiermiiimiieriiiae e eeieeeeeeeaeeen, 2,588 3 -
Reductions for prior period tgxOSItioNS.............ccevvevvviiiiiieiieeiiiiien, (367) - (2,153
BalanCe, €N OFEAI.........c.uuieiiiiiiee et e e e e e e e e aae e e $ 14,573 $ 11,721 $ 8,502

The Company recognizes any interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax exp
Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions wergpgmsef $0.1) million, expense of $(1.5) million and benefit o
$0.2 million for the years ended DecemBé&r 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of Decerdbeg?021 and 2020, the Company
had ®.5 million and $2.4 million of accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions recorded as efien long
liabilities.

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions may change from ytearear based on various factors, including, but not limited to,
favorable or unfavorable resolution of tax audits or disputes, expiration of relevant statirteésatibns, changes in tax laws or
changes to the interpretation of existing tax laws due to new legislative guidance or court rulings, or new uncertéiiotiax pos
taken on recently filed tax returns. Although the Company has recorded liabilitiestagidiax benefits resulting from tax positions
whi ¢ h, in managementds |judgment ,if challeagedrby the relévanktaxlaythoritids anrthe n ¢
future, the Company cannot provide assurance as to the final tax liability related to its tax positions as it is notoppssitide
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with certainty the ultimate outcome of any related tax disputess, Tis reasonably possible that the ultimate tax liabilities related
to such tax positions could substantially exceed recorded liabilities related to such tax positions, resulting in advatseaffect
on the Companyds earapéraiiagnd and cash flows from

Tax Returns and Examinations

The Company is currently subject to, or expects to be subject to, income tax examinations in various jurisdictions whe
the Company operates or has previously operatedny tax authority successfully chaleges t he Companyo6s
including, but not limited to, tax positions related to the tax consequences of various intercompany transactionsetheetemis
of the Companyds subsidiaries i n anjgrisdicgon (sychuas degerded profiis vemsys t
actual profits), or the applicability of relevant double tax treaty benefits to certain transactions; or should the Ctmapasisg o
l ose a material tax dispute inadnyijtyricodil dt iionre,r etalsee Gairb
earnings and cash flows from operations could be materially adversely affected. As of December Bilcd2f21ax periods from
2015 through 2021 remain open fjorisdictonsami nati on in many of

The Company is currently challenging a tax assessment of $20.2 million, inclusive of interest, penalties eeldtéges,
tooneofth€Co mpany 6 s T©Bhp Gompany hasmagpealed the assessment and believes it is more likely thahinofll
ultimately prevail. In January 2022, the Company began making required monthlgptasitscalculated over a six year period
related to this assessment while the Companyés appeal i s
Note 116 Debt
Summary

The principal amounts and carrying values of debt are as fo{ilawlsousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
8.875% Senior Secured First Lien Notes, due November 2024
PrNCIPAIAMOUNT......ciiiiie e et e e et e e e e earree e e $ 310,000 $ -
Unamortized debt ISSUBNCOSTES. .........uuiiiiiiiiieeiiiiiie sttt e e e s e e e e nnnees (5,702 -
UNamOrtiZEAIISCOUNL. ......o.eeiiiiiiiiie ettt (4,872 -
CalTYINGVAIUR. ......oeieeiceieceie e e eeeee e s e e s e see e sbeesaaesaeeanteestessneeenseesaeesneesnsensns $ 299,426 $ =
8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes, due February 2025
PriNCIP@IAMOUNT.......co it e e e e ee s $ 900,000 $ 900,000
Unamortized debt iSSUANCOSES.........coiiiiiiiieii i (8,511 (10,801)
O aF=Taple] gu4=Te o] (=10 ][0 oo 1,614 2,048
(OF=T 4 Y110 | VZ- 1 VTSRO SPR $ 893,103 $ 891,247
Revolving Credit Facility, due April 2023
Principal amount, carryingalUe................ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e $ - $ 55,000
8.75% Senior Secured Notes, due November 2024
PriNCIPAIAMOUNT.....ceiiiiiee e e e e e e st e e s st e e e e e srbaaeesanbaeaeeanes $ = $ 80,000
Unamortized debt ISSUBNCOSTES. .........uueiiiiiiiie ittt - (2,284)
(710 041010 1771 V=TT PR $ - $ 77,716
LI = | PSP $ 1,192,529 $ 1,023,963

The total unamortized debt issuance costs for the Revolving Credit Facility, due April 202&veeaad $3.4 million, as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, recorded under othdgetamgssets on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Following is asummary of scheduled lortgrm debt maturities by year as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

2022, et e s r e e e e e e et e e e -
20023 e et -
2024 e e e e e E e e s e e S— 111414144141 ra e e e reae et 310,000
2025, ———— 1111 £ 2 e e e e e e e e e s s e e n e 900,000
2026ttt e e e e e e e e e s a R e e e s e e s S——— 111412541441 n b e e rte e et >
LI €= L PP PPTPPPPPPPON $ 1,210,000

Revolving Credit Facility, due April 2023

On February 24, 2014, SDHL entered into a revolving credit facility, which was subsequently amended four time:
including on January 9, 2017 and June 4, 2018 anTde SDbIld i f i
Revolver had a fadty of $225 million, which could be drawn as, or as a mixture of, cash, letters of credit or bank guarantees
subject to the satisfaction of contractual conditions set forth in the underlying credit agreement. All borrowings 8L the
Revolver wered mature on April 30, 2023 and letters of credit and bank guarantees issued under the SDHL Revolver were to exp
no later than five business days prior to April 30, 2023. The facility was cancellable at any time with no penalty or.premiu

SDHL6égaohloins under the SDHL Revolver were guaranteed
AfiGuarantorso), subject to certain exceptions. Theerasdets i g ¢
owned by the Garantors.

The SDHL Revolver also contained various customary r
leverage ratio, subject to certain specificddd c k s and adj ustments as outlined i.n th
The covenants included a maximum Total Net Leverage Ratio and provided restrictions on dividend payments through April :
2023 based on the Total Net Leverage Ratio. See also the relief from the Total Net Leverage Ratio financial coveraat discus
bel ow. There were certain contractual i mitations the ch
SDHL Revolver, including but not limited to prohibiting draw down while an event of default or material adverse eventivas ong
and requiring that the Company be in compliance with its financial covenant obligations both before and after the draw down.

Interest for the SDHL Revolver was based on the Londoninem k of f ered rate (ALI BORO) ,
(AdA usted LI BORO) plus a specified margin (AAdjusted LI BC
plus 0.5% peryear,ortheoneont h Adj usted LI BOR rate plus a specified m
was a range from a minimum of 3.0% per year to a maximum of 5.0% per year for borrowings at the Adjusted LIBOR Rate a
from a minimum of 2.0% per year to a maximum of 4.0% per year for borrowings at the Alternative Base Rate based on the hig
of SDL&DHLOGs Tot al Net Leverage Ratio, the (AApplicabl e I
2020 as discussed below.

a
fi

On September 21, 2020, the Company entered into the f
Amendment provided relief from the Total Net Leverage Ratio financial covenant from January 1, 2021 until September 29, 20
or upon the Companydéds voluntary election to early teemin
tem of the Amendment: increase of the applicable margin by 100 basis points, new financial covenants required a minimum 1.5:
consolidated coverage ratio and a maximum 1.5:1.0 senior secured leverage ratio (defined in the Amendment to exchide liens ju
to those securing the SDHL Revolver); and a prohibition of cash dividends by SDHL until the end of such covenant rélief, whi
effectively limited cash dividends from the Company to its shareholders.

The outstanding borrowings under the SDHL Revolver wdassified as alonger m | i abil ity on
consolidated balance sheets. Participation fees accrued on financial letters of credit and bank guarantees at theéviapgiicable
for borrowings at the Adjusted LIBOR Rate and on4fioancial lettes of credit and bank guarantees at 50% of the Applicable
Margin for borrowings at the Adjusted LIBOR Rate. SDHL was liable for a commitment fee on the daily unused amount of th
SDHL Revolver at 35% of the Applicable Margin for borrowings at the AdjustB®R Rate.

In March 2021, the Company fully settled the outstanding $55.0 million of the balance due under the SDHL Revolver ar
the bank guarantees totaling $22.9 million. The Company recognized a$3sgmfllion associated with the debt extinguisent,
which included a $3.1 million writeff of unamortized debt issuance costs. These transactions were recorded as an expense
interest expense and financing charges during the year ended December 31, 2021. The amortization of debt issuaimog costs c
the year ended December 31, 2021 was $0.4 million. The Company owed $55.0 million under the SDHL Revolver and had iss
bank guarantees totaling $23.6 million against the SDHL Revolver as of December 31, 2020.

8.75% Senior Secured Notes, dudovember 2024

On February 20, 2020, SDHL completed the issuance through a private offering of $80.0 million aggregate princip
amount of new 8. 75% Senior Secured Notes, due November 1
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receivel proceeds of $80.0 million, less $2.7 million of fees and expenses, which were recorded as debt issuance costs and \
being amortized over the life of the debt. The Company used the proceeds to replenish its liquidity following the mcdtistio
Shelf Drilling Enterprise in January 2020 and to finance the reactivation and upgrade costs associated with the deptbgment of
rig in advance of its contract commencement in January 2021 in the Gulf of Thailand.

SDHL&6s obligati ons Siencduerre dt hNo t8e.s7 5We rSengwar anteed by
(collectively, the ASSN Guarantorso), subject to cewrgdai n
by second lien security interest on certain rigs andraiksets owned by the SSN Guarantors.

Interest on the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes accrued from February 20, 2020 at a rate of 8.75% and was pay:s
semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year. The effective interest rate on tBe@ai5Secured Notes
was 9.65%.

At any time prior to August 20, 2021, SDHL was entitled to redeem the notes, in whole or in part at a price equal to 100
of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and a premium of at least 1%, to bed:dlaséat on the present value
of the debt.

If SDHL experienced a change of control, as defined in the indenture governing the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes, it v
obligated to offer to repurchase the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes at an offer price in abhth Hd#6 of their principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest.

In March 2021, the Company fully settled the $80.0 million of 8.75% Senior Secured Notes. The Company recognized
loss of$6.4million associated with this debt extinguishment, which included a $4.2 million call premium and a $2.1 millien write
off of unamortized debt issuance costs. These transactions were recorded as an expense in interest expense and financing cl
during the year ended December 31, 2021. The total amortization of debt issuance costs during the year ended Decémber 31,
was $01 million.

8.875% Senior Secured First Lien Notes, due November 2024

On March 26, 2021, SDHL completed the issuance through a private offering of $310.0 million aggregate principal amou
of new 8.875% Senior Secured First Lien Notes, due November 25420( t he A8 . 875 % Not eso0) i ss|
proceeds of $304.1 million, including a $5.9 million discount. SDettorded $.0 million of fees and expenses as debt issuance
costs, which are being amortized over the life of the dBté. reslting $297.1million net proceedwere used to repand terminate
the SDHL Revolvercash collateralize bank guarantees issued under the SDHL Revolver, redeem and repurchase all of t
outstanding 8.75% Senior Secured Natped for general corporate puges

The obligations under the 8.875% Notes are guarantee
guarantee the obligations under the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes aaduaegby a firstpriority lien on substantially all of the
assets of the Company and the subsidiary guarantors.

Interest on the 8.875% Notes accrues from March 26, 2021 at a rate of 8.875% and is payamasaiyiin arrears
beginning on November 15, 2021 and on May 15 and November 15 of each year théFbafedfective interest rate on the 8.875%
Notesis 10.28%

At any time prior to March 15, 2022, SDHL is entitled to redeem the notes, in whole or in part at a price equal to 100%
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest dndna-wk ol ed pr emi um. On or after
redeem the 8.875% Notes, in whole or part, at the redemption prices set forth below, together with accrued and unpajd interes
to but not including the redemption date.

Redemption
Period Price
Bet ween March 15, 2 062.2...a.n.d.. Ma.r.c.h..1l5....2.0.2.3.6... 106.656%
Bet ween March 15, 202@ ..and..Sept.ember..15....20.2 103.328%
On or after SePtEMBEr 15, 2@23.......cceieiiie it eeeee e e e e e ta s staeteeeeeetaeesesaaaasnnsasanaeeeaaeeseessnnssnnnnnneneeanees 100.000%

In addition, at any time prior to March 15, 2022, the Company will be entitled at its option on one @coasiens to
redeem the 8.875% Notes, from the net cash proceeds of one or more qualified equity offerings, in an amount not to exfceed 35
the aggregate principal amount at a redemption price of 108.875% plus accrued and unpaid interest. |If acdmdrgeacurs,
as per the terms of the 8.875% Notes, the Company must offer to repurchase the outstanding 8.875% Notes at a prigé%qual to :
plus any accrued and unpaid interest.
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8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes, due February 2025

On February 72018, SDHL completed the issuance of $600.0 million of new 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes due Februa
15, 2025 (the fA8.25% Senior Unsecured NotesoO0) issued at
$10.7 million of fees and expses which were recorded as debt issuance costs and are being amortized over the life of the debt.
June 19, 2018, SDHL completed the issuance of an additional $300.0 million of 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes at anagsue pric
101% for total gross poeeds of $303.0 million, including a $3.0 million premium. SDHL received net proceeds of $297.2 million,
after the deduction of $5.8 million of fees and expenses which were recorded as debt issuance costs and are beingramortized
the life of the debt.

Interest on the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes accrues at a rate of 8.25% per year and is payableapnin arrears
on February 15 and August 15 of each yéire effective interest rate on the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes is 8.54%.

SDHL 6satoibdnsg under the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes
(collectively, the ANote Guarantorso), subject to casteet ai
of payment by SDHL and éhNote Guarantors:

T rank senior in right of payment to any of SDHLO®6Gs and
if any;
rank pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of St Note
Guarantors;

1 are effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured indebtedness of SDHL and the Note Guarantors, to the ex

of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness and
are structurally subordinated to all existing andifatindebtedness, preferred stock and other liabilities, including trade
payables, of any neguarantor subsidiaries of SDHL.

=a

At any time prior to February 15, 2021, SDHL is entitled to redeem the notes, in whole or in part at a price equal to 100
of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and a premium of at least 1%, to be calculated based onvileg@resent
of the debt. SDHL may also redeem the notes of up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount at a redemption price of 108.Z
plus accrued and unpaid interest from the net cash proceeds from one or more qualified equity offerings.

On or after February 15, 2@, SDHL may redeem the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes, in whole or part, at the redemptiot
prices set forth below, together with accrued and unpaid interest up to and including the redemption date.

Redemption
Period Price

Between February 15, 2021 aR€bruary 14, 2022..........uuuuuuuiiiiaiaiaiaiaieieieieeeieaaeaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaeaeeeeeeeeess 106.188%

Between February 15, 2022 and February 14, 2023.........ccooiuiiiiiiiiieee e e e e e s meeeeeeeameeas 104.125%

Bet ween February 15, 2023 and February 14....2. 102.063%

OnorafterFebruary 12,024 . . . . é . . . . . . . . . . . e 100.000%
If SDHL experiences a change of control, as defined in the indenture governing the 8.25% Senior Unsecured &otes ar
decrease in the rating of the 8.25% Senior Unsecured Noi
Poorés Financi al Services LLC (AS&P6s0) by one or moese gt

at an offer price in cash equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Unsecured overdraft facility

On April 26, 2017, Shelf Drilling (Egypt) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a $5.0 million
equivakentof foreign currency unsecured and uncommitted credit facility. The facility was available in foreign currency to finance
the subsidiaryds running expenses, overheads and payament
cdculated using the Central Bank of Egypt Mid Corridor rate plus 3% per annum. An additional stamp duty of 0.2% per annu
was to be paid quarterly on actual utilization. This facility was withdrawn in the fourth quarter of 2020.

Terms Common to All Indebtedness
The 8.875% Notes and 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes contain customary restrictive covenants. These agreements a
contain a provision under which an event of default by SDHL or by any restricted subsidiary on any other indebtedness exceed

$25.0 million would be triggered if such default: a) is caused by failure to pay the principal or interest when due after the
applicable grace period, or b) results in the acceleration of such indebtedness prior to ndtar&875% Notes and 8.25%
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Senior Unsecured Notes contain covenants that, amongtotihér n g s , ' imit SDHLO&6s ability anc
subsidiaries to:

Incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares;

Pay divicends or make other distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, any equity interests;

Make other restricted payments;

Make certain acquisitions or investments;

Create or incur liens;

Transfer or sell assets;

Incur restrictions on the payments of dividendsthier distributions from restricted subsidiaries;

Enter into transactions with affiliates and

Consummate a merger or consolidation or sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially al
of the Companyds assetéd assetstain subsidi

To T o To T To T T Do

The 8.875% Notes and 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes also contain standard events of default. The Company wa
compliance with all covenants of its debt agreements as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Interest Expense

Interest expense, including the amortization of debt issuance costs, discounts and premi#h82\8asillion, $87.0
million and $77.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note128 Employee Benefit Plans
Overview

The Company sponsors various employee benefit programs, including retention plans, defined contribution plans, end
service plans and defined benefit plans. These plans are governed by statutory laws, union agreements and/or Comaany polic
appropriate. Eligibility under these plans may vary based on jurisdiction, years of service or other factors, as othkned in
respective plans or Company policies. Cash payments are made by the Company immediately for certain matching contribu
programs, when a triggering event occurs, such as meeting of the vesting period for a retention plan, or after the flaparture o
employee for certain postemployment benefit programs.

Shore-BasedRetention Plans

The Companyecorded $.3 million, $3.7 millionand $2.7 million expense fahorebasedretention plans for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectiV@tal cash payments under skeetention plans are expected to #6$
million during 2022. The Compangcorded obligations ofZ9 million and $1.4 million in other current liabilities and other leng
term liabilities, respectively, and assets for retention plans paid in advance of $2.9 million and $4.3 million in @htassets
and other longerm assets, respectively, on thensolidated balance shest of December 31, 2021. The Company recorded
obligations for these plans of $1.6 million and $0.9 million in other current liabilities and othetelondjabilities, respectively,
on the consolidated balance sheet as of Deeefib, 2020.

In November 2020, the Company granted a retention plan with payments in 2021 and 2022, calculated based on the
value of the Companyb6s common st ock o v-keased eompkbesitionnawatds fjrantac
in 2019 and 2020. This retention plan had a maximum cash payout of $4.5 millidngust 2021, the Company amended this
retention plan after the cancellation of the associated-&izaexl compensation awards. The amended plan has fixed cash payment:
totaling $3.8 million, of which $1.9 million was paid durinige year ended December 2021. SeeNote 177 Sharebased
Compensation for additi on a-basallicosnpensatonptans. of t he Companyds

In May 2021, the Company granted a new cagniitn bonus plan for certain employees for a total of $9.0 million, which
is expensed over the vesting period through June 30, 2024. The total amount of $9.0 million was paid during the year en
December 31, 2021. The plan has a repayment provisiuinhwequires employees to repay tetentionamountif employment
is not maintained through the end of the vesting period, with certain exceptions.
Defined Contribution Plans

The Company recorded% million, $7.5 million and $8.6 million expense fdefined contribution plans for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Employee End of Service Benefit Plans

The Company recordefi2.6 million, $3.8 million and $4.5 million in expense for employee end of service plarisefor
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020201, respectively. The discount rate used in the analyses ranged.®6rto 14.9%
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The discount rate used in the analyses ranged from 2.2% to 14.5% for the year e
Deember 31, 2020 and from 3.0% to 14.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2019. The assumed average annual ra
compensation increasanged froml.0% to 13.7%or the year endeBecember 31, 2021, zero to 3% for the year ended December
31, 2020 and 2.0%o 5.0% for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company recorded obligations for theskeHildns
million and$13.8million in other current liabilities and other lowgrm liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets
as of Decembesl, 2021. The Company recorded obligations of $1.7 million and $13.1 million in other current liabilities and othel
long-term liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020.

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company rexrdeda gainof $0.1 million and expensef $0.1 million and $0.3 million ilther, net inhe consolidated
statements of operatiomslated to its defined benefit plan for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respective
The discount rates used in the analyses Re28%, 1.75% and 2.62% for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The Compangcgorded obligations for these plans 6fBmillion and .6 million in other current liabilities and
other longterm liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021. The Company recort
obligations of $0.1 million =ad $1.9 million in other current liabilities and other letegm liabilities, respectively, on the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020.

Note 138 Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in various claims and lawsuits in the normal course of bu3ihesSsompany does not believe

that the resolution of these legal proceedings will have a material adverse impact on its financial condition, restdtagppe
cash flows.

Insurance

The Companyds hull and machinery, property, cargo an:¢
market policies that the Company renewedNmvember 30, 2021 for one yedrhe Company periodically evaluates ftsks,
insurance limitsandseif nsur ed retentions. As of December 31,128I®2 1, t

Hull and Machinery Coverage

As of December 31, 2021, under t pdicie§ thenQompayydnsaintainadal a n
million deductible per occurrence, with no deductible in the event of loss greater3aaf the insured value of the rig. The
Company also has insurance coverage for costs incurred for wreck removal fortheoj@ste of t he r i g 620.0i ns |
million. The hull and machinery policy also covers war risk, which is cancellable either immediately @rdnithy s 6 not i cC ¢
underwriters in certain circumstances. To protect against this cancellatipghes€ompany also insures, through commercial
market policies, a Political Risks Policy covering acts of war and terrorism wtfGag@®0deductible per occurrence (an additional
$2.75million in certain countries) and a limit 0280.0million (including $L05.0million limit applicable to only certain countries).

As of December 31, 2021, the Company also carri@®million of additional insurance per occurrence that generally
coveaed expenses that would otherwise be assumed by the well owner, such as costs to control thdrivedkpenses and
pollution from the well. This additional insurance provides coverage for such expenses in circumstances in which theh@empany
a leal or contractual liability arising from gross negligence or willful misconduct. The policy deductibleGisniflion per
occurrence.

Excess Liability Coverage
As of December 31, 2021, the Company carridd@0million to $400.0million of commercial market excess liability
coverage, exclusive of deductibles, which generally covered onshore and offshore risks such as personal igarty progerty

claims and thireparty noncrew claims, including pollution from the rig andnrowner avi ati on | iabil it
liability coverage generally has 4.8 million deductible per occurrence.
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SelfInsured Medical Plan

The Company provides sdlisured medical plans to certain employees in certain jurisdicsobggct to exclusions and
limitations. The Company offers a séifsured medical plan for certain U.S. residentbhéged expatriate employees and their
eligible dependents to provide medical, vision and dental coverage within the U.S. The mawiential liability as of December
31, 2021 related to the plan i2.8 million, as the Company is reinsured for the claims in excess of that amount by-patttyrd
insurance provider.

The Company also offers a s@lured medical plan to provide medicaverage for certain employees represented by
labor unions and work under collective bargaining agreements, and their eligible dependents. The Company is fully résponsible
eligible claims.

Directorsd and officersd liability insurance

As of Decembe31, 2021, the Company carried258dmi | | i on directorsd and officer
any director or officer in respect of any loss or liability attached to him or her for a claim of negligence, defaulpfdeachr
breach otrust. The deductible under this policy varies based on the type of claim but can be as highhgHli@n per occurrence.

Surety Bonds and Other Bank Guarantees

It is customary in th€ o mp a bugirtess to have various surety bonds in place that secure customs obligations relatin

to the temporary importation of rigs and equipment and certain contractual performance and other oblidei@wnpany
maintains surety bond facilities in either3Jdollars or local currencies provided by several banksdia, the United Kingdom,
UAE, Nigeria and Thailandyhich may be secured by restricted cash balances to guarantee various contractual, performance a
customs obligations. As of December 31220, t he Companyds t ot al68.(amillionedf whicth®836d f ¢
million was outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, $%e Cc
million was outstanding and an additad$23.6 million of bank guarantees were drawn against the SDHL Revolver.

Other Contingencies

The Company received an assessment for withholding taxes for one of its subsidiaries related to multiple tax years un
review. The total amount of the taxsassment plus estimatpédnalties and interest wagZ5million as of December 31, 2021,
and the Company is indemnified fatZ3million of this exposue from the thirdparty prior owner of the subsidiary. The Company
does not believe that thdtimate resolution of these proceedings will have a material adverse impact on its financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

Note146 Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The <carrying amounts of t he @ aohpe caghbasd césh eqaivatentsa accounts s
receivable, restricted cash, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and operating lease liabilities, approximate thiegt fieéfuea

due to the shoitterm duration and/or the nature of the instruments.

The following table represents the estimated fair value and carrying value of thedondebt (in thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
value fair value value fair value
8.875% SenioBecured First Lien Notes, due Noveml
2024 $ 299,426 $ 319,142 $ = $ =
8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes, due February 2025 893,103 656,253 891,247 415,638
Revolving Credit Facility, due April 2023................... - - 55,000 55,000
8.75% Senior Secured Notes, due November 2024.. - - 77,716 68,000

$ 1,192529 $ 975,395 $ 1,023,963 $ 538,638

The estimated fair values of the 8.875% Notes and 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notgstarenagned using quoted market
prices, or Level 1 inputs, and the December 31, 2020 estimated fair value of the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes was détgrmined
Level 2 inpas. The Company believes the December 31, 2020 carrying value of the borrowings under the SDHL Revolve
approximatd its fair value due to the terms of the SDHL Revolver, including its variable interest rate. The estimated fair values ¢
the 8.875% Notes, 8.25% Senior Unsecured Notes and 8.75% Senior Secured Notes exclude unamortized debt issuance
discounts angrremiums, as applicable. Sdete 11i Debt.
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Derivative financial instruments were measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 2 inpiNste S
Derivative Financial Instruments.

Note 159 Interest Rate, Foreign Currency and CreditRisk

Interest Rate Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to interest rate risk include cash and cash equivalents ¢
debt. Exposure to interest rate risk may occur in relation to cash and cash equivalents, as the interestanoed on these
balances changes with market interest rates. Floating rate debt, where the interest rate may be adjastedafgror more
frequently over the life of the instrument, exposes the Company totshmrtchanges in market interest sata-ixed rate debt,
where the interest rate is fixed over the | if gearpekposeshttee i r
Company to changes in market interest rates if and when voluntary refinancing or refinancing ofgnushtiwith new debt
occurs The Company has in the past utilizaterest rate swaps or other derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Companyés functional C ur r en c ytions exposelt & curenBy.excldange tate r
risk. Thisrisk is primarily associatedi t h t he compensati on ¢ o0s puschasifigcdstsfeomSuppligrsa n
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

The Companyds primary currency exchange rate risk ma
partial payment in U.S. dollars and partial payment in local currefiog.payment portion denominated in local currency is based
on anticimted local currency requirements over the contract term and local statutory requirements. Due to various factors, includ
customer acceptance, local banking laws, other statutory requirements, local currency convertibility and the impaonhafrinflat
local costs, actual local currency needs may vary from those anticipated in the customer contracts, resulting in mant@éatexpo
currency exchange rate riska addition, the Company can utilize forex contracts to manage foreign exchange riskioatateain
currencies.SeeNote 18 Der i vati ve Financi al I nstruments for further ¢
exchange effect resulting from the Companyds i nitseperatng i on
results. TheCompany recognized a gain / (loss) of $0.4 milli$¢L.2) million and $(0.8) million related to net foreign currency
exchange during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are cash and cash equivalel

which are generally maintained at commercial banks with acceptable credit ratings, and accounts and other receivables w
primarily consist of trade receivables.

The market for the Companyds services is the offshore
consist of government owned or controlled energy companies, publicly listed global integrated @hiesngy independent
exploration and production compani es. Periodic credit e

generally does not require material collateral from its customers. However, the Company may froortitimeaequire its
customers to make advance payment or issue a bank guarantee/letter of credit in its favor to mitigate the +jgk/ofemin The
Company determines its expected credit losses for its pools of assets with similar risk characteristics bizsedcahloss
information as adjusted for future expectations.

Consolidated revenues by top customer for each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were as follo

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
LargestCUSTIOMET ... ....cciiiiiiieiiee et 32% 26% 29%
Second 1argeSIUSIOMET........uuiiiiiiie ittt 27% 26% 25%
Third |argeSIUSIOMEN ..o it 13% 14% 8%
ONEIS. ... 28% 34% 38%
100% 100% 100%
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Notel6d Shar ehol dersdé Equity

Authorized share capital and issued and outstanding shares

As of June 25, 2018, following the completion of an
Company was authorized to issue up to 144,063,473 common shares with a par value of $0.01 per share and 56,25@®@0 share:
registeredin he Nor wegi an Centr al Securities Depository (VPS) a

On February 21, 2019, the Company entered into agreements with affiliates of China Merchants, to acquire two premit
newbuild jackup rigs payable thimh the issuance of new common shares and to bareboat charter two additional premium newbuil
jack-up rigs, including an option to buy either or both of the rigs during the initial t8em.alsdNote 61 Property and Equipment
andNote 8i Leases. Thecguisition of the rigs closed on May 9, 2019 and as a result the Company issued 26,769,230 new comm
shares with a total value of $121.8 million and incurred $0.6 million of incremental direct costs telhtedhare issuance. The
shares represente®.4% of the total outstanding common shares of the Company upon issuance, making China Merchants t
Companyés | argest sharehol der .

OnAugust312020, the Companyds shareholders approved a re
184,063,473ommonshares with a par value of $0.01 per share.

The Company adopted the 2017 LTIP effective June 25, 2018, to provide for the isisduace options, restricted shares,
deferred shares, share units, unrestricted shares antbashe d awar ds (t he @ aweaempoyed Jliredtoss c e
and key employees who are in a posi t iempetfoomarc@andgrowth Augest s i ¢
2021, the Board of Directors amended the 2017 LTIP to increase the maximum number of shares to be granted under the ple
18.4 million shares from 14.4 million shareswards may be satisfied by newly issugthes, including shares held by a subsidiary
or by delivery of shares held in an affiliated employee benefit trust at the Company's disSktmbased compensation awatt
in 2019through2021 reduced theemaining shares reserved under the 2017 LTtPaamf December 31, 2022,645,268hares
were reserved by the Companyds Board of isaNete 170 Sharebfsedr i
Compensation. However, the Board of Directors may amend or alter the nundberres reserved for such purposes in future
periods.

As of December 31, 202137,115,79% f t he Companyo6s authorized 103816090 n s
shares were listed on the OSE. The remainimigstedshares represeshares held b€astle Harlan, Inc. and Lime Rock Partners
(togethert he A Sponsorso), o r, which lhateanot beerolistédemd are hoaaureshtly leqliieed t® be listed on
the OSE.

Share repurchase program

On September 1, 2019, the &d of Directors approved a share repurchase program under which the Company coulc
repurchase shares of the Companyds common stock for an a
approval (t he fA2019AnRrepurchasethshaes wdper cangeled amd yesumed the status of authorized an
unissued shares upon the repurchase date, asptliechased shares were considered constructively retired on the repurchase date
Shares were repurchased in the open markéh@®SE. In accordance with Cayman Islands law, the repurchased shares were
canceled by default immediately after repurchase. The Company made an accounting policy election to allocate theiparchase |
of repurchased shares between additional-paihpital and retained earnings. In March 2020, the Company suspended its
repurchase activities under the 2019 Repurchase Program and the program expired on September 1, 2021.

The Company repurchased approximately 721,000 shares of common stock at am @vesagf $2.16 (19.50 NOK) per
share during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 1.4 million shares of common stock at an average price of $2.13 (19.33 N
per share during the year ended December 31, 2019 under the 2019 Repurchase Program.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company was in compliance with the relevant contractual requirements in c
debt agreements, as applicable, and the regulatory requirements for the Cayman Islands and the OSE related to itshstee. repur

Shareholder rights and dividend distributions

All common shares have pari passu rights to participate in any common share dividends declared and represent the resi
claim on the Companyds assets. The Company ndeddDecerober 3p ay
2021,2020and 201Cer t ai n of the Companyds d elimitthegppgymeneohevidendsSeeNota t a i
117 Debt.

The Companyds Awntdntaih certain préfereAtmlgavernarce rights forSpensorsincluding the right
of the Sponsors to appoint and remove directors, subject to certain ownership thresholds being met.
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Note1l7d Share-based Compensation

2017 LongTerm Incentive Plan

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, theeze2.6 million shares and 9.8 million shares, respectively, available for issuance
under the 2017 LTIP. Howevduturegrants of any additional awardeel i mi t ed t o atthoezed®ot mmssuedysitaes
at the time of the respective award dates.

Nonqualified Stock Options

The Companymay grantNQSOs, which are contractual rights to purchase shares in the future at a predetermined pric
known as the option price or strike price provided the specific vesting condition isDaghg the requisite service period, the
NQSOs may not be sold or tifarred and are subject to forfeituned the option holder does not have the right to receive dividends
until the NQSOs are vested and exercised.

During theyear ended December 3021, NQSOs were granted to key employees with an exercise price of 4.60 NOK
($0.51) per sharandwhich vest in February 2025 and expire in February 2030. Concurrently with the grant of the NQSOs, th
Company cancelled unvested me b a s EBRSURBaddp e(r ff or ma n ¢ e PBRSBWse XlbjeRtFolhe achiévement
ofthemar ket condition of total sharehol der r et ur thepearfgranances t
condition of return on c¢ apwhithavereawarded im 30 dnd Q2R @IEfEre tsishgeant @and u n i
cancellation were accounted for as a modification affecting the 9 grantees. The $4.4 million total unamortized compensat
expense for the cancelled awards at the modification date pluiBerfillion incremental fair value of the NQSOs over the

cancelled awards totals $6.7 million, which were pooled and will be expensed on a straight line basis over the vestifithperiod
replacement awards.

The NQSOs granted in 2021 were measured egtant date using tiélack-ScholesMertonmodel, which was prepared
by an independent third partidanagement reviewed the assumptions and methodologies used by tpattyrexperts to ensure
they appear reasonable and consistent with the objective of determining fair value.

The grant date fair value of the NQSOs granted in 2021 of $0.27 wasnoetd based on inputs and assumptions,
including the market price of the shares on the date of grant of $0.51 and additional assumptions, as follows:

Year ended
December 31,
2021
LT 011 (=0 (=1 o S 6.05 years
RISK fre@ INtErESHALE. ... .o ce e e 1.02%
(o101 (=0 IRV 0] = 1] ] 28 56.90%
[t o Y=ot (=0 I e TA Vo [=T 0T 111 o PSRN 0%

The expected term represented the period from the grant date to the expected date of vesiafretheterest rate was
based on the rate of government securities with similar terms and the expected volatility was based the historicabfvthiatility
Companyés share price and other factors.

A summary of NQSOs granted as of December 31, 20@laanges during the year is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate
exercise contractual intrinsic
Shares price term (in years) value
Outstanding at January 2021..........ccccccveeveereennnnnne - $ =
[T = 1 a1 (Lo T 13,693,607 0.51
EXEICISEA....coieiieiiee it - -
0] (=11 (=T o - -
Outstanding at December 21021..........cccceveeeieennneee, 13,693,607 0.51 8.1 $ 6,008,379
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2021... 13,693,607 0.51 8.1 6,008,379

Exercisable at December 3021 - - - ;

As of December 31, 2021, the total unrecognized compensation cost related/estezhNQSOs was $6.0 million which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average perppaiximately 3.1 years.
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Restricted Share Units

The Companymayg r a nt restri ®sUd , s hasrceanttaatunal righgs to réceive shares in the future
provided the specific vesting condition is méthe RSUs granted to employees may bdeskih cash in lieu of shares at the
Company6s s dlriag thkirequisite sdrvicmperiod, the RSUs may not be sold or transferred and are subject to forfeitur
The RSU holder has the right to receive dividend equivalent but does not haghthef a shareholder until the shares are issued.
The dividend equivalent will be forfeited if the RSUs are forfeited before vesilihg.RSUs awarded by the Company coesist
of TBRSUs and PBRSUs.

TBRSUs grantethy the Companyo keyemployees typically vest in ofthird increments over a thrgear period and to
nonemployee directatypically vest at the end of one year from the grant date, subjeettiinacceleratiorprovisionsfollowing
achange in controlThe fair value offBRSUs is based on the market price of the shares on the date of grant.

A summary of the TBRSUs granted as of December 31, 2021 and changes during the year is as follows:

Weighted
Time based average grant
restricted date fair value
share units per share
Nonrvested shares at January 1, 2021 ... ....vieieeiieiiiiie e eeeeeee e e e e eeranie e eeeees 2,087,932 $ 2.44
LT =1 a1 (=0 TP 852974 0.76
BT =S (= PP PPPPPP (892,753) 2.31
FOITRITEA. ....eei et sb e emmees (42,422) 2.84
L0721 o7 =T PP PP R (1,152,757) 2.53
Non-vested shares at December BA21............ooouvvvvieiieeieeiieeeieieiierr e 852,974 $ 0.76

The aggregate grant date fair value of the TBRSUs vested was $2.1 million, $1.2 million and $0.1 million during the yea
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 a6d9, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the total unrecognized compensation cost relate
to nonvested TBRSUs was $0.5 million which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately |
years.

PBRSUs awardedre subjectto the achievement of specified performance gaalsh as thenarket condition of total
sharehol der return against a predetermined peer group (I
empl oyed ( fi ROCIEotasPBRYsethatumay be sabned range from 0% to 200% of the granted units depending on
performance.

The TSR share units granted in 2020 and 2019, which have a service and a market condition, were measured on the ¢
date using the Mont€arlo option pricing mdel, which was prepared by an independent third party. Management reviewed the
assumptions and methodologies used by the-fhartly experts to ensure they appeared reasonable and consistent with the objective
of determining fair value.

The estimatedmant date fair value of the TSR share units granted in 2020 and 2019 of $3.15 per share and $5.60 per she
respectively, were determined based on inputs and assumptions, including the market price of the shares on the dafe of gra
$2.05 and $4.29, spectively, and additional assumptions, as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
Valuation assumptions:
EXPECIEMEIIM. ...t 3.00 years 2.76 years
RISK frE@ INTEIESIALE. ... i eeeeii ittt e e s inneeeas 1.30% 1.32%
EXPECtEVOIALIILY. ... .eeeieiiiiiie e 56.77% 49.11%
Expected diVIdenHEld...........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 0% 0%

For each period, the expected term represented the period from the grant date to the expected date of vestinge the risk
interest rate was based on the rate of government securities with similar terms and the expected volatility was baged on img
vooatility from publicly traded peer group, historical vo

For ROCE share units awarded in 2020 and 2019, the grant date was not established prior to the cancellation of the aw

in 2021 as the comele performance goals had not yet been determined and communicated to the award recipients at the time
awards were cancelled.
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The following table summarizes the PBRSUs granted as of December 31, 2021 and changes during the year:

TSR share units

Weighted
Performance average grant
based restricted date fair value
share units per share
Non-vested shares dBnUary 1, 2021.........ccocecierieiieeeeeieeiieeieeieeeeeesessenseneeeseees, 1,626,925 $ 4.02
(€T =1 0] (=10 PP ROPPPPPRRRIN: - -
Y21 (=T [ - -
[0 (=11 (=T o RSP (47,725) 4.01
(O o [o7=1 | 1= To 1SR (1,579,200 4.02
Non-vested shares &tecember 31, 2021.........ccooiiiiiriiiieeie e - $ -

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recorded shasased compensation expense related to NQSOs of $0.8 million for the year ended Decembe
31,2021. No corresponding expense was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019 related to NQSOs. The Con
recorded sharbased compensation expense related to RSUs of $2.6 million, $4.2 million and $1.5 million during the years end:
Decenber 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Shased compensation expense is recorded in general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. No income tax benefit was recognized for these awards.

Note 180 Derivative Financial Instruments
Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company did not settle any forex contracts during the year ended December 31, 2021. During the years end
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company settled forex contracegygrtgate notional values of approximately $29.4 million
and $13.9 million, respectively, of which the aggregate amounts were designated as an accountifg loé@prember 31, 2021
and 2020, the Company had no outstanding forex contracts.

Gain / (loss) on Derivative Financial Instruments

The following table presents the iimpact of gains and
designated as cash flow hedges on accumul et €«d mpamhgnd sc com
statements of operations (in thousands). Included are gains and losses recognized though AOCIL, less gains anddifissks reclas
from AOCIL and recorded under operating and maintenance expense in the consolidated statepesat®obdor forex contracts.

Cash Flow Hedges
Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Foreign current forward contracts
Unrealized (loss) / gain recognized through AOCIL.............. $ - $ (574, $ 281
Less realized (loss)gain reclassified from AOCIL and
recognized through fnOperat. - (334) 284
$ - $ (240, _$ 3

Note 196 Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
Accounts and other receivables consisted of the folloimtghousands)

December 31,

2021 2020
ACCOUNISIECEIVADIES. ... .uvveieiiietiiieee e ee et e e et e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeesaeaeeseeeseseseeeeeeenen: $ 130,900 $ 122,197
(@ ] 1 1= 8,537 9,451
AlIOWANCE fOr CrEdIMOSSES. .. eeiiiiiiiiiee ittt e e sbaee e (3,186 (2,639
$ 136251 $ 129,009
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Other current assets consisted of the follow{inghousands)

December 31,

SHELF
DRILLING

2021 2020
(D] {1 (10 010 1] K= T $ 50,119 $ 31,370
P PAYIMENTS. . e e 7,768 4,708
R (ST (0 110 o= L) o OO 2,803 15,520
INCOME tAXECEIVADIE. ... uutiiice e, 1,885 1,707
L@ 11 T U PPPPN: 5,505 3,349
$ 68,080 $ 56,654
Other longterm assets consisted of the followifg thousands)
December 31,
2021 2020
(D] (] (10 010 1] K= T $ 71112 $ 55,770
INCOME tAXECEIVADIE. .......cetiie e, 34,434 32,538
(R LTS (@110 o7 1= 1 1R 18,100 35
Operating rghDf-USEASSELS.........ciiiiiiiiieiiiiii e 12,376 14,591
L ] 1 1= P 9,541 8,995
$ 145563 $ 111,929
Other current liabilities consisted of the followi(ig thousands):
December 31,
2021 2020
(D] (T =10 [(=AVZ=T U L= 29,036 $ 9,546
Accrued compensation at@nefitS............ccveeiiiiiiiiiii 15,152 10,886
Operating [€asBabilities. ...........oiiiiiiiiiei e e 7,602 8,563
Deposits related t0 rig SAEL........cooiii i - 15,948
(@ ] 1 = 1,925 1,739
53,715 $ 46,682
Other longterm liabilities consisted of the following thousands):
December 31,
2021 2020
[ Tel0) 0= 7= (I T $ 17,072 $ 14,103
Operating leasBabilities............ccccoo i 8,609 13,730
DETEITEAINBVENUE. ... .. e e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e esbaaa e e eeeesssannnaeeeeeenns 1,757 5,419
(@ 11 g 1T PP UUUPPPPPPPN 17549 17,257
$ 44,987 $ 50,509
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Note208 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Operating Cash Flows

The neteffect of changes in operating assets and liabilities on cash flows from operating activities was as follow
(in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Decrease / (increase) in operating assets
Accounts and othaeceivables, Net............ocoveiiiiiiiiiiiiii e $ (7,749 $ 23,623 $ (11,149
Other CUIMENEBSSELS. ...ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiit et ie et ee s e s e e e e mnaes (3,179 5,262 1,733
Other IoNGLEIMASSELS. ... ...vviiiiiiiiiei it (5,889 (3,502 (33,081
(Decrease) / increase in operating liabilities
Accounts payable and other curréabilities................cccceiiiiieieininens, 39,077 (20,959 13,597
ACCIUBAINTEIEST. ..ttt 2,232 1,088 195
Accruedincomeé ax es €. . . . . . . ... ... 297 (349) 258
Other longtermliabilities. ..........covvieiiiiiiiiiiiee e 1,876 4,234 31,713

$ 26,665 $ 9,397 $ 3,266

Additional cash flow information was as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Cash payments for
Interest and other financing charges..........ccoocvveiveiienie e $ 95983 $ 85,191 $ 78,811
[ [ol0] 0] = DT TP 16,684 15,831 19,243

Capital expenditures and deferred costs

Capital expenditures and deferred costs include rig acquisition and otheasseidpurchases, construction expenditures
on newbuild rigs and certain expenditures associated with regulatory inspections, major equipment overhauls, conttamt prepare
(including rig upgrades), mobilization and stacked rig reactivations.

TheCompap 6 s capi tal e xpen dvereas follews (imthodsardls):f er r ed cost s

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Regulatory and capit@haintenance.............ccveeeeiiiiieeeiiiiiee e ciiieee e $ 67321 $ 44837 $ 56,139
CoNtractpreParation.............ueeierieee e e 28,710 14,783 30,161
Fleet spares anther...........oovvveiiiiiiiiiiii e 15,628 6,431 10,591
$ 111,659 $ 66,051 $ 96,891
T = e [ 817110 o 1 1,462 88,331 203,257
Total capital expenditures and deferpabts. ......ccccceeveviiciiiiiinieneennnn, $ 113121 $ 154,38z % 300,148
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The reconciliation of the cash payment for additions to property and equipment and changes in deferred costs, net to tc
capital expenditures and deferred costs was as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Cashpayments for additions to property and equipment.................... $ 45,852 $ 111,817 $ 91,391
Net change in accrued but unpaid additions to property and equipm (5,752) 744 6,740

$ 40,100 $ 112,561 $ 98,131
Add: Assetaddition related to share issuancCe...........ccccoovecvvvieeeeeeennn. - - 121,772
Total capitaleXPenditUres...........c.eeicveeiiieeeiiee e $ 40,100 $ 112561 $ 219,903
Changes in deferred COSIBL..........cceeeiiviiiiieeiiee e $ 34,091 $ (5,327 % 4,940
Add: Amortization of deferredosts. ..., 38,930 47,148 75,305
Total deferrEOSES. .. coii e, $ 73,021 $ 41,821 $ 80,245
Total capital expenditures and defermEsbts. .........ococeviieiiiiiiiiieciieee) $ 113,121 $ 154382 $ 300,148

In relation to the agreements entered into with China Merchants, the Company issued 26,769,230 new common share
exchange for the two premium newbuild jagk rigs atan acquisition value of $121.8 million. This Roash transaction is not
reflected on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the atatsbbdance sheets to the total of
such amounts reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows was as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020
(OF- 1] (=10 [0 loT=1< = 0 [0 11VZ=1 () 0 16T $ 232,315 $ 73,408
Restricted cash included in other curr@ss$ets..........ccocoeeeeviiiiiiiiie i, 2,803 15,520
Restricted cash included in other let@m asSets.............uuevvveiiieiiiiiiiiieiiieee e, 18,100 35
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricBEN............cccoceeeee i $ 253,218 $ 88,963

Note21d Earnings/ (Loss) Per Share

The following tables set forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share (in thousands, except per
share data):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Numerator for loss per share
Net loss and net loss attributable to common shares......................... $ (78637 $ (274,859) $ (149,536)
Denominator for lossper share
Weighted average common shares:
Basic and diluted outstanding common shares........................ooo 136,816 136,157 128,389
Basic and diluted loss per commsimare.............ccccceevveeeeieeeeee e e $ (0.57) $ 202) $ (1.16)

The NQSOs awarded in 2021 do not contain rights to dividends, and therefore would not be considered participati
securities for purposes of computing earnings per share. The RSUs awarded in 2020 and 2019 contain forfeitableidghtisto div
and wouldnot be considered participating securities for purposes of computing earnings per share. The NQSOs do not repre:
common shares outstanding until they are vested and exercised and the RSUs do not represent common shares outstanding
they are vestband converted into common shares. Set 17i Sharebased Compensation.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, ther&é19¢868 zero and 2,372 dilutive common shares,
respectivelyy el at ed t o t h whickweremaintiydédin tieSdirputation of diluted loss per share as the effect of
including these shares in the calculation would have beediauttve. For the year ended December 31, 2021, NQSOs to purchase
13.7 million common shares were not included in themaation of diluted loss per share as the effect of these NQSOs would
have been antiilutive.
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Note22d Segment and Related Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial statements are avagable anc
regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess perfdrenance.
Company hasne reportable segmei@pntractServices, which reflects how the Company manages its business, and the fact that
the Companyds fleet is dependent upon the worldwide oil ar

Total revenues by country based on the location of the service provided were as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
B I 1= 11 = Vg Lo $ 167,932 $ 142,250 $ 117,590
Y= 10 Lo 7Y = o] = T 143,376 152,568 165,110
[T = TR 81,485 87,166 48,418
NN T =1 - VSRS 52,712 78,132 107,630
UNited ArabEMIrateS. .. .uuuuureiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiis e e ieie e e e s e e e eee e e e e e e e e eeeaeeaeeeaees 25,896 62,055 73,194
(@1 1< £ 55,165 63,005 64,211
TOtAITEVENUE. ...ttt ee e e e et e e e s et e e e e eabae e e e e erbaeas $ 526,566 $ 585176 $ 576,153

Although the Company is incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company does not conduct &
operations and does not have any operating revenues in the Cayman Islands.

Total longlived assets, net of impairment, depreciation and amortization by location based on the country in which th
assets were located at the balance sheet date were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2021 2020

LI .= =T 0 Lo $ 546,608 $ 575,181
SF= Lo 17 = Lo 1= VR 203,793 188,747
N T =1 - VSR 100,468 104,347
N aTe o] = SR 87,349 -
[T = VO 74081 35,483
UNIted ArabEMIIAtES. .....ccvvveiieeeeieie e ettt e e e e e et e e e e e eee it e e e e e e e eesaaas 55,754 146,146
(@ ] 1 1= £ 97,641 118,147

$ 1,165,694 $ 1,168,051

(1) Rig was in international waters in the process of mobilization to the listed location as of December 31, 2021.

Total longlived assets are comprised of property and equipment;afgide assets arsthortterm and longerm deferred
costs. Asubstantigpor ti on of the Companyb6s assets are mobile, ano
necessarily indicative of the geographic distribution of the revenues generated by such assets during the period.

Note230 Related Parties
TheCompanyds related parties include China Merchants, t

A related party provided rig related ser siomaesialdpendimgn e
with this relatedparty during the year ended December 31, 2021. These services totaled $1.3 million and $0.8 million, during tt
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The total liability recorded under accounts payaldamnd$0.3
million as of December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company recorded® million, $0.8 million and $1.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 22020
2019, respectively, of SPpoeesonsbddaanaddDDiereetbosbdbdcoetEESi Nc
costs incurred by Sponsors, and by a former sponsor through the first quarter of 2020 and directors for attendanugsat mee
relating to the management and governance of the Compahsg. total liability recorded under accounts payable for such
transactions wa$0.1 million as obothDecember 31, 2021 and 2020.

A VIE related party provided goods and servicestorigsovngd s ever al of the Companyos
goods and services totaled.$million, $2.2 million and $2.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The total liability recorded under accounts payableuftr transactions wa$)$ million and $0.3 million as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Lease with a related party

The Company entered into lease agreements for the lease of two bareboat charter rigs with a relatddhgsaty.
agreements are terminated in September 2020 prior to their commencementdEe8i Leases.

The Company entered into an operating lease agreement for yard space with a VIE related party with cancellable ter
The duration of this lease is five years. The lease does not include an extension or renewal option, but a termimaign optio
availabe to either party. The lease payments are fixed for the duration of the lease. This lease agreement does not contain
material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Thefigiet asset wekl.9million and $2.8 million asfo
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The corresponding operating lease liabi$8/5waslion (current:$1.6 million;
long-term:$1.9million) as of December 31, 2021 and $5.0 million (current: $1.6 million;-teng: $3.4 million) as of Deceloer
31, 2020. The Company has recorded total lease expepisa ofillion, $1.3 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Seeldéte 91 Losson Impairment of Assets.

The following is a summary @he maturity of lease liabilities for the lease with the related party as of December 31, 2021
(in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

20 $ 1,676
2023 e et —eeeeeee et —eeeeeeeett————eeeeteet—————teeteetta—anns e o— et abnnseeteeeraran s 1,676
FZ 0 S 419
2025ttt e e e e e e e e e e e aeeeaeteaetetetttttetttrattrartraaarrrrararrrr—n -
20 2 T -
ST =T Ui (=) TR -
B0tz LR LTSI o =Y L= £ $ 3,771
LTSS [ (=] (=] O 208
Present value of [ease liabilities. ..o $ 3,563

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the weiglateelage remaining lease term vZakyears and 3.1 years, respectively,
and weighted average discount rate for operating leasedfiglste asset pertaining to the lease with a related part wesand
7.5%, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Compdiiy7paidion and $1.7 million,
respectively, for amounts that have been included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities.

Note24d Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events threbghary 282022, the date @§suance of the consolidated financial
statements.
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